Engagement of children and parents in developing outcome measures and determining minimal important difference: focus on probiotics and antibiotic-associated diarrhea

by

Samaneh Khanpour Ardestani

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Medical Sciences - Pediatrics

University of Alberta

© Samaneh Khanpour Ardestani, 2022

Abstract

Introduction

Patient engagement as a major component of patient-oriented research (POR) emphasizes that patients should be engaged not only as participants, but also as research partners. Having patient perspectives to inform the content and relevance of patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) is now a requirement in many regulatory body guidelines. Increasing use of PROMs in pediatric populations has been documented frequently. As such, child and adolescent involvement to establish content validity of pediatric instruments has been recommended. Minimal important difference (MID) is defined as the smallest difference/change which patients perceive as important. Historically, healthcare providers have had the sole role in MID estimation. However, over time, calls to incorporate patient perspectives have emerged. Recent calls to determine MID from the patient's perspective are especially relevant for therapies that are accessed by consumers without a prescription (e.g., probiotics). According to the latest Cochrane systematic review, probiotics have moderate protective effects in preventing antibioticassociated diarrhea (AAD) in children. However, no studies reported seeking the perspective of children or parents about the MID of probiotics in preventing AAD and there is no specific validated instrument available to measure the incidence and severity of pediatric AAD. The objective of this thesis was to investigate whether and how children and/or parents have been engaged in developing PROMs and determining MID, and to use patient-centered approaches to 1) inform the MID of probiotics in prevention of pediatric AAD and 2) to validate an instrument for the measurement of incidence and severity of AAD in children.

Methods

Two review studies were conducted. In chapter 2, the method, stage, and level of engagement of the studies developing a new PROM in the pediatric population which engaged children and/or their parents in the process of development were described. In chapter 3, characteristics and findings of the studies reporting patient involvement in determining MID of any intervention were described.

In the survey study described in chapter 4, parents of children presenting to the emergency department of a children's hospital and pediatricians were approached to develop parent and pediatrician-derived MID.

In chapter 5, with the help of a patient advisory group, an instrument was developed to measure the incidence and severity of pediatric AAD. The internal consistency and convergent validity of the instrument were examined in a prospective observational study in children (birth to 17 years old) newly prescribed antibiotics or on antibiotics for \leq 7 days.

Results

Both review studies showed scarcity of evidence in engagement of children/parents either in developing pediatric PROMs or determining MID.

The survey study showed good agreement between parents and clinicians regarding MID of probiotics in preventing pediatric AAD. Half of the participants in both groups reported they would use probiotics if it reduced the risk of AAD by 39%. The most important outcomes to parents and clinicians in measurement of pediatric AAD were identified.

In the PAAD instrument development study, we found a broad range of incidence risk of AAD (27%-83%) by applying four different definitions of diarrhea. Cronbach's α for the severity scale was less than 0.7. A high correlation was found between the PAAD severity score and numerical rating score of diarrhea severity reported by parents (r>0.5).

Conclusion

This doctoral dissertation showed that existing evidence regarding child/family engagement in PROM development and MID determination is sparse and at a preliminary stage. The estimated MID of probiotics in preventing pediatric AAD will help in sample size calculation and interpretation of results of future randomized clinical trials. Lastly, the PAAD instrument developed, and validity tested in this thesis will enable accurate measurement of pediatric AAD in future studies.

Preface

This thesis is an original work by Samaneh Khanpour Ardestani.

Ethical approval was obtained from the University of Alberta Health Research Ethics Board for Projects Named "Determination of minimal important difference perceived by parents/guardians and clinicians regarding probiotic therapy in prevention of pediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhea", No. Pro00058517, December 23, 2015, and "Development and validation of a patient/proxy-reported measure for pediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhea", No. Pro00072474, February 22, 2019. Recruitment of patients were conducted by me under the supervision of my PhD supervisor, Dr. Sunita Vohra, and guidance of my PhD supervisory committee, Drs. Joan Robinson, Hien H. Huynh, Hsing Jou and Levinus A. Dieleman.

Chapter 2 and 3 of this thesis are review studies which did not require ethics approval. I was responsible for the study design, literature search, data screening and extraction, analysis/ interpretation and writing the manuscript drafts to be submitted to the related publishing journals. Three second reviewers, Xin Mei Chen, Drs. Kiran J Pohar Manhas and Ammar Hassanzadeh Keshteli, participated in the review studies of this thesis.

Chapter 4 of this thesis has been published as:

Ardestani SK, Robinson JL, Dieleman LA, Huynh HQ, Jou H, Vohra S. Surveys of parents and clinicians concerning the minimally important difference of probiotic therapy for prevention of paediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhoea. BMJ open. 2019 Apr 1;9(4):e024651.

I was responsible for the concept development, study design, development of the surveys, recruitment of parents and clinicians, data analysis/interpretation, and manuscript writing. All other authors provided advice and guidance in study development and conduct, as well as critical review of the final paper. Staff of the Women and Children's Health Research Institute, University of Alberta, helped with the development of surveys in REDCap website. Chapter 5 of this thesis is under peer-review.

Dr. Vohra and I conceptualized the overall project. I designed the study and data collection forms with the help of a patient advisory group and my PhD supervisory committee members, recruited and followed-up with the participants, analyzed the data, and wrote the draft manuscript. All my committee members provided advice and guidance in study development and conduct, as well as critical review of the final paper. Staff of the pediatric emergency department of Stollery Children's Hospital helped with the recruitment of the participants.

Dedication

To my husband Ammar, for his endless love, constant support and always believing in me, even in the most challenging times of my PhD journey.

To my parents, AliAkbar and Zahra, whom their love has been my motivation to keep going, and To my sister, Narges, and brother, Mohammad Mahdi, inspirations of my dreams.

Acknowledgment

I cannot thank enough my supervisor and mentor, Dr. Sunita Vohra, for her dedication to my learning and constant support and patience along the wavy path of my PhD journey. Thank you for your expertise, encouragement and motivation which made me grow in both professional and personal life.

I would also like to sincerely thank my committee members, Drs. Joan Robinson, Hien H. Huynh, Hsing Jou and Levinus A. Dieleman. Their advice, dedication, and expertise made invaluable contributions to this thesis.

Thank you to Dr. Susanne King-Jones, Dr. Kiran J Pohar Manhas, Dr. Ammar Hassanzadeh Keshteli, and Xin Mei Chen for your collaboration, guidance, and support.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Patient Oriented Research	1
1.2 Patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs)	2
1.3 Minimal important difference (MID)	5
1.4 Probiotics and antibiotic-associated diarrhea (AAD)	7
1.5 Measurement of AAD	8
1.6 Thesis Objective	9
1.7 References	10
Chapter 2: Child and parent engagement in developing pediatric patient reporte measures: A systematic review	d outcome 17
2.1 Abstract	17
2.2 Background	
2.3 Methods	19
2.3.1. Search strategy:	
2.3.2. Study selection and data extraction:	
2.3.3. Quality assessment:	
2.3.4. Data analysis:	
2.4 Results	
2.4.1. General characteristics of the included studies:	
2.4.2. Patient engagement	24
2.4.3. Quality of PPI reporting assessment (according to GRIPP2-SF checklist)	
2.5 Discussion	
2.6 References	
2.7. Tables and figures	52
Chapter 3: Patient involvement in determining minimal important difference: A	scoping
review	
3.1 Abstract	
3.2 Background	
3.3 Methods	
3.3.1. Search strategy:	

3.3.2. Study selection and data extraction:	
3.3.3. Data analysis:	
3.4 Results	
3.4.1. General characteristics of the included studies	
3.4.2. Interventions/Outcomes and methods to obtain MID	
3.5 Discussion	
3.6 References	103
3.7 Tables and figures	112
Chapter 4: Surveys of parents and clinicians concerning the minimal important d	ifference
of probiotic therapy for prevention of pediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhea	132
4.1 Abstract	132
4.2 Background	133
4.3 Methods	133
4.3.1. Sampling frame and administration:	135
4.3.2. Development of survey:	135
4.3.3. Sample size justification:	137
4.3.4. Statistical Analysis:	137
4.3.5. Patient and public involvement:	137
4.4 Results	137
4.4.1. Parent/guardian and clinician knowledge and behavior regarding probiotics	138
4.4.2. Parent/guardian and clinician opinions regarding probiotics for preven treatment of AAD	tion and 139
4.4.3. Minimally important difference	139
4.4.4. Important outcomes	140
4.5 Discussion	140
4.6 References	144
4.7 Tables and figures	153
Chapter 5: Development of a patient/proxy-reported instrument for pediatric anti	ibiotic-
associated diarrhea	156
5.1 Abstract	156
5.2 Background	157
5.3 Methods	158

5.3.1. Derivation of the PAAD instrument	158
5.3.2. Patient engagement	161
5.3.3. Validation of the PAAD instrument	161
5.3.4. Sample size	163
5.3.5. Analysis	163
5.4 Results	164
5.4.1. Population characteristics	164
5.4.2. Incidence of AAD	165
5.4.3. Severity of AAD	165
5.5 Discussion	167
5.6 References	169
5.7 Tables and figures	172
Chapter 6. Conclusion	175
6.1 Summary of key findings	175
6.2 Limitations	176
6.3 Implications for research	178
6.4 Implications for clinical practice	179
6.5 Future directions	180
6.6 Conclusion	181
6.7 References	182
Thesis References (Alphabetical order)	183
Appendices	218
Appendix A-Search strategy (Medline) for child and parent engagement in developing	
pediatric patient-reported outcome measures systematic review	218
Appendix B- Number of included studies per year from 1994-2021	219
Appendix C-Search strategy (MEDLINE) for patient involvement in determining minim important difference scoping review	al 220
Appendix D- Survey of parents/guardians' opinion on probiotic therapy for antibiotic- associated diarrhea in children	221
Appendix E- Survey of physicians' opinion on probiotic therapy for antibiotic-associated diarrhea in children	d 226

Appendix F- Multinomial logistic regression of the effect of different factors on the choice of minimally important difference in responding parents
Appendix F- Multinomial logistic regression of the effect of different factors on the choice of minimally important difference in responding clinicians
Appendix G- Numerical Rating Scale of bowel movement severity condition
Appendix H- Pediatric Antibiotic Associated Diarrhea Measurement Instrument-Outpatient
Appendix I- Baseline data collection form:
Appendix J-1- Daily collection form
Appendix J-2-End of the study form
Appendix K- Associations of participant characteristics with incidence of diarrhea according
to four different definitions
Appendix L- Cronbach's a of PAAD instrument severity score according to different
definitions
Appendix M- Inter-item correlation matrix
Appendix N- Corrected item-total correlation for items of the severity scale according to
different definitions

List of tables

Table 2. 1 General characteristics of the included studies
Table 2. 2 Patient engagement in the development of PROMs
Table 2. 3 Quality of PPI reporting assessment using GRIPP2-SF checklist
Table 3. 1 General characteristics and results of studies seeking opinions of adults regarding
MID113
Table 3. 2 General characteristics and results of studies seeking opinions of pediatric/parents'
population regarding MID
Table 4. 1 Responding parent/guardian general characteristics 153
Table 4. 2 Clinicians general characteristics 153
Table 4. 3 Parent/guardian and clinician opinions about effectiveness and safety of probiotics for
prevention and treatment of AAD154
Table 4. 4 Parent/guardian and clinician opinions about minimally important difference154
Table 4. 5 Parent/guardian and clinician opinions regarding importance of outcomes in clinical
trials of AAD155
Table 5. 1 General characteristics of 78 children enrolled in a study to validate a measure of
antibiotic associated diarrhea (PAAD)172
Table 5. 2 Pediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhea (PAAD) instrument severity components173
Table 5. 3 Correlation between PAAD severity score and worst NRS reported by parents173

List of figures

Figure 2. 1 Levels of patient and researcher engagement in health research [adapted with
permission (20)]
Figure 2. 2 Adapted version of PRISMA flow diagram of study selection for the parents and
children engagement in developing PROMs systematic review53
Figure 3. 1 Adapted version of PRISMA flow diagram of study selection for the MID scoping
review112
Figure 5. 1 Distribution of severity scores according to different definitions

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Patient Oriented Research

The Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) defines patient-oriented research (POR) as "a continuum of research that engages patients as partners, focuses on patient-identified priorities, and improves patient outcomes. This research, conducted by multidisciplinary teams in partnership with relevant stakeholders, aims to apply the knowledge generated to improve healthcare systems and practices" (1). Accordingly, patient engagement includes approaches to actively involve patients in "governance, priority setting, conducting research, and knowledge translation" (1).

Engaging patients in research has several potential benefits for both researchers and patients. Improving the quality of research design and relevance and applicability of research, increasing enrolment of participants, decreasing attrition, and stronger rapport with patients represent potential advantages for researchers. Patient engagement in research also enables patients to build confidence, feel empowered and valued, to build trust and understanding with researchers, and to have influence in research and receive improved quality of care (2, 3).

Patients can be engaged at all stages of a research cycle from developing the research question, to designing research methods, collecting data, analysis and interpretation of results, and dissemination of findings (1-5).

According to the Canada's Strategy for Patient-Oriented Research (SPOR) (1), engaging patients in research represents a spectrum. The nature of the study and capacity of the patient partners affect the level of engagement. There are six "levels of patient and researcher

engagement in health research" adapted by Dr. Vandall-Walker from the International Association for Public Participation (IAP2) spectrum (6). These levels include *inform/learn*, *participate*, *consult*, *involve*, *collaborate*, and *lead/support*. The levels *consult*, *involve*, *collaborate*, and *lead/support* are considered to be active patient engagement. At the *consult* level, patients only provide feedback when needed; at the *involve* level, patients are members of research advisory committees and work with researchers throughout the project; at the *collaborate* level, patients are equal partners with the researchers and are co-investigators and members of research steering committees; in the final level, *lead/support*, patients lead the research and make decisions for the research team (6).

Different initiatives across the globe have been established to improve these approaches. Initially, in UK (1996) an advisory group called INVOLVE was established by National Institute for Health Research "to support active public involvement in NHS, public health, and social care research," (7). In the US, Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute (PCORI) (2010) was founded by the support of the US government to promote high quality research by collaboration with patients, caregivers, and all beneficiary stakeholders (8). In Canada, Strategy for Patient-Oriented Research (SPOR) (2011) was formed by the CIHR to transform the patient role from care receiver to active partner by involving them in all aspects of research (1).

As a major component of POR, improving patient outcomes is a priority, including developing and using patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs).

1.2 Patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs)

PROMs are instruments or standardized questionnaires that measure patient perspectives about their own functional or health status/wellbeing (9, 10). They measure outcomes that are

important to patients other than the usually measured outcomes (e.g., biomarkers, measures of morbidity and mortality) (11). While researchers may choose outcomes to assess physiological effects of treatment, these may not be the same as the outcomes deemed important by individuals with lived experience of the condition. For example, a medication may show beneficial effects on survival in a clinical study, but patients may not adhere to the treatment because of its adverse effects on aspects of quality of life (12). Rheumatologists, as pioneers in seeking patient perspectives in research outcomes, found that outcomes of fatigue, disturbed sleep and sense of wellbeing were not among the outcomes usually measured in clinical trials of rheumatoid arthritis, yet were identified as important by individuals with lived experience (13). As patients are the ultimate decision-makers regarding treatment adherence, outcomes they prioritize should be assessed. Patient-reported outcomes are particularly useful in conditions where objective measurements are not easily accessible, such as fatigue, nausea, pain, and functional syndromes (11).

PROMs are increasingly used either to evaluate effectiveness of treatments or to assess care outcomes in randomized clinical trials (RCTs) and the healthcare system, respectively (14-17). They can be generic and evaluate general aspects of health such as Short Form 36-item (SF-36) or be specific to a disease, function, or symptom such as Problem Areas in Diabetes scale (PAID)-5 (12).

Despite their popularity, there have been PROMs with poor or unknown quality, jeopardizing their use. Thus, the COSMIN (COnsensus-based Standards for the selection of health Measurement INstruments) initiative was established to develop the tools which help researchers and healthcare providers select the optimal instrument with sound measurement properties (i.e.,

reliability, validity, and responsiveness) for their condition of interest. These guidelines are also applicable when developing PROMs (18).

COSMIN defines three main domains for evaluating the quality of a PROM (18, 19). Each domain constitutes of several measurement properties. The domain reliability measures the consistency of the scores over repeated measurements while there has been no change in the construct being measured. It includes consistency of the scores over time in the same responders (test-retest reliability), or across different raters on the same occasion (inter-rater reliability), or by the same raters across different occasions (intra-rater reliability) or by using different items of the same PROM (internal consistency). Validity is the ability of an instrument to measure the construct it is supposed to measure; it includes content, construct, and criterion validity. In content validity, relevance, comprehensiveness, and comprehensibility of the items of a PROM are being evaluated. Construct validity assesses if there is consistency between the scores of a PROM with hypotheses in terms of internal relationships (structural validity), relationships to other measures/constructs (convergent and discriminant validity), or differences between relevant groups (known groups validity). Criterion validity shows the performance of an instrument against a gold standard. Lastly, responsiveness evaluates the ability of an instrument to detect change over time if change has truly happened (18, 19).

COSMIN and regulatory bodies such as the US, Food and Drug Administration (FDA) are explicit in their guidance regarding patient input in developing PROMs. Having patient perspectives to inform the content and relevance of the instrument is now a requirement in these guidelines (17, 18).

Increasing use of PROMs in pediatric populations have been documented frequently. The International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research (ISPOR) has a task force that specifically provides recommendations on good research practices for the design and use of pediatric PROMs (16). These recommendations emphasize child and adolescent involvement to establish content validity of pediatric instruments (16). Detailed methodological guidance to promote successful implementation of their recommendations, however, needs to be explored.

1.3 Minimal important difference (MID)

As important as inclusion of patients in the design stage of research, it is critical to have their input when interpreting the findings and determining meaningful thresholds regarding treatment response.

MID is defined as the smallest difference/change which patients perceive as important (18) and consider worthwhile despite risks, costs, and inconvenience of the intervention (20-22). This concept was first introduced by Jaeschke et al. (219) in 1989 and called "minimal clinically important difference" (MCID), to distinguish between statistically significant and clinically important results. MCID not only helped interpret study findings, but also facilitated calculation of RCT sample sizes. Initially, healthcare providers had the sole role in MID estimation (hence it was called MCID). However, over time, calls to incorporate patient perspectives have emerged (23, 24). Accordingly, investigators have employed different terminology based on their impression of the concept and the methods they implemented to determine this concept. Minimal important change/difference/improvement/effect, smallest worthwhile effect, etc. are examples of this heterogeneous terminology. In this dissertation, we use the term MID. To date, there is no gold standard method to determine MID. There are multiple approaches in the current literature: anchor-based, distribution-based, standardized effect sizes, health

economic methods, pilot studies, review of the existing evidence, and opinion-seeking (20). Each of these methods has their own strengths and limitations. Anchor-based methods adopt an external criterion (the "anchor") to identify if the change that occurred is important according to that anchor (usually patient or clinical judgment) (19). Most often this method relies on withinpatient change rather than differences between patients. Distribution-based and standardized effect size methods compare the change of outcome of interest, whether continuous or ordinal, to some other statistical parameters of variability (e.g., standard error of measurement, standard deviation, effect size, and smallest detectable change) (25). A common criticism of this approach is that the measured change is not necessarily clinically important. As a result, these measures are recommended to be used as supportive information alongside other estimates (20, 26). Health economic methods are inclusive but complicated and resource-intensive approaches and are therefore not very popular among clinical trialists for sample size calculation (20). Pilot studies are more helpful to determine associated components of sample size formula (e.g., event rate in the control group, standard deviation). Because pilot studies are often small, they are not able to generate precise estimates of MID. As reviewing the existing evidence generates a MID based on observed differences in previously conducted studies, this MID reflects what is realistic, rather than what effect size is felt to be important (20). While it is helpful for study design to be informed by realistic estimates of effect size, this approach does not confirm what effect size is felt to be important enough to warrant a change in behavior, i.e., whether or not to adopt the intervention under study as part of routine care.

Opinion-seeking methods, such as surveys, Delphi methods, and interviews can be used to elicit patients or/and clinicians' opinions about the change or difference they perceive as important (25). Opinion-seeking methods are useful for any type of outcome (i.e., binary, continuous,

survival) and scenarios with various degrees of complexity can be designed, in terms of related effects or their influence on practice. Trade-off tools can be presented in order to inform the target population about the potential benefits and harms of the intervention. The estimate of MID can be influenced by how scenarios are presented, methods of elicitation, and individual preferences (25). As such, estimated MIDs by these methods are relative and not absolute as they are dependent to the context and determined by human values.

In 2011, Cook et al. (20) conducted a systematic review to identify different methods for specifying a MID. Among different methods, they found 60 studies that sought opinions of patients, health care providers, and multidisciplinary experts to determine MID. Only 10 studies elicited patients' or both patients' and clinicians' opinions, and none involved children (20). Considering that the emphasis on patient involvement in research has increased considerably since 2011 and that, historically, pediatric involvement in research has lagged behind adults, it seems necessary to update this work and investigate the involvement of patients, including children and parents, in defining MID over time. Recent calls to determine MID from the patient's perspective are especially relevant for therapies that are accessed by consumers without a prescription (e.g., probiotics).

1.4 Probiotics and antibiotic-associated diarrhea (AAD)

Probiotics are non-pathogenic microorganisms that can be beneficial to the host if administered in adequate amounts (27, 28). Probiotic use has increased significantly in clinical and research settings and among the public in the recent decades (29).

According to the latest Cochrane systematic review (30), probiotics have moderate protective effect in preventing AAD. AAD is a common complication of antibiotic administration (31-33) and can occur anytime up to eight weeks after initiation of antibiotic therapy. AAD incidence

varies (5-62%) depending on patient population, setting, antibiotic type and duration of antibiotic use (34-41). Although mild-moderate diarrhea is more common than severe diarrhea in AAD, serious complications such as dehydration, and *Clostridium difficile* infection may also occur, especially in children (40, 41). It has been hypothesized that antibiotics influence the gut microbial balance which eventually interferes with their metabolic functions and antipathogenic effects, leading to diarrhea (32). To date, more than 30 RCTs (30) have studied the effectiveness and safety of probiotics for prevention of pediatric AAD. None of these studies reported seeking the perspective of children or parents about the most relevant outcomes and associated MID.

1.5 Measurement of AAD

In a previous systematic review (42), Johnston et al. showed that there is marked heterogeneity in definitions and measurements of acute diarrhea in children. This was confirmed later by a review reporting specifically on the outcomes related to pediatric antibiotic-associated adverse events in probiotic trials, which found that diarrhea was only clearly defined in 21 out of 37 studies. Among these 21 studies, 16 different definitions of diarrhea were documented (43). Johnston et al. also found that, despite their wide use, there is a disturbing lack of evidence on evaluating the validity and reliability of most commonly used pediatric diarrhea severity scales. To reduce heterogeneity, a core outcome set (44) and a core outcome measurement set (45) were developed in 2016 for clinical trials on pediatric acute diarrhea and acute gastroenteritis. Despite this, no specific instrument is available to measure pediatric AAD.

1.6 Thesis Objective

To investigate whether and how children and/or parents have been engaged in developing patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) and determining minimal important difference (MID), and to use patient-centered approaches to inform the design of future RCTs in prevention of pediatric AAD. To achieve thesis objective, we conducted two review studies, a survey study, and a validation study.

With the increasing use of pediatric PROMs in clinical research and health care settings, the role of patient engagement in developing these measures have been highlighted. In the first study (chapter 2 of this thesis), we aimed to systematically review studies engaging children or their parents/guardians in developing PROMs for any disease and to assess the quality of their reporting.

Engaging patients in the interpretation of study findings is also an emerging issue in the patient-oriented research field. For example, more recently, patient input in determining minimal important difference is being thought. We, therefore, in chapter 3 of this thesis, aimed to review studies seeking patient opinions regarding MID for any disease. To apply these patient-centered approaches in the clinical setting, we focused on probiotics and antibiotic-associated diarrhea in children. First, in a survey study described in chapter 4 of this thesis, we aimed to establish the MID that would prompt parents/guardians and clinicians to use probiotics for prevention of AAD and to obtain their opinions about the most important outcomes to be measured in clinical trials of AAD.

Then, considering that there is a huge heterogeneity in definitions and measurement of diarrhea and that no specific instrument to measure pediatric AAD, in chapter 5 of this

thesis, we aimed to design and validate a standardized instrument for the assessment of pediatric AAD incidence and severity. In this study, we used the most important outcomes identified in our survey study which parents and clinicians required to be measured and engaged parents and children in developing process of this measurement instrument.

1.7 References

- Canadian Institutes of Health Research. Strategy for patient-oriented research patient engagement framework. <u>https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/48413.html</u> (accessed 2022, July 15).
- Domecq JP, Prutsky G, Elraiyah T, Wang Z, Nabhan M, Shippee N, Brito JP, Boehmer K, Hasan R, Firwana B, Erwin P. Patient engagement in research: a systematic review. BMC health services research. 2014;14(1):89.
- Sacristán JA, Aguarón A, Avendaño-Solá C, Garrido P, Carrión J, Gutiérrez A, Kroes R, Flores A. Patient involvement in clinical research: why, when, and how. Patient preference and adherence. 2016;10:631.
- Duffett L. Patient engagement: What partnering with patient in research is all about. Thromb Res. 2017;150:113-120. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2016.10.029.
- Kirwan JR, de Wit M, Frank L, Haywood KL, Salek S, Brace-McDonnell S, Lyddiatt A, Barbic SP, Alonso J, Guillemin F, Bartlett SJ. Emerging guidelines for patient engagement in research. Value in Health. 2017;20(3):481-6.
- Amirav I, Vandall-Walker V, Rasiah J, Saunders L. Patient and researcher engagement in health research: a parent's perspective. Pediatrics. 2017;140(3):e20164127.

- 7. INVOLVE N. Briefing notes for researchers: involving the public in NHS, public health and social care research. UK: INVOLVE Eastleigh. 2012.
- Compilation of Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act: Extracted sections concerning patient-centered outcomes research and the authorization of the Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute (PCORI). Amended May 1, 2010. Subtitle D of Title VI-Sec.,6301. Enacted March 23, 2010. http://www.pcori.org/sites/default/files/ PCORI_Authorizing_Legislation.pdf. (Accessed 2022, July 15).
- Staniszewska S, Haywood KL, Brett J, Tutton L. Patient and public involvement in patient-reported outcome measures. The Patient-Patient-Centered Outcomes Research. 2012;5(2):79-87.
- 10. Dawson J, Doll H, Fitzpatrick R, Jenkinson C, Carr AJ. The routine use of patient reported outcome measures in healthcare settings. Bmj. 2010;340:c186.
- 11. Johnston BC, Patrick DL, Devji T, Maxwell LJ, Bingham III CO, Beaton D, Boers M, Briel M, Busse JW, Carrasco-Labra A, Christensen R, da Costa BR, El Dib R, Lyddiatt A, Ostelo RW, Shea B, Singh J, Terwee CB, Williamson PR, Gagnier JJ, Tugwell P, Guyatt GH. Chapter 18: Patient-reported outcomes. In: Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.3 (updated February 2022). Cochrane, 2022. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.
- Weldring T, Smith SM. Patient-Reported Outcomes (PROs) and Patient-Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs). Health Serv Insights. 2013;6:61-8. doi: 10.4137/HSI.S11093.

- Kirwan J, Heiberg T, Hewlett S, Hughes R, Kvien T, Ahlmèn M, Boers M, Minnock P, Saag K, Shea B, Almazor MS. Outcomes from the Patient Perspective Workshop at OMERACT 6. The Journal of rheumatology. 2003;30(4):868-72.
- 14. Cella D, Yount S, Rothrock N, Gershon R, Cook K, Reeve B, Ader D, Fries JF, Bruce B, Rose M. The Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS): progress of an NIH Roadmap cooperative group during its first two years. Medical care. 2007;45(5 Suppl 1):S3.
- 15. Johnston BC, Ebrahim S, Carrasco-Labra A, Furukawa TA, Patrick DL, Crawford MW, Hemmelgarn BR, Schunemann HJ, Guyatt GH, Nesrallah G. Minimally important difference estimates and methods: a protocol. BMJ open. 2015;5(10):e007953.
- 16. Matza LS, Patrick DL, Riley AW, Alexander JJ, Rajmil L, Pleil AM, Bullinger M. Pediatric patient-reported outcome instruments for research to support medical product labeling: report of the ISPOR PRO good research practices for the assessment of children and adolescents task force. Value in Health. 2013;16(4):461-79.
- 17. Patrick DL, Burke LB, Powers JH, Scott JA, Rock EP, Dawisha S, O'neill R, Kennedy DL. Patient-reported outcomes to support medical product labeling claims: FDA perspective. Value in Health. 2007;10:S125-37.
- COnsensus-based Standards for the selection of health Measurement INstruments (COSMIN) website. http://www.cosmin.nl. (Accessed 2022, July 15).
- De vet HCW, Terwee CB, Mokkink LB, Knol DL. Measurement in Medicine: A Practical Guide (Practical Guides to Biostatistics and Epidemiology). New York: Cambridge University Press; 2011.

- 20. Cook JA, Hislop J, Adewuyi TE, Harrild K, Altman DG, Ramsay C, et al. Assessing methods to specify the target difference for a randomised controlled trial: DELTA (Difference ELicitation in TriAls) review. Health Technol Assess 2014;18(28).
- 21. Jaeschke R, Singer J, Guyatt GH. Measurement of health status. Ascertaining the minimal clinically important difference. Control Clin Trials. 1989;10(4):407-15.
- 22. Ferreira ML, Herbert RD, Crowther MJ, Verhagen A, Sutton AJ. When is a further clinical trial justified?. Bmj. 2012;345:e5913.
- 23. Ferreira ML, Herbert RD, Crowther MJ, Verhagen A, Sutton AJ. When is a further clinical trial justified?. Bmj. 2012;345:e5913.
- 24. Ferreira ML, Herbert RD, Ferreira PH, Latimer J, Ostelo RW, Nascimento DP, Smeets RJ. A critical review of methods used to determine the smallest worthwhile effect of interventions for low back pain. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 2012;65(3):253-61.
- 25. Copay AG, Subach BR, Glassman SD, Polly DW Jr, Schuler TC. Understanding the minimum clinically important difference: a review of concepts and methods. Spine J. 2007;7(5):541-6.
- 26. Revicki D, Hays RD, Cella D, Sloan J. Recommended methods for determining responsiveness and minimally important differences for patient-reported outcomes. J Clin Epidemiol. 2008;61(2):102-9.
- 27. FAO/WHO. Joint Working Group Guidelines for Probiotics in Food. 2002.
- 28. Hill C, Guarner F, Reid G, Gibson GR, Merenstein DJ, Pot B, Morelli L, Canani RB, Flint HJ, Salminen S1, Calder PC, Sanders ME. Expert consensus document. The International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics consensus statement on

the scope and appropriate use of the term probiotic. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2014;11(8):506-14. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2014.66.

- Zorzela L, Ardestani SK, McFarland LV, Vohra S. Is there a role for modified probiotics as beneficial microbes: a systematic review of the literature. Beneficial Microbes. 2017;8(5):739-54.
- 30. Guo Q, Goldenberg JZ, Humphrey C, El Dib R, Johnston BC. Probiotics for the prevention of pediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhea. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2019(4).
- 31. Bartlett JG. Antibiotic-associated diarrhea. N Engl J Med. 2002; 346(5):334-339.
- 32. Varughese CA, Vakil NH, Phillips KM. Antibiotic-associated diarrhea: a refresher on causes and possible prevention with probiotics--continuing education article. J Pharm Pract. 2013;26(5):476-82. doi: 10.1177/0897190013499523.
- McFarland LV. Antibiotic-associated diarrhea: epidemiology, trends and treatment. Future Microbiology 2008;3(5):563–78.
- Alam S, Mushtaq M. Antibiotic associated diarrhea in children. Indian Pediatr. 2009 Jun;46(6):491-6.
- 35. LaRosa M, Bottaro G, Gulino N, Gambuzza F, Di Forti F, Ini G, et al. Prevention of antibiotic-associated diarrhea with Lactobacillus sporogens and fructo-oligosaccharides in children: A multicentric double-blind vs placebo study. Minerva Pediatrica 2003;55(5):447–52.
- McFarland LV. Epidemiology, risk factors and treatments for antibiotic-associated diarrhea. Digestive Diseases 1998; 16(5):292–307.

- 37. Wistrom J, Norrby SR, Myhre EB, Eriksson S, Granstrom G, Lagergren L, et al. Frequency of antibiotic-associated diarrhoea in 2462 antibiotic-treated hospitalized patients: a prospective study. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 2001;47(1):43–50.
- Beaugerie L, Petit JC. Microbial-gut interactions in health and disease. Antibioticassociated diarrhoea. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2004;18(2):337-52.
- Bergogne-Bérézin E. Treatment and prevention of antibiotic associated diarrhea. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2000;16(4):521-6.
- 40. Berrington A, Borriello SP, Brazier J, Duckworth G, Foster K, Freeman R, et al. National Clostridium difficile Standards Group: Report to the Department of Health. Journal of Hospital Infection 2004;56 Suppl 1:1–38.
- McFarland LV, Goh S. Preventing pediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhea and Clostridium difficile infections with probiotics: A meta-analysis. World J Meta-Anal 2013; 1(3): 02-120
- Johnston BC, Shamseer L, da Costa BR, Tsuyuki RT, Vohra S. Measurement issues in trials of pediatric acute diarrheal diseases: a systematic review. Pediatrics. 2010;126(1):e222-31.
- 43. Łukasik J, Guo Q, Boulos L, et al. Probiotics for the prevention of antibiotic-associated adverse events in children—A scoping review to inform development of a core outcome set. PloS one 2020;15(5):e0228824
- 44. Karas J, Ashkenazi S, Guarino A, Lo Vecchio A, Shamir R, Vandenplas Y, Szajewska H; Consensus Group on Outcome Measures Made in Paediatric Enteral Nutrition Clinical

Trials (COMMENT). A core outcome set for clinical trials in acute diarrhoea. Arch Dis Child. 2015;100(4):359-63.

45. Karas J, Ashkenazi S, Guarino A, Lo Vecchio A, Shamir R, Vandenplas Y, Szajewska H; Consensus Group on Outcome Measures Made in Paediatric Enteral Nutrition Clinical Trials (COMMENT). Developing a core outcome measurement set for clinical trials in acute diarrhoea. Group on Outcome Measures Made in Paediatric Enteral Nutrition Clinical Trials (COMMENT). Acta Paediatr. 2016;105(4):e176-80.

Chapter 2: Child and parent engagement in developing pediatric patient reported outcome measures: A systematic review

2.1 Abstract

Objectives: This review aimed to systematically review studies engaging children and/or their parents/guardians in developing pediatric patient reported outcome measures (PROMs) for any disease, and to assess the quality of patient engagement reporting.

Methods: Electronic databases including MEDLINE, EMBASE, PsychINFO, and CINAHL were searched from inception to September 2021. Studies described developing a new PROM in the pediatric population and engaged children and/or their parents in the process of development were included. Characteristics of the study, population, and PROM and the method, stage and level of engagement were extracted. The Guidance for Reporting Involvement of Patients and Public (GRIPP2-short form) checklist was used to assess the quality of patient and public reporting in the included studies.

Results: After removing duplicates, of 7450 remaining references, 131 studies were included. Different methods of interview (n=97, 74%) and focus groups (n=36, 27%) were the methods used most often by researchers to engage children and families. Concept elicitation, item generation and selection, relevance, and comprehensibility testing (content validity) were the stages for which patient/family input were mostly sought. The level of engagement was at *consult* level for most studies.

Conclusion: This review showed children and parents engagement in PROM development is at a basic level in the engagement continuum. Patients' views were usually obtained by focus group or qualitative interviews in concept elicitation, item generation and content validity testing

stages. Active engagement of children and parents/caregivers as co-researchers is recommended in all stages of pediatric PROM development from designing the study to dissemination of findings.

2.2 Background

Patient engagement has garnered increasing attention in the movement towards patient-oriented research (POR) in the recent decade (1-5). It emphasizes that patients should be engaged not only as participants but also as research partners (6). As patients are the ultimate decision-makers in their own health care, their active collaboration enhances the relevance and applicability of research to real-world users (2).

Patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) are standardized questionnaires or series of questions that measure patient perspective about their own functional or health status/wellbeing (6, 7). There is growing use of PROMs in randomized controlled trials (RCTs) and in the healthcare system (8-11) to evaluate patient perception of health outcomes.

Although PROMs are used to reflect patient views about interventions/care, they are mainly developed by clinical experts and researchers rather than by patients (6). Whilst clinical experts are well informed, patients have experience of living with illness. Hence, their engagement in the process of development of PROMs is essential.

Patients can be engaged as active members of the research team at multiple stages to: review the quality and acceptability of existing PROMs, identify the need for new PROMs, design and conduct qualitative research, define and elaborate the theoretical/conceptual framework, select the method of measurement, select or formulate the items and response options, the structure and wording of the PROM, interpret the measurement properties and disseminate the research

findings (6, 12). A scoping review conducted in 2017 (13) revealed that 26% of the studies developing a new PROM did not engage patients at all.

As the importance of patient engagement has been recognized and promoted in the last decade in adults, the need for child engagement in decision making and research has also been highlighted (14). However, this may bring its own challenges, considering the varying neurodevelopmental abilities of children as well as the time and resources needed for training adults and children (14).

In this systematic review, we focused on the active engagement of children and their parents/guardians in the development of pediatric PROMs. We investigated whether they have been engaged in PROM development and elaborated on the methods of engagement. To prevent inconsistent and partial reporting, a checklist called Guidance for Reporting Involvement of Patients and Public (GRIPP) was first developed in 2011 (15) and updated in 2017 (GRIPP2 checklist) (16). The aim of the checklist is to facilitate the appraisal and interpretation of the findings of studies engaging patients and public, to learn from previous studies with patient and public involvement (PPI), and to recognize the impact of PPI. As a result, in this study, we also assessed the quality of PPI reporting of the included studies according to GRIPP2-short form checklist.

Objective: To systematically review studies engaging children and/or their parents/guardians in developing pediatric PROMs for any disease, and to assess the quality of PPI reporting.

2.3 Methods

The PRISMA guidelines for developing and reporting systematic reviews (SRs) were followed (17). The PROSPERO registration number is CRD42018106444.

2.3.1. Search strategy: Electronic databases including MEDLINE, EMBASE, PsychINFO, and CINAHL were searched from inception to September 2021, with the help of a health research librarian experienced in systematic review searches. Reference list of included studies and Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) website (<u>http://www.healthmeasures.net/explore-measurement-systems/promis</u>) were searched for more relevant studies. No restrictions were applied in terms of publication type and language. Search terms related to PROMs were combined with search terms related to patient engagement in the pediatric population (Appendix A. for search strategy in MEDLINE).

2.3.2. Study selection and data extraction:

Two independent reviewers screened the references according to the following criteria. *Inclusion criteria:*

1) Study design: Studies were considered to be developing a new PROM if they described any stage of instrument development and validation from selection of outcomes and item generation to psychometric testing. Studies focusing on the construction of conceptual framework/model of the condition without further development of the instrument were not included. Studies describing different phases of development of one instrument were included and are reported per instrument.

2) Population: The instrument must have been developed for use in the pediatric population. Since the pediatric age range differs across jurisdictions/organizations, we included all individuals less than 21 years of age (18). Studies with mixed adult and pediatric population were included if the instrument was designed for use in children. 3) Studies were included only if they engaged children or their parents in the process of development; participating in studies for psychometric assessments was not considered engagement.

4) Any condition and any settings were eligible for inclusion.

5) Non-English studies were eligible for inclusion.

Exclusion criteria: 1) Studies developing short version, translation, or alteration of a pre-existing PROM (these studies may not go through all development phases); if a study was adapted from/modified a previous PROM but went through all the development phases, it was considered for inclusion.

2) Studies developing patient-reported experience measures (PREMs).

3) Studies developing core outcome sets (COS) without development of PROM.

4) Review studies, narratives, opinion pieces, letters or editorials

5) Non-peer reviewed publications including conference abstracts, dissertations.

Two reviewers (SKA, KPM) screened titles and abstracts for relevant studies and then reviewed full texts of potentially relevant articles independently. Studies fulfilling the inclusion criteria were selected and any disagreements were resolved through discussion with a senior reviewer (SV). Data extraction took place using an *a priori* data extraction form by the primary reviewer (SKA).

The following information was extracted from the included studies: characteristics of the study including publication year, title, first author, country, characteristics of the population (age group/range, gender, sample size), PROM characteristics (name, generic (i.e., evaluates general aspects of health) or specific to a condition, condition of interest, patient or parent/proxy reported, health outcome measured), method of engagement (survey, interview, focus group,

etc.), the stage of engagement (concept elicitation, item generation, content validity testing, etc.), and the level of engagement (consult, involve, collaborate, lead/support).

According to the Canada's Strategy for Patient-Oriented Research (SPOR) (19), engaging patients in research represents a spectrum. The nature of the study and capacity of the patient partners affect the level of engagement. We used the "Levels of patient and researcher engagement in health research" adapted by Dr. Vandall-Walker from the International Association for Public Participation (IAP2) spectrum. This spectrum (Figure 2.1) constitutes 6 levels starting with *inform/learn* and *participate* levels up to *lead/support* level. Accordingly, we considered *consult, involve, collaborate,* and *lead/support* to be active levels of patient engagement. At the *consult* level, patients only provide feedback when needed; at the *involve* level, patients are members of research advisory committees and work with researchers as co-investigators and members of research steering committees; at the final level *lead/support*, patients lead the research and make decisions for the research team (20).

2.3.3. Quality assessment:

GRIPP2-short form checklist (16) was used by primary reviewer (SKA) and verified by a second reviewer (AHK) to assess the quality of patient and public reporting in the included studies.

2.3.4. Data analysis:

In this review, we identified studies involving children and/or their parents/guardians in the process of development of pediatric PROMs. We descriptively reported how and in what stage this population was engaged. Count data were presented using proportions.

2.4 Results

Retrieved references from electronic and hand searches (n=8302) went through title and abstract screening after removing duplicates. Of 7450 references, 304 were considered potentially relevant and reviewers screened the full texts for final inclusion. Eventually, 131 studies (21-151) were included in this review reporting child and/or parent/guardian engagement in the development of 118 pediatric PROMs (Figure 2.2).

2.4.1. General characteristics of the included studies:

The earliest study we identified was published in 1994. As the years progressed, the number of studies with pediatric/parent engagement increased (Appendix B)

Most studies were conducted in the USA (n=58, 44%) followed by Europe (N=41, 31%), and Canada (n=16, 12%). Children as young as 4 years of age were engaged in PROM development activities as well as parents of children from birth to adolescence. Out of 118 PROMs, 52 (44%) were developed by engaging both parents/children, while 39 (33%) only engaged children/adolescents. Most studies had mixed gender participation except those focused-on gender-specific clinical conditions (e.g., Duchenne muscular dystrophy, hypospadias). The number of children and/or parents/guardians engaged ranged from 1 to146. (Table 2.1.)

Among 118 PROMs, 13 were generic (11%); most were developed to be self-reported by the child (n=55, 47%) or reported by both patient and their parent/proxy (n=48, 40%). The clinical conditions were heterogeneous, however, the health outcomes measured by the 118 PROMs were mainly related to different aspects of health-related quality of life (n=63, 53%). (Table 2.1)
2.4.2. Patient engagement

The method and stage of engagement:

Different methods of interview (n=97, 74%) and focus groups (n=36, 27%) were most often used by the researchers to engage children and families in the 131 studies included in this review. Concept elicitation, item generation and selection, relevance, and comprehensibility testing (content validity) were the stages for which patient/family input were mostly sought. The investigators usually used in-depth interview methods and focus groups for concept elicitation and item generation phases, and cognitive debriefing techniques for items/scales refinement and content validity testing. (Table 2.2)

The level of engagement (consult, involve, collaborate, lead/support):

All but six studies engaged patients/families at the *consult* level, whereby patients/families provided feedback at different stages of PROM development (e.g., concept elicitation, item generation, content validity testing) when needed, using qualitative methodology.

There were four studies in which children or parents were members of advisory groups/councils (i.e., *involve* level). Ardelt et al., 2017 (91) involved one 14-year-old patient representative in a standing group to identify items for a questionnaire measuring psychosexual satisfaction after genital hypospadias treatment. In a study by Klingels et al., 2017 (94), a working group including medical doctors, researchers, physiotherapists, and representatives from advocacy groups, industry, and patients with lived experience were involved in an iterative process using focus groups to identify a conceptual framework and select/refine items according to their relevance and applicability for a questionnaire measuring activities of daily living in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Sperling et al., 2017 (104), conducted a study to develop a questionnaire to

measure perspectives of adolescents/young adults (AYAs) about cancer treatment and survivorship. In this study, a youth panel including nine AYAs with cancer were involved in the entire process along with a professional panel including experts in primary care, pediatric oncology, and adolescent medicine. Through group and individual meetings, they prioritized themes, generated items, and commented on the format/structure of the questionnaire. Another study on Duchenne muscular dystrophy was conducted in 2021 by Powell et al. (147) to develop a new quality of life measure in these patients. Patients and parents as members of an advisory group were involved to endorse themes derived from qualitative interviews and rank/refine the generated items.

Two studies engaged children and parents at the *collaborate* level. McErlane et al., 2018 (113), collaborated with a group of parents and children/young people (CYP) with juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) as members of a scientific steering committee to select outcomes, identify and prioritize themes, generate items, and test the face validity of their questionnaire measuring physical, social, and emotional wellbeing of CYP with JIA. Schwartz et al., 2021 (149), developed the response scales for a questionnaire called Pediatric Evaluation of Disability Inventory-Patient Reported Outcome (PEDI-PRO) in adolescents with developmental/intellectual disabilities. They reported collaborated in developing potential response options, conducting focus groups for content validity testing, and interpreting the data to refine response options. (Table 2.2)

2.4.3. Quality of PPI reporting assessment (according to GRIPP2-SF checklist)

25

Out of 131 included studies, 125 reported the aim of engagement (95%). Methods and results were described in most of the studies (n=128, 98%), and the impact of engagement (n=95, 72%) were mentioned. Critical reflection on positive and negative experiences of engagement was only discussed in 52 (40%) studies. (Table 2.3)

2.5 Discussion

This review found 131 studies with some level of pediatric and/or parent/guardian engagement in the development of 118 pediatric PROMs. The level of engagement was at the *consult* level in almost all studies. Child/parent opinions were usually sought through qualitative research methods such as focus group, in-person, in-depth interviews, or cognitive debriefing. Developing a conceptual framework, item generation, and testing the content validity (including relevance, comprehensibility, and ease of administration) were the main stages in which child/parent input was obtained. The quality of reporting according to the GRIPP-2 checklist was described.

Many more studies have been published with some level of child/parent engagement in developing pediatric PROMs than what was described by Wiering et al. (13) just 5 years ago in 2017 (131 vs. 8). This could be the result of highlighting the necessity and significance of POR among research community members in the recent years. For example, many funding agencies, policy makers, research ethics boards, and even some peer-reviewed journals now require submissions to include a patient engagement strategy plan/activity. Considering the many benefits of POR, this novel trend is promising. However, as with any new strategy, learning from previous experience (e.g., knowledge synthesis through systematic reviews), is essential for all stakeholders (i.e., policy makers, funding agencies, investigators, health-care providers, patients, and their families).

Based on the levels of patient engagement in health research spectrum used in our study (20), the level of engagement identified in the included studies was most often consulting, i.e., obtaining child/parent feedback as needed throughout the development process. Only in six studies were they actively engaged as members of an advisory group (involve level, n=4), or as coresearchers/steering committee members (collaborate level, n=2). The Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) defines patient engagement as "meaningful and active collaboration in governance, priority setting, conducting research and knowledge translation" (19). According to this definition, only these six studies are considered as children/families engagement in PROM development process and all the other ones which used patient feedback through focus groups or interviews (i.e., consult level) should not be considered as active patient engagement. This has been highlighted by some researchers who argue that patients/families involved in qualitative studies being conducted to elicit concepts and to test the validity of an instrument, are still considered as "research participants" (12) and they are not truly engaged as "research partners". The fact that patient engagement employs the same methodology (e.g., focus groups, in-depth interviews, cognitive debriefings) as these qualitative studies, makes the distinction more challenging. Doria et al., 2018, (152) highlighted this confusion in their commentary and introduced a guideline which addresses how to distinguish between a focus group as a technique to gather data for a qualitative study and as a method to engage patients, i.e., "discussion group", in the process of planning and designing research." Investigators are encouraged to use these guidelines and clearly report patient engagement activities in their research projects. To improve clarity and avoid discrepancies, Carlton et al., (153) has established a framework for full incorporation of public involvement in PROM development. They suggest 11 stages where "public involvement" could be implemented in the process of PROM development and

27

differentiate patient participation from engagement in these stages. For instance, when generating the items, patient partners could help to conduct, analyze, and interpret the data gathered from the qualitative interviews and advise on wording of potential items and questions. In testing the content validity of the instrument, they could be engaged to design the study, plan, and recruit participants, design the format and content of the documents, and manage the studies (for more details refer to Figure 1, Carlton et al., 2020(153)).

To our knowledge, there is only one other review focusing on engagement of children and families in developing pediatric PROMs. McNelli et al. (154) restricted their search to studies published 2009 through 2018 with the objective to assess child and family engagement in both selecting the outcomes and developing PROMs and PREMs. They included 29 studies in their review. Employing the original version of IAP2 spectrum to assess the level of engagement, they concluded that most studies engaged child/family in the low-mid levels of the spectrum. The quality of reporting was not assessed in their review.

Although we employed a comprehensive search strategy in multiple databases, since this field is evolving and the terminology is not consistent among researchers, it is possible that we have missed some relevant citations. Regardless, child/family engagement in pediatric PROM development is currently at a basic level and significant steps should be taken for improvement.

Conclusions

This review showed child and parent engagement in pediatric PROM development is at the basic levels of the engagement continuum. Child/parent views were mainly obtained by focus group or qualitative and cognitive interviews in the stages of concept elicitation, item generation and content validity testing. Active engagement of children/parents as co-researchers is

28

recommended in all stages of pediatric PROM development from designing the study to dissemination of its findings.

2.6 References

- 1. Duffett L. Patient engagement: What partnering with patient in research is all about. Thromb Res. 2017 Feb;150:113-120. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2016.10.029.
- Domecq JP, Prutsky G, Elraiyah T, Wang Z, Nabhan M, Shippee N, Brito JP, Boehmer K, Hasan R, Firwana B, Erwin P. Patient engagement in research: a systematic review. BMC health services research. 2014;14(1):89.
- 3. Sacristán JA, Aguarón A, Avendaño-Solá C, Garrido P, Carrión J, Gutiérrez A, Kroes R, Flores A. Patient involvement in clinical research: why, when, and how. Patient preference and adherence. 2016;10:631.
- 4. Shippee ND, Domecq Garces JP, Prutsky Lopez GJ, Wang Z, Elraiyah TA, Nabhan M, Brito JP, Boehmer K, Hasan R, Firwana B, Erwin PJ. Patient and service user engagement in research: a systematic review and synthesized framework. Health Expectations. 2015;18(5):1151-66.
- 5. Kirwan JR, de Wit M, Frank L, Haywood KL, Salek S, Brace-McDonnell S, Lyddiatt A, Barbic SP, Alonso J, Guillemin F, Bartlett SJ. Emerging guidelines for patient engagement in research. Value in Health. 2017;20(3):481-6.
- Staniszewska S, Haywood KL, Brett J, Tutton L. Patient and public involvement in patient-reported outcome measures. The Patient-Patient-Centered Outcomes Research. 2012;5(2):79-87.

- 7. Dawson J, Doll H, Fitzpatrick R, Jenkinson C, Carr AJ. The routine use of patient reported outcome measures in healthcare settings. Bmj. 2010;340:c186.
- Cella D, Yount S, Rothrock N, Gershon R, Cook K, Reeve B, Ader D, Fries JF, Bruce B, Rose M. The Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS): progress of an NIH Roadmap cooperative group during its first two years. Medical care. 2007;45(5 Suppl 1):S3.
- Johnston BC, Ebrahim S, Carrasco-Labra A, Furukawa TA, Patrick DL, Crawford MW, Hemmelgarn BR, Schunemann HJ, Guyatt GH, Nesrallah G. Minimally important difference estimates and methods: a protocol. BMJ open. 2015;5(10):e007953.
- 10. Matza LS, Patrick DL, Riley AW, Alexander JJ, Rajmil L, Pleil AM, Bullinger M. Pediatric patient-reported outcome instruments for research to support medical product labeling: report of the ISPOR PRO good research practices for the assessment of children and adolescents task force. Value in Health. 2013;16(4):461-79.
- 11. Patrick DL, Burke LB, Powers JH, Scott JA, Rock EP, Dawisha S, O'neill R, Kennedy DL.Patient-reported outcomes to support medical product labeling claims: FDA perspective.Value in Health. 2007;10:S125-37.
- 12. Blackburn SJ. Patient involvement vs. patient participation in qualitative research in the development of PROMs. Health Expectations. 2017;20(3):371-2.
- 13. Wiering B, Boer D, Delnoij D. Patient involvement in the development of patient-reported outcome measures: A scoping review. Health Expectations. 2017;20(1):11-23.
- 14. Bird D, Culley L, Lakhanpaul M. Why collaborate with children in health research: an analysis of the risks and benefits of collaboration with children. Archives of Disease in Childhood-Education and Practice. 2013:edpract-2012.

- 15. Staniszewska S, Brett J, Mockford C, Barber R. The GRIPP checklist: strengthening the quality of patient and public involvement reporting in research. International journal of technology assessment in health care. 2011;27(4):391-9.
- 16. Staniszewska S, Brett J, Simera I, Seers K, Mockford C, Goodlad S, Altman DG, Moher D, Barber R, Denegri S, Entwistle A. GRIPP2 reporting checklists: tools to improve reporting of patient and public involvement in research. Research Involvement and Engagement. 2017;3(1):13.
- 17. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. Int J Surg 2010;8:336–41.
- Hardin AP, Hackell JM, Committee on Practice and Ambulatory Medicine. Age limit of pediatrics. Pediatrics. 2017;140(3):e20172151.
- 19. Canadian Institutes of Health Research. Strategy for patient-oriented research patient engagement framework. https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/48413.html (accessed 2022, July 15).
- 20. Amirav I, Vandall-Walker V, Rasiah J, Saunders L. Patient and researcher engagement in health research: a parent's perspective. Pediatrics. 2017;140(3):e20164127.
- 21. Juniper EF, Guyatt GH, Dolovich J. Assessment of quality of life in adolescents with allergic rhinoconjunctivitis: development and testing of a questionnaire for clinical trials. Journal of allergy and clinical immunology. 1994;93(2):413-23.
- 22. Juniper EF, Guyatt GH, Feeny DH, Ferrie PJ, Griffith LE, Townsend M. Measuring quality of life in children with asthma. Quality of life research. 1996;5(1):35-46.
- 23. Armstrong FD, Toledano SR, Miloslavich K, Lackman-Zeman L, Levy JD, Gay CL, Schuman WB, Fishkin PE. The Miami pediatric quality of life questionnaire: parent scale. International Journal of Cancer. 1999;83(S12):11-7.

- 24. Ravens-Sieberer U, Gosch A, Abel T, Auquier P, Bellach BM, Bruil J, Dür W, Power M, Rajmil L. Quality of life in children and adolescents: a European public health perspective. Sozial-und Präventivmedizin. 2001;46(5):294-302.
- 25. Bullinger MV, Von Mackensen S, Fischer K, Khair K, Petersen C, Ravens-Sieberer U, Rocino A, Sagnier P, Tusell JM, Van Den Berg M, Vicariot M. Pilot testing of the 'Haemo-QoL'quality of life questionnaire for haemophiliac children in six European countries. Haemophilia. 2002;8:47-54.
- 26. Jokovic A, Locker D, Stephens M, Kenny D, Tompson B, Guyatt GJ. Validity and reliability of a questionnaire for measuring child oral-health-related quality of life. Journal of dental research. 2002;81(7):459-63.
- 27. Barnard D, Woloski M, Feeny D, McCusker P, Wu J, David M, Bussel J, Lusher J, Wakefield C, Henriques S, Blanchette V. Development of disease-specific health-related quality-of-life instruments for children with immune thrombocytopenic purpura and their parents. Journal of pediatric hematology/oncology. 2003;25(1):56-62.
- 28. Ronen GM, Streiner DL, Rosenbaum P, Canadian Pediatric Epilepsy Network. Healthrelated quality of life in children with epilepsy: development and validation of self-report and parent proxy measures. Epilepsia. 2003;44(4):598-612.
- 29. Moorthy LN, Robbins L, Harrison MJ, Peterson MG, Cox N, Onel KB, Lehman TJ. Quality of life in paediatric lupus. Lupus. 2004;13(4):234-40.
- 30. Moorthy LN, Peterson MG, Baratelli M, Harrison MJ, Onel KB, Chalom EC, Haines K, Hashkes PJ, Lehman TJ. Multicenter validation of a new quality of life measure in pediatric lupus. Arthritis Care & Research. 2007;57(7):1165-73.

- 31. Petersen C, Schmidt S, Power M, Bullinger M. Development and pilot-testing of a healthrelated quality of life chronic generic module for children and adolescents with chronic health conditions: a European perspective. Quality of life research. 2005;14(4):1065-77.
- 32. Waters E, Maher E, Salmon L, Reddihough D, Boyd R. Development of a conditionspecific measure of quality of life for children with cerebral palsy: empirical thematic data reported by parents and children. Child: care, health and development. 2005;31(2):127-35.
- 33. Waters E, Davis E, Mackinnon A, Boyd R, Graham HK, Kai Lo S, Wolfe R, Stevenson R, Bjornson K, Blair E, Hoare P. Psychometric properties of the quality of life questionnaire for children with CP. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2007;49(1):49-55.
- 34. Adair CE, Marcoux GC, Cram BS, Ewashen CJ, Chafe J, Cassin SE, Pinzon J, Gusella JL, Geller J, Scattolon Y, Fergusson P. Development and multi-site validation of a new condition-specific quality of life measure for eating disorders. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes. 2007;5(1):1-4.
- 35. Buck D, Smith M, Appleton R, Baker GA, Jacoby A. The development and validation of the Epilepsy and Learning Disabilities Quality of Life (ELDQOL) scale. Epilepsy & behavior. 2007;10(1):38-43.
- 36. Christie G, Marsh R, Sheridan J, Wheeler A, Suaalii-Sauni T, Black S, Butler R. The Substances and Choices Scale (SACS)-The development and testing of a new alcohol and other drug screening and outcome measurement instrument for young people. Addiction. 2007;102(9):1390-8.
- 37. Cochrane G, Lamoureux E, Keeffe J. Defining the content for a new quality of life questionnaire for students with low vision (the Impact of Vision Impairment on Children: IVI_C). Ophthalmic epidemiology. 2008;15(2):114-20.

- 38. Kintner EK. Development and preliminary evaluation of the participation in life activities scale for children and adolescents with asthma: an instrument development study. Health and quality of life outcomes. 2008;6(1):1-1.
- Walsh TR, Irwin DE, Meier A, Varni JW, DeWalt DA. The use of focus groups in the development of the PROMIS pediatrics item bank. Quality of Life Research. 2008;17(5):725-35.
- 40. Bourke-Taylor H, Law M, Howie L, Pallant JF. Development of the Assistance to Participate Scale (APS) for children's play and leisure activities. Child: Care, Health and Development. 2009;35(5):738-45.
- Bourke-Taylor H, Howie L, Law M. Impact of caring for a school-aged child with a disability: Understanding mothers' perspectives. Australian Occupational Therapy Journal. 2010;57(2):127-36.
- 42. Irwin DE, Varni JW, Yeatts K, DeWalt DA. Cognitive interviewing methodology in the development of a pediatric item bank: a patient reported outcomes measurement information system (PROMIS) study. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes. 2009;7(1):1-0.
- 43. Markham C, Van Laar D, Gibbard D, Dean T. Children with speech, language and communication needs: Their perceptions of their quality of life. International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders. 2009;44(5):748-68.
- 44. Shaikh N, Martin JM, Casey JR, Pichichero ME, Wald ER, Colborn DK, Gerber MA, Kearney DH, Balentine TL, Haralam MA, Hoberman A. Development of a patient-reported outcome measure for children with streptococcal pharyngitis. Pediatrics. 2009;124(4):e557-63.

- 45. Aparicio López C, Fernández Escribano A, Luque de Pablos A, Izquierdo García E, Garrido Cantanero G. Design of a quality of life questionnaire in Spanish for children with chronic renal disease. Nefrología (English Edition). 2010;30(2):168-76.
- 46. Arbuckle R, Abetz L, Durmer JS, Ivanenko A, Owens JA, Croenlein J, Bolton K, Moore A, Allen RP, Walters AS, Picchietti DL. Development of the Pediatric Restless Legs Syndrome Severity Scale (P-RLS-SS)©: A patient-reported outcome measure of pediatric RLS symptoms and impact. Sleep Medicine. 2010;11(9):897-906.
- 47. Barker DH, Lloyd TQ, Stewart PK, Wells MG. Psychometric validation of the Preschool Outcome Questionnaire: A preschool treatment outcome instrument. Journal of Child and Family Studies. 2010;19(4):504-15.
- 48. Liu WY, Hou YJ, Liao HF, Lin YH, Chen YY, Wong AM. A Preliminary study of the development, validity, and reliability of a caregiver questionnaire for the health-related quality of life in children with cerebral palsy. Chang Gung Med J. 2010;33(6):646-58.
- 49. Mulcahey MJ, DiGiovanni N, Calhoun C, Homko E, Riley A, Haley SM. Children's and parents' perspectives about activity performance and participation after spinal cord injury: Initial development of a patient-reported outcome measure. The American Journal of Occupational Therapy. 2010;64(4):605-13.
- 50. Roorda LD, Scholtes VA, van der Lee JH, Becher J, Dallmeijer AJ. Measuring mobility limitations in children with cerebral palsy: development, scalability, unidimensionality, and internal consistency of the mobility questionnaire, MobQues47. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 2010;91(8):1194-209.

- 51. Akram AJ, Jerreat AS, Woodford J, Sandy JR, Ireland AJ. Development of a conditionspecific measure to assess quality of life in patients with hypodontia. Orthodontics & craniofacial research. 2011;14(3):160-7.
- 52. Angeles-Han ST, Griffin KW, Harrison MJ, Lehman TJ, Leong T, Robb RR, Shainberg M, Ponder L, Lenhart P, Hutchinson A, Srivastava SK. Development of a vision-related quality of life instrument for children ages 8–18 years for use in juvenile idiopathic arthritis– associated uveitis. Arthritis care & research. 2011;63(9):1254-61.
- 53. Lai JS, Zelko F, Butt Z, Cella D, Kieran MW, Krull KR, Magasi S, Goldman S. Parentperceived child cognitive function: results from a sample drawn from the US general population. Child's Nervous System. 2011;27(2):285-93.
- 54. Punpanich W, Hays RD, Detels R, Chokephaibulkit K, Chantbuddhiwet U, Leowsrisook P, Prasitsuebsai W. Development of a culturally appropriate health-related quality of life measure for human immunodeficiency virus-infected children in Thailand. Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health. 2011;47(1-2):27-33.
- 55. Rahi JS, Tadić V, Keeley S, Lewando-Hundt G. Capturing children and young people's perspectives to identify the content for a novel vision-related quality of life instrument. Ophthalmology. 2011;118(5):819-24.
- 56. DeCarlo DK, McGwin G, Bixler ML, Wallander J, Owsley C. Impact of pediatric vision impairment on daily life: results of focus groups. Optometry and vision science: official publication of the American Academy of Optometry. 2012;89(9):1409.
- 57. Panepinto JA, Torres S, Varni JW. Development of the PedsQL[™] sickle cell disease module items: Qualitative methods. Quality of Life Research. 2012;21(2):341-57.

- 58. Tsakos G, Blair YI, Yusuf H, Wright W, Watt RG, Macpherson L. Developing a new selfreported scale of oral health outcomes for 5-year-old children (SOHO-5). Health and quality of life outcomes. 2012;10(1):1-8.
- 59. Varni JW, Kay MT, Limbers CA, Franciosi JP, Pohl JF. PedsQL gastrointestinal symptoms module item development: qualitative methods. Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition. 2012;54(5):664-71.
- 60. Bevans KB, Gardner W, Pajer K, Riley AW, Forrest CB. Qualitative development of the PROMIS® pediatric stress response item banks. Journal of pediatric psychology. 2013;38(2):173-91.
- 61. Bokhary KA, Suttle C, Alotaibi AG, Stapleton F, Boon MY. Development and validation of the 21-item children's vision for living scale (CVLS) by Rasch analysis. Clinical and Experimental Optometry. 2013;96(6):566-76.
- 62. Carlton J. Developing the draft descriptive system for the child amblyopia treatment questionnaire (CAT-Qol): a mixed methods study. Health and quality of life outcomes. 2013;11(1):1-9.
- 63. Dufresne H, Hadj-Rabia S, Méni C, Sibaud V, Bodemer C, Taïeb C. Family burden in inherited ichthyosis: creation of a specific questionnaire. Orphanet journal of rare diseases. 2013;8(1):1-8.
- 64. Fabricant PD, Robles A, Downey-Zayas T, Do HT, Marx RG, Widmann RF, Green DW. Development and validation of a pediatric sports activity rating scale: the Hospital for Special Surgery Pediatric Functional Activity Brief Scale (HSS Pedi-FABS). The American Journal of Sports Medicine. 2013;41(10):2421-9.

- 65. Kerfeld CI, Dudgeon BJ, Engel JM, Kartin D. Development of items that assess physical function in children who use wheelchairs. Pediatric physical therapy: the official publication of the Section on Pediatrics of the American Physical Therapy Association. 2013;25(2):158.
- 66. Forrest CB, Bevans KB, Pratiwadi R, Moon J, Teneralli RE, Minton JM, Tucker CA. Development of the PROMIS® pediatric global health (PGH-7) measure. Quality of Life Research. 2014;23(4):1221-31.
- 67. Geister TL, Quintanar-Solares M, Martin M, Aufhammer S, Asmus F. Qualitative development of the 'Questionnaire on Pain caused by Spasticity (QPS),'a pediatric patient-reported outcome for spasticity-related pain in cerebral palsy. Quality of Life Research. 2014;23(3):887-96.
- 68. Izaguirre MR, Keefer L. Development of a self-efficacy scale for adolescents and young adults with inflammatory bowel disease. Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition. 2014;59(1):29-32.
- 69. Morley TE, Cataudella D, Fernandez CV, Sung L, Johnston DL, Nesin A, Zelcer S. Development of the pediatric advanced care quality of life scale (PAC-QoL): Evaluating comprehension of items and response options. Pediatric blood & cancer. 2014;61(10):1835-9.
- 70. Ng V, Nicholas D, Dhawan A, Yazigi N, Ee L, Stormon M, Gilmour S, Schreiber R, Taylor R, Otley A, PeLTQL study group. Development and validation of the pediatric liver transplantation quality of life: a disease-specific quality of life measure for pediatric liver transplant recipients. The Journal of Pediatrics. 2014;165(3):547-55.
- 71. Ravens-Sieberer U, Devine J, Bevans K, Riley AW, Moon J, Salsman JM, Forrest CB. Subjective well-being measures for children were developed within the PROMIS project: presentation of first results. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 2014;67(2):207-18.

- 72. Tucker CA, Bevans KB, Teneralli RE, Smith AW, Bowles HR, Forrest CB. Self-reported pediatric measures of physical activity, sedentary behavior and strength impact for PROMIS®: conceptual framework. Pediatric physical therapy: the official publication of the Section on Pediatrics of the American Physical Therapy Association. 2014;26(4):376.
- 73. Tucker CA, Bevans KB, Teneralli RE, Smith AW, Bowles HR, Forrest CB. Self-reported pediatric measures of physical activity, sedentary behavior and strength impact for PROMIS®: item development. Pediatric physical therapy: the official publication of the Section on Pediatrics of the American Physical Therapy Association. 2014;26(4):385.
- 74. Costa-Tutusaus L, Guerra-Balic M. Development and psychometric validation of a scoring questionnaire to assess healthy lifestyles among adolescents in Catalonia. BMC Public Health. 2015;16(1):1-2.
- 75. Jacobson Jr CJ, Kashikar-Zuck S, Farrell J, Barnett K, Goldschneider K, Dampier C, Cunningham N, Crosby L, DeWitt EM. Qualitative evaluation of pediatric pain behavior, quality, and intensity item candidates and the PROMIS pain domain framework in children with chronic pain. The Journal of Pain. 2015;16(12):1243-55.
- 76. Parslow R, Patel A, Beasant L, Haywood K, Johnson D, Crawley E. What matters to children with CFS/ME? A conceptual model as the first stage in developing a PROM. Archives of disease in childhood. 2015;100(12):1141-7.
- 77. Parslow RM, Shaw A, Haywood KL, Crawley E. Developing and pretesting a new patient reported outcome measure for paediatric chronic fatigue syndrome/myalgic encephalopathy (CFS/ME): cognitive interviews with children. Journal of patient-reported outcomes. 2019;3(1):1-0.

- 78. Parslow RM, Anderson N, Byrne D, Haywood KL, Shaw A, Crawley E. Development of a conceptual framework to underpin a health-related quality of life outcome measure in paediatric chronic fatigue syndrome/myalgic encephalopathy (CFS/ME): prioritisation through card ranking. Quality of Life Research. 2020;29(5):1169-81.
- 79. Young NL, Wabano MJ, Ritchie SD, Burke TA, Pangowish B, Corbiere RG. Assessing children's interpretations of the Aboriginal Children's Health and Well-being Measure (ACHWM). Health and Quality of Life Outcomes. 2015;13(1):1-7.
- 80. Adams M, Robling M, Grainger J, Tomlins J, Johnson A, Morris S, Velangi M, Jenney M. Quality of life Evaluation in patients receiving Steroids (the QuESt tool): initial development in children and young people with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Archives of disease in childhood. 2016;101(3):241-6.
- Bearss K, Taylor CA, Aman MG, Whittemore R, Lecavalier L, Miller J, Pritchett J, Green B, Scahill L. Using qualitative methods to guide scale development for anxiety in youth with autism spectrum disorder. Autism. 2016;20(6):663-72.
- 82. Benson PE, Cunningham SJ, Shah N, Gilchrist F, Baker SR, Hodges SJ, Marshman Z. Development of the Malocclusion Impact Questionnaire (MIQ) to measure the oral healthrelated quality of life of young people with malocclusion: part 2–cross-sectional validation. Journal of orthodontics. 2016;43(1):14-23.
- 83. Bramhagen AC, Eriksson M, Ericsson E, Nilsson U, Harden S, Idvall E. Self-reported postoperative recovery in children: development of an instrument. Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice. 2016;22(2):180-8.
- 84. Dell SD, Leigh MW, Lucas JS, Ferkol TW, Knowles MR, Alpern A, Behan L, Morris AM, Hogg C, DunnGalvin A, Quittner AL. Primary ciliary dyskinesia: first health-related quality-

of-life measures for pediatric patients. Annals of the American Thoracic Society. 2016;13(10):1726-35.

- 85. Dellenmark-Blom M, Chaplin JE, Gatzinsky V, Jönsson L, Wigert H, Apell J, Sillén U, Abrahamsson K. Health-related quality of life experiences among children and adolescents born with esophageal atresia: development of a condition-specific questionnaire for pediatric patients. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2016;51(4):563-9.
- 86. Follansbee-Junger KW, Mann KA, Guilfoyle SM, Morita DA, Varni JW, Modi AC.
 Development of the PedsQL[™] Epilepsy Module: Focus group and cognitive interviews.
 Epilepsy & Behavior. 2016;62:115-20.
- 87. Keays MA, Starke N, Lee SC, Bernstein I, Snodgrass WT, Bush NC. Patient reported outcomes in preoperative and postoperative patients with hypospadias. The Journal of urology. 2016;195(4 Part 2):1215-20.
- Newcombe PA, Sheffield JK, Petsky HL, Marchant JM, Willis C, Chang AB. A child chronic cough-specific quality of life measure: development and validation. Thorax. 2016;71(8):695-700.
- 89. Olivieri I, M Bova S, Fazzi E, Ricci D, Tinelli F, Montomoli C, Rezzani C, Balottin U, Orcesi S, SOLE VLBWI Questionnaire Study Group, Ariaudo G. Patient-reported outcomes measure for children born preterm: validation of the SOLE VLBWI Questionnaire, a new quality of life self-assessment tool. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2016;58(9):957-64.
- 90. Velde SV, Laridaen J, Van Hoecke E, Van Biervliet S, De Bruyne R, Van Winckel M, Goubert L. Development and validation of a spina bifida-specific pediatric quality of life

questionnaire: the Spina Bifida Pediatric Questionnaire, SBPQ. Child's Nervous System. 2016;32(1):105-10.

- 91. Ardelt PU, Cederqvist M, Barth M, Frankenschmidt A. The SIGHT questionnaire: a novel assessment tool for satisfaction in genital hypospadias treatment. Journal of Pediatric Urology. 2017;13(1):33-e1.
- 92. Bevans KB, Riley AW, Landgraf JM, Carle AC, Teneralli RE, Fiese BH, Meltzer LJ, Ettinger AK, Becker BD, Forrest CB. Children's family experiences: development of the PROMIS® pediatric family relationships measures. Quality of Life Research. 2017;26(11):3011-23.
- 93. Elsman EB, van Nispen RM, van Rens GH. Feasibility of the Participation and Activity Inventory for Children and Youth (PAI-CY) and Young Adults (PAI-YA) with a visual impairment: a pilot study. Health and quality of life outcomes. 2017;15(1):1-2.
- 94. Klingels K, Mayhew AG, Mazzone ES, Duong T, Decostre V, Werlauff U, Vroom E, Mercuri E, Goemans NM, Upper Limb Clinical Outcome Group, Eagle M. Development of a patient-reported outcome measure for upper limb function in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: DMD upper limb PROM. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2017;59(2):224-31.
- 95. Longmire NM, Riff KW, O'Hara JL, Aggarwala S, Allen GC, Bulstrode NW, Forrest CR, French BM, Goodacre TE, Marucci D, Norris JH. Development of a new module of the FACE-Q for children and young adults with diverse conditions associated with visible and/or functional facial differences. Facial Plastic Surgery. 2017;33(05):499-508.
- 96. Tassi A, Tan J, Piplani B, Longmire N, Wong Riff KW, Klassen AF. Establishing content validity of an orthodontic subset of the FACE-Q Craniofacial Module in children and young adults with malocclusion. Orthodontics & Craniofacial Research. 2021;24(4):553-60.

- 97. Oluboyede Y, Smith AB, Hill A, Hulme C. The weight-specific adolescent instrument for economic evaluation (WAItE): psychometric evaluation using a Rasch model approach. Quality of Life Research. 2019;28(4):969-77.
- 98. Reeve BB, McFatrich M, Pinheiro LC, Freyer DR, Basch EM, Baker JN, Withycombe JS, Sung L, Mack JW, Waldron MK, Mowbray C. Cognitive interview-based validation of the patient-reported outcomes version of the common terminology criteria for adverse events in adolescents with cancer. Journal of pain and symptom management. 2017;53(4):759-66.
- 99. Reeve BB, McFatrich M, Pinheiro LC, Weaver MS, Sung L, Withycombe JS, Baker JN, Mack JW, Waldron MK, Gibson D, Tomlinson D. Eliciting the child's voice in adverse event reporting in oncology trials: cognitive interview findings from the Pediatric Patient-Reported Outcomes version of the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events initiative. Pediatric blood & cancer. 2017;64(3):e26261.
- 100. Samuels-Kalow ME, Rhodes KV, Henien M, Hardy E, Moore T, Wong F, Camargo Jr CA, Rizzo CT, Mollen C. Development of a patient-centered outcome measure for emergency department asthma patients. Academic Emergency Medicine. 2017;24(5):511-22.
- 101. Skjerning H, Hourihane J, Husby S, DunnGalvin A. A comprehensive questionnaire for the assessment of health-related quality of life in coeliac disease (CDQL). Quality of Life Research. 2017;26(10):2831-50.
- 102. Sommer R, Blömeke J, Dabs M, Witt S, Bullinger M, Quitmann J. An ICF-CY-based approach to assessing self-and observer-reported functioning in young persons with achondroplasia–development of the pilot version of the Achondroplasia Personal Life Experience Scale (APLES). Disability and rehabilitation. 2017;39(24):2499-503.

- 103. Bloemeke J, Sommer R, Witt S, Dabs M, Badia FJ, Bullinger M, Quitmann J. Piloting and psychometric properties of a patient-reported outcome instrument for young people with achondroplasia based on the International Classification of Functioning Disability and Health: the Achondroplasia Personal Life Experience Scale (APLES). Disability and rehabilitation. 2019;41(15):1815-25.
- 104. Sperling CD, Petersen GS, Hølge-Hazelton B, Graugaard C, Winther JF, Gudmundsdottir T, Ahrensberg J, Schmiegelow K, Boisen KA, Olsen PR, Heerdegen AC. Being young and getting cancer: development of a questionnaire reflecting the needs and experiences of adolescents and young adults with cancer. Journal of Adolescent and Young Adult Oncology. 2017;6(1):171-7.
- 105. Tapia VJ, Drizin JH, Dalle Ore C, Nieto M, Romero Y, Magallon S, Nayak R, Sigler A, Malcarne V, Gosman A. Qualitative methods in the development of a bilingual and bicultural quality of life outcomes measure for pediatric patients with craniofacial conditions. Annals of Plastic Surgery. 2017;78(5):S248-55.
- 106. Riff KW, Tsangaris E, Goodacre T, Forrest CR, Pusic AL, Cano SJ, Klassen AF. International multiphase mixed methods study protocol to develop a cross-cultural patientreported outcome instrument for children and young adults with cleft lip and/or palate (CLEFT-Q). BMJ open. 2017;7(1):e015467.
- 107. Wong Riff KW, Tsangaris E, Goodacre TE, Forrest CR, Lawson J, Pusic AL, Klassen AF. What matters to patients with cleft lip and/or palate: an international qualitative study informing the development of the CLEFT-Q. The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal. 2018;55(3):442-50.

- 108. Wright WG, Spiro III A, Jones JA, Rich SE, Garcia RI. Development of the teen Oral health-related quality of life instrument. Journal of Public Health Dentistry. 2017;77(2):115-24.
- 109. Basra MK, Salek MS, Fenech D, Finlay AY. Conceptualization, development and validation of T-QoL©(Teenagers' Quality of Life): a patient-focused measure to assess quality of life of adolescents with skin diseases. British Journal of Dermatology. 2018;178(1):161-75.
- 110. Fiume A, Deveber G, Jang SH, Fuller C, Viner S, Friefeld S. Development and validation of the pediatric stroke quality of life measure. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2018;60(6):587-95.
- 111. Heyworth B, Cohen L, von Heideken J, Kocher MS, Iversen MD. Validity and comprehensibility of outcome measures in children with shoulder and elbow disorders: creation of a new pediatric and adolescent shoulder and elbow survey (Pedi-ASES). Journal of Shoulder and Elbow Surgery. 2018;27(7):1162-71.
- 112. Lewis S, DeMuro C, Block SL, Senders S, Wisman P, Toback S, Chien JW, Williams V.Development of a novel observer-reported outcome measure for the assessment ofRespiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) infection symptoms in pediatric clinical trials. Journal ofpatient-reported outcomes. 2018;2(1):1-9.
- 113. McErlane F, Foster HE, Armitt G, Bailey K, Cobb J, Davidson JE, Douglas S, Fell A, Friswell M, Pilkington C, Strike H. Development of a national audit tool for juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a BSPAR project funded by the Health Care Quality Improvement Partnership. Rheumatology. 2018;57(1):140-51.

- 114. Lunt LE, Shoop-Worrall S, Smith N, Cleary G, McDonagh J, Smith AD, Thomson W,
 McErlane F. Validation of novel patient-centred juvenile idiopathic arthritis-specific patient-reported outcome and experience measures (PROMs/PREMs). Pediatric Rheumatology.
 2020;18(1):1-9.
- 115. Niemitz M, Schwerk N, Goldbeck L, Griese M. Development and validation of a healthrelated quality of life questionnaire for pediatric patients with interstitial lung disease. Pediatric pulmonology. 2018;53(7):954-63.
- 116. Santucci NR, Hyman PE, Karpinski A, Rosenberg A, Garguilo D, Rein LE, Amado-Feeley A, Stoops E, Herdes RE, van Tilburg MA. Development and validation of a childhood self-efficacy for functional constipation questionnaire. Neurogastroenterology & Motility. 2018;30(3):e13222.
- 117. Bevans KB, Meltzer LJ, De La Motte A, Kratchman A, Viél D, Forrest CB. Qualitative development and content validation of the PROMIS Pediatric Sleep Health items. Behavioral Sleep Medicine. 2019;17(5):657-71.
- 118. Chhina H, Klassen A, Kopec JA, Oliffe J, Cooper A. International multiphase mixed methods study protocol to develop a patient-reported outcome instrument for children and adolescents with lower limb deformities. BMJ open. 2019;9(5):e027079.
- 119. Chhina H, Klassen AF, Kopec JA, Oliffe J, Iobst C, Dahan-Oliel N, Aggarwal A, Nunn T, Cooper AP. What matters to children with lower limb deformities: an international qualitative study guiding the development of a new patient-reported outcome measure. Journal of patient-reported outcomes. 2021;5(1):1-2.
- 120. Halleran DR, Lane VA, Leonhart KL, Fischer B, Sebastião YV, Chisolm DJ, Levitt MA, Wood RJ, Minneci PC, Deans KJ. Development of a patient-reported experience and outcome

measures in pediatric patients undergoing bowel management for constipation and fecal incontinence. Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition. 2019;69(2):e34-8.

- 121. Heidi M, Emily K, Benjamin H, Michael C, Robert K, Mitch B, Chris G, Mando W, Andrew B. Patient reported outcomes for preschool children with recurrent wheeze. NPJ primary care respiratory medicine. 2019;29(1):1-5.
- 122. Hoffman MF, Cejas I, Quittner AL. Health-related quality of life instruments for children with cochlear implants: development of child and parent-proxy measures. Ear and hearing. 2019;40(3):592.
- 123. Jaudszus A, Zeman E, Jans T, Pfeifer E, Tabori H, Arnold C, Michl RK, Lorenz M, Beiersdorf N, Mainz JG. Validity and reliability of a novel multimodal questionnaire for the assessment of abdominal symptoms in people with cystic fibrosis (CFAbd-Score). The Patient-Patient-Centered Outcomes Research. 2019;12(4):419-28.
- 124. Klassen AF, Lipner S, O'Malley M, Longmire NM, Cano SJ, Breitkopf T, Rae C, Zhang YL, Pusic AL. Development of a new patient-reported outcome measure to evaluate treatments for acne and acne scarring: the ACNE-Q. British Journal of Dermatology. 2019;181(6):1207-15.
- 125. Nelson LM, DiBenedetti D, Pariser DM, Glaser DA, Hebert AA, Hofland H, Drew J, Ingolia D, Gillard KK, Fehnel S. Development and validation of the Axillary Sweating Daily Diary: a patient-reported outcome measure to assess axillary sweating severity. Journal of Patient-Reported Outcomes. 2019;3(1):1-3.
- 126. Newton L, DeLozier AM, Griffiths PC, Hill JN, Hudgens S, Symonds T, Gable JC, Paik J, Wyrwich KW, Eichenfield LF, Abetz-Webb L. Exploring content and psychometric validity

of newly developed assessment tools for itch and skin pain in atopic dermatitis. Journal of patient-reported outcomes. 2019;3(1):1-2.

- 127. Piscione J, Barden W, Barry J, Malkin A, Roy T, Sueyoshi T, Mazil K, Salomon S, Dandachli F, Griffin A, Saint-Yves H. The Pediatric Toronto Extremity Salvage Score (pTESS): Validation of a self-reported functional outcomes tool for children with extremity tumors. Clinical orthopaedics and related research. 2019;477(9):2127.
- 128. Propp R, McAdam L, Davis AM, Salbach NM, Weir S, Encisa C, Narayanan UG. Development and content validation of the Muscular Dystrophy Child Health Index of Life with Disabilities questionnaire for children with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2019;61(1):75-81.
- 129. Sarda SP, De La Cruz M, Flood EM, Vanya M, Hwang DG, Ta CN, Narvekar A. Content validity of a novel patient-reported and observer-reported outcomes assessment to evaluate ocular symptoms associated with infectious conjunctivitis in both adult and pediatric populations. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes. 2019;17(1):1-0.
- 130. Tingsgaard JK, Tingsgaard PK, Siggaard LD, Barrett TQ, Luscher M, Homoe P. Validation of the Danish National Tympanostomy Tube Insertion Questionnaires. Danish Medical Journal. 2019;66(9):A5568.
- 131. Tsangaris E, D'Agostino N, Rae C, Breakey V, Klassen AF. Development and psychometric evaluation of the cancer distress scales for adolescent and young adults. Journal of Adolescent and Young Adult Oncology. 2019;8(5):566-80.
- 132. Bevans KB, Moon J, Becker BD, Carle A, Forrest CB. Development of patient-reported outcome measures of children's oral health aesthetics. Community dentistry and oral epidemiology. 2020;48(5):423-32.

- 133. De Zwaan M, Fischer-Jacobs J, Wabitsch M, Reinehr T, Meckes-Ferber S, Crosby RD. Development and Psychometric Evaluation of an Instrument Assessing Barriers to Growth Hormone Treatment (BAR-GHT). Frontiers in Endocrinology. 2020;11:84.
- 134. Halstead P, Arbuckle R, Marshall C, Zimmerman B, Bolton K, Gelotte C. Development and content validity testing of patient-reported outcome items for children to self-assess symptoms of the common cold. The Patient-Patient-Centered Outcomes Research. 2020;13(2):235-50.
- 135. Martin SA, Brown TM, Fehnel S, Deal LS, Katz EG, Chiou CF. The atopic dermatitis itch scale: development of a new measure to assess pruritus in patients with atopic dermatitis.Journal of Dermatological Treatment. 2020;31(5):484-90.
- 136. McCarrier KP, Hassan M, Hodgkins P, Suthoff E, McGarry LJ, Martin ML. The Cystic Fibrosis Impact Questionnaire: qualitative development and cognitive evaluation of a new patient-reported outcome instrument to assess the life impacts of cystic fibrosis. Journal of Patient-Reported Outcomes. 2020;4(1):1-1.
- 137. Robertson AO, Tadić V, Cortina-Borja M, Rahi JS. A patient-reported outcome measure of functional vision for children and young people aged 8 to 18 years with visual impairment. American Journal of Ophthalmology. 2020;219:141-53.
- 138. Wyrwich KW, Kitchen H, Knight S, Aldhouse NV, Macey J, Nunes FP, Dutronc Y, Mesinkovska N, Ko JM, King BA. Development of the Scalp Hair Assessment PRO[™] measure for alopecia areata. British Journal of Dermatology. 2020;183(6):1065-72.
- 139. Zigler CK, Ardalan K, Lane S, Schollaert KL, Torok KS. A novel patient-reported outcome for paediatric localized scleroderma: a qualitative assessment of content validity. British Journal of Dermatology. 2020;182(3):625-35.

- 140. Cejas I, Coto J, Sarangoulis C, Sanchez CM, Quittner AL. Quality of Life-CI:Development of an Early Childhood Parent-Proxy and Adolescent Version. Ear and hearing.2021;42(4):1072-83.
- 141. Dermott JA, Wright F, Salbach NM, Narayanan UG. Development of the gait outcomes assessment list for lower-limb differences (GOAL-LD) questionnaire: a child and parent reported outcome measure. Health and quality of life outcomes. 2021;19(1):1-0.
- 142. Griffiths C, Guest E, Pickles T, Hollèn L, Grzeda M, Tollow P, Harcourt D. The development and validation of the CARe Burn Scale: Child Form: a parent-proxy-reported outcome measure assessing quality of life for children aged 8 years and under living with a burn injury. Quality of Life Research. 2021;30(1):239-50.
- 143. Gwaltney C, Stokes J, Aiudi A, Mazar I, Ollis S, Love E, Shields A. Development and content validity of the Barth Syndrome Symptom Assessment (BTHS-SA) for adolescents and adults. Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases. 2021;16(1):1-3.
- 144. Hall R, Lebwohl MG, Bushmakin AG, Simpson EL, Gooderham MJ, Wollenberg A, Gater A, Wells JR, Cappelleri JC, Hsu MA, Papacharalambous J. Development and content validation of pruritus and symptoms assessment for atopic dermatitis (PSAAD) in adolescents and adults with moderate-to-severe AD. Dermatology and therapy. 2021;11(1):221-33.
- 145. Meltzer LJ, Forrest CB, de la Motte A, Mindell JA, Bevans KB. Development and validation of the pediatric sleep practices questionnaire: a self-report measure for youth ages
 8–17 years. Behavioral sleep medicine. 2021;19(1):126-43.
- 146. Pandina G, Ness S, Trudeau J, Stringer S, Knoble N, Lenderking WR, Bangerter A. Qualitative evaluation of the Autism Behavior Inventory: use of cognitive interviewing to

establish validity of a caregiver report scale for autism spectrum disorder. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes. 2021;19(1):1-3.

- 147. Powell PA, Carlton J, Rowen D, Chandler F, Guglieri M, Brazier JE. Development of a new quality of life measure for Duchenne muscular dystrophy using mixed methods: the DMD-QoL. Neurology. 2021;96(19):e2438-50.
- 148. Ramchandren S, Wu TT, Finkel RS, Siskind CE, Feely SM, Burns J, Reilly MM, Estilow T, Shy ME, Childhood CMT Study Group. Development and Validation of the Pediatric Charcot–Marie–Tooth Disease Quality of Life Outcome Measure. Annals of neurology. 2021;89(2):369-79.
- 149. Schwartz AE, Kramer JM, PEDI-PRO Youth Team. Inclusive approaches to developing content valid patient-reported outcome measure response scales for youth with intellectual/developmental disabilities. British Journal of Learning Disabilities. 2021;49(1):100-10.
- 150. Winnette R, Martin S, Harris N, Deal LS. Development of the Alopecia Areata Patient Priority Outcomes Instrument: A Qualitative Study. Dermatology and Therapy. 2021;11(2):599-613.
- 151. Zizzi CE, Luebbe E, Mongiovi P, Hunter M, Dilek N, Garland C, Ciafaloni E, Zaidman CM, Kissel JT, McDermott MP, Johnson N. The Spinal Muscular Atrophy Health Index: A novel outcome for measuring how a patient feels and functions. Muscle & Nerve. 2021;63(6):837-44.
- 152. Doria N, Condran B, Boulos L, Curtis Maillet DG, Dowling L, Levy A. Sharpening the focus: differentiating between focus groups for patient engagement vs. qualitative research. Research Involvement and Engagement. 2018;4(1):1-8.

- 153. Carlton J, Peasgood T, Khan S, Barber R, Bostock J, Keetharuth AD. An emerging framework for fully incorporating public involvement (PI) into patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs). Journal of Patient-Reported Outcomes. 2020;4(1):1-0.
- 154. McNeill M, Noyek S, Engeda E, Fayed N. Assessing the engagement of children and families in selecting patient-reported outcomes (PROs) and developing their measures: a systematic review. Quality of Life Research. 2021;30(4):983-95.

LEVELS of PATIENT and RESEARCHER ENGAGEMENT in HEALTH RESEARCH

2.7. Tables and figures



Shaded area indicates the levels that the AbSPORU Patient Engagement Platform focusses on

Figure 2. 1 Levels of patient and researcher engagement in health research [adapted with permission (20)]



Author Publication year Country	Population characteristics			PROM characteristics					
	Sample size	Age group	Sex (male, female, both)	Name	Specific/generic	Patient- reported/ parent/proxy reported/both	Clinical condition	Health outcome	
Juniper EF, 1994, Canada ²¹	83 adolescents	12-17 years	Both	Quality of life in children with allergic rhino conjunctivitis	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Seasonal allergic rhino conjunctivitis	Quality of life	
Juniper EF, 1996, Canada ²²	100 in item generation, 10 in pretesting	7-17 years	Both	Paediatric Asthma Quality of Life Questionnaire	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Asthma	Quality of life	
Armstrong FD, 1999, USA ²³	30 families	10 of preschool age, 10 of school age and 10 of adolescent age	Both	The Miami Pediatric Quality of Life Questionnaire	Condition- specific	Parent/proxy- reported	Cancer	Health-related quality of life	
Ravens- Sieberer U, 2001, Multisite Europe ²⁴	24	8-17 years	Both	KIDSCREEN	Generic	Patient- reported	General children population	Health-related quality of life	
Bullinger M, 2002, Multisite Europe ²⁵	58 children 57 parents	4-16 years	Both	Haemo-Qol	Condition- specific	Both	Hemophilia	Health-related quality of life	

Table 2. 1 General characteristics of the included studies*

Jokovic A, 2002, Canada ²⁶	33 parents and 11 children in item generation and content validity testing, 83 children in item selection	11-14 years	Both	CPQ (Child Perceptions Questionnaire)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Dental and oro- facial disorders	Oral health- related quality of life
Barnard D, 2003, Canada ²⁷	88 children, 90 parents	1-17 years	Both	ITP-Child Quality- of-Life Questionnaire, ITP- Parental Burden Quality-of-Life Questionnaire	Condition- specific	Both	ITP	Health-related quality of life
Ronen GM, 2003, Canada ²⁸	29 child-parent dyads in item generation, 50 child-parent dyads in pilot testing	6-15 years	Both	HRQL measures for children with epilepsy	Condition- specific	Both	Epilepsy	Health-related quality of life
Moorthy LN, 2004 and 2007, USA ^{29, 30}	21 children and 16 parents in qualitative research	≤18 years	Both	Simple Measure of the Impact of Lupus Erythematosus in Youngsters (SMILEY)	Condition- specific	Both	SLE	Health-related quality of life
Petersen C, 2005, Multisite Europe ³¹	154 children- adolescents, 142 parents	4-16 years	Both	DISABKIDS chronic generic measure for children and adolescents with disabilities and chronic conditions	Generic (chronic generic)	Patient- reported	Chronic health conditions	Health-related quality of life
Waters E, 2005 and 2007,	28 families	Families of 4-12 years children	Both	CP QOL-Child	Condition- specific	Both	СР	Health-related quality of life

Australia ^{32,} 33								
Adair CE, 2007, Canada ³⁴	Item generation:12 patients, narretaives:31, focus group:5 Pre-testing: 17 patients and 10 family members	≥14 years and adults	Both	The Eating Disorders Quality of Life Scale (EDQLS)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Eating disorder	Quality of life
Buck D, 2007, UK ³⁵	16 parents	18 months - 21 years	Both	Epilepsy and Learning Disabilities Quality of Life (ELDQOL) scale	Condition- specific	Parent/proxy- reported	Epilepsy and learning disabilities	Health-related quality of life
Christie G, 2007, New Zealand ³⁶	61 adolescents	13-18 years	Both	The Substances and Choices Scale (SACS)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Alcohol and other drug (AOD) use	Screening and outcome measurement in AOD treatment
Cochrane G, 2008, Australia ³⁷	102 participants (students, parents, class teachers)	8-18 years	Both	The Impact of Vision Impairment on Children: IVI_C	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Low vision	Health-related quality of life
Kintner E, 2008, USA ³⁸	4 adolescents, 3 parents in face validity testing	9-15 years	Both	Participation in Life Activities Scale (PLA) for children and adolescents with asthma	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Asthma	Involvement in chosen life activities (one aspect of QOL)

Walsh TR, 2008, USA ³⁹	21 children with asthma and 21 children from the general population	8-17 years	Both	PROMIS pediatric item bank	Both	Patient- reported	Asthma and general population	Some aspects of health- related quality of life
Bourke- Taylor H, 2009 and 2010, Australia ^{40,} 41	8 mothers	5-18 years	Both	Assistance to Participate Scale (APS)	Condition- specific	Parent/proxy- reported	School-aged child with a disability	Participation in play and leisure activities
Irwin DE, 2009, USA ⁴²	77 children and adolescents	8-17 years	Both	PROMIS pediatric item bank	Both	Patient- reported	Asthma and children from general population	Some aspects of health- related quality of life and symptoms
Markham C, 2009, UK ⁴³	29 children and adolescents	6-18 years	Both	"Paediatric Speech and Language QoL" Scale (Ped SaL QoL)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Children with speech, language and communication needs	Quality of life
Shaikh N, 2009, USA ⁴⁴	18 children and 30 parents in item selection, 11 children in content validity testing	5-15 years	Both	A patient-reported outcome measure for assessing symptoms of streptococcal pharyngitis (Strep- PRO)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Streptococcal pharyngitis	Symptoms
Aparicio López C, 2010, Spain ⁴⁵	Not reported	Children over 9 and their parents	Both	TECAVNER (Test of Quality of Life in Children with kidney disease) in Spanish	Condition- specific	Both	Chronic kidney disease	Health-related quality of life

Arbuckle R, 2010, USA ⁴⁶	33 children/adoles cents and 33 parents in concept elicitation, 21 children/adoles cents and 15 parents in content validity testing	6-17 years	Both	Pediatric Restless Legs Syndrome Severity Scale (P- RLS-SS)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	RLS	Symptoms and impact of disease
Barker D, 2010, USA ⁴⁷	Not reported	Parents of children 2- 16 years	Both	Preschool Outcome Questionnaire (POQ)	Generic	Parent/proxy- reported	Preschool children	Psychological treatment impact
Liu WY, 2010, Taiwan ⁴⁸	1 parent	8-11 years	Both	A caregiver questionnaire for HRQL in children with CP (CQ- HRQL-CP)	Condition- specific	Parent/proxy- reported	СР	Health-related quality of life
Mulcahey MJ, 2010, USA ⁴⁹	33 children and 13 caregivers	7-18 years	Both	A PROM (in the form of computer adaptive testing) to evaluate activity performance and participation after spinal cord injury (SCI)	Condition- specific	Both	SCI	Performance and participation
Roodra LD, 2010, Netherland 50	44 caregivers	Caregivers of children 2-13 years	Both	Mobility Questionnaire, 47- item (MobQues47)	Condition- specific	Parent/proxy- reported	Cerebral palsy	Mobility limitation
Akram A J, 2011, UK ⁵¹	22 children	11-18 years	Both	Quality of life in patients with hypodontia	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	hypodontia	Quality of life

Angeles- Han, ST, 2011, USA ⁵²	? (Not reported) in item generation, 13 in content validity testing	8-18 years	Both	The Effects of Youngsters' Eyesight on Quality of Life (EYE-Q)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	juvenile idiopathic arthritis-associated uveitis	Vision-related quality of life
Lai JS, 2011, USA ⁵³	20 parent/child in item generation and 27 parent/child in content validity testing	Parents and children 7- 21 years	Both	Perceived cognitive function (pedsPCF) item bank	Generic	Parent/proxy- reported	Brain tumor and neurocognitive impairment	Cognitive function
Punpanich W, 2011, Thailand ⁵⁴	34 children and 35 caregivers in item generation and 10 children in content validity testing	Caregivers and children 8-16 years	Both	Thai Quality of Life for HIV-infected Children instrument (ThQLHC)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	HIV infection	Health-related quality of life
Rahi JS, 2011, UK ⁵⁵	15 children and young people in concept elicitation, 32 in item generation	10-15 years	Both	A questionnaire for assessing vision- related quality of life (QoL) of visually impaired (VI) or blind (BL) children and young people	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Visual impairment or blind	Vision-related quality of life
DeCarlo DK, 2012, USA ⁵⁶	24 children and 23 parents	6-12 years	Both	A vision-targeted health-related quality of life questionnaire designed for children ages 6-12	Condition- specific	Both	Visual impairment	Vision-related quality of life
Panepinto JA, 2012, USA ⁵⁷	13 children and 18 parents in in-depth interview, 33 children and 39	Children 5- 18 and parents of	Both	PedsQL [™] Sickle Cell Disease Module	Condition- specific	Both	Sickle cell disease	Health-related quality of life
	parent in cognitive interview	children 2- 18 years						
---	---	--	------	---	------------------------	---------------------------	---------------------------------------	--
Tsakos G, 2012, UK ⁵⁸	8 parents/guardia ns	Parents of 5- year-olds	Both	Scale of Oral Health Outcomes for 5- year-old children (SOHO-5)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	General children population	Oral health- related quality of life
Varni JW, 2012, USA ⁵⁹	46 children 5- 18 and 52 parents of children 2-18	2-18 years	Both	Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory (PedsQL) Gastrointestinal Symptoms Module	Condition- specific	Both	Gastrointestinal disorders	Health-related quality of life
Bevans KB, 2013, USA ⁶⁰	17 children and 6 parents in item generation, 39 children in content validity testing	Children 8- 17 and parents of children 5- 12 years	Both	PROMIS Pediatric Stress Response item banks	Generic	Both	General children population	Stress response
Bokhary KA, 2013, Saudi Arabia ⁶¹	30 children and their parents	5-12 years	Both	'Children's Vision for Living Scale' (CVLS) (Arabic)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Children with or without amblyopia	Vision-related quality of life
Carlton J, 2013, UK ⁶²	32 children	4-7 years	Both	Child amblyopia treatment questionnaire (CAT- Qol)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Amblyopia	Health-related quality of life
Dufresne H, 2013, France ⁶³	94 families	Families of children less than 18 years	Both	Family Burden Ichthyosis questionnaire ("FBI") (French)	Condition- specific	Parent/proxy- reported	Inherited ichthyosis	Family burden
Fabricant PD, 2013, USA ⁶⁴	40 in item generation and selection, 20 in	Children 10- 18 years	Both	Hospital for Special Surgery Pediatric	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Adolescent athletes	Activity level

	content validity testing			Functional Activity Brief Scale (HSS Pedi-FABS)				
Kerfeld CI, 2013, USA ⁶⁵	14 children	8-12 years	Both	PROMIS pediatric physical function related to mobility items for children who use wheelchairs (WCs)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	children who use wheelchairs (WCs)	Physical function
Forrest CB, 2014, USA ⁶⁶	21 children, 15 parents in concept elicitation	Children 8- 17 and parents of children 5- 17	Both	Pediatric global health (PGH) measure	Generic	Both	Children from general population	Global health
Geister TL, 2014, USA ⁶⁷	21 children and their caregivers in concept elicitation, 12 in content validity testing	Children 2- 17 years	Both	Questionnaire on Pain caused by Spasticity (QPS)	Condition- specific	Both	СР	Pain
Izaguirre MR, 2014, USA ⁶⁸	19 children and 5 parents	10-22 years	Both	A self-efficacy scale for adolescents and young adults with IBD	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	IBD	Self-efficacy
Morley TE, 2014, Canada ⁶⁹	A total of 74 children/adoles cents and parents	2-18 years	Both	Pediatric Advanced Care-Quality of Life Scale (PAC-QoL)	Condition- specific	Both	Advanced cancer	Health-related quality of life
Ng V, 2014, Multi- country ⁷⁰	146 children and/or parents	8-18 years	Both	Pediatric Liver Transplantation Quality of Life (PeLTQL) questionnaire	Condition- specific	Both	Liver transplant	Health-related quality of life

Ravens- Sieberer U, 2014, Germany and USA ⁷¹	20 children and 5 parents in item generation, 37 children in content validity testing	Children 8- 17 years and their parents	Both	Pediatric PROMIS subjective well-being (the eudaimonic component)	Generic	Both	General population	Subjective well-being (eudaimonic aspect)
Tucker CA, 2014, USA ^{72, 73}	20 children in concept elicitation and item generation, 37 children in content validity testing	Children 8- 17 years	Both	Pediatric Measures of Physical Activity, Sedentary Behavior and Strength Impact for PROMIS	Generic	Patient- reported	General population	Activity level
Costa- Tutusaus L, 2015, Spain ⁷⁴	13 in focus group (item generation), 67 in comprehensibil ity testing	Adolescents	Both	A scoring questionnaire to assess healthy lifestyles among adolescents called VISA-TEEN (Spanish)	Generic	Patient- reported	Adolescents from the general population	Healthy lifestyle
Jacobson jr. CJ, 2015, USA ⁷⁵	40 children and 26 parents in item generation, 15 children and 15 parents in content validity testing	Children 8- 17 and parents	Both	Pediatric pain behavior and pain quality item banks for the PROMIS	Generic	Both	Chronic/recurrent pain	Pain
Parslow R, 2015, 2019, and 2020, UK ^{76, 77, 78}	25 children/parent s in concept elicitation, 43 in item generation, 24	8-18 years	Both	A PROM for pediatric chronic fatigue syndrome/ myalgic encephalopathy (CFS/ME)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	CFS/ME	Health-related quality of life

	in content validity testing							
Young NL, 2015, Canada ⁷⁹	9 children and 9 caregivers	8-18 years	Both	Aboriginal Children's Health and Well-Being Measure (ACHWM)	Generic	Patient- reported	Children from general population	Health and well-being
Adams M, 2016, UK ⁸⁰	Children: 8 Parents: 8	8-24 years	Both	QoL measure for children and young adults with ALL receiving corticosteroids (the QuESt tool)	Condition- specific	Both	ALL	Quality of life
Bearss K, 2016, USA ⁸¹	48 parents of 45 children	3-17 years	Both	A parent-rated instrument of anxiety symptoms in youth with ASD	Condition- specific	Parent/proxy- reported	Autism spectrum disorder	Symptoms (anxiety)
Benson PE, 2016, UK ⁸²	13 children	10-16 years	Both	Malocclusion Impact Questionnaire (MIQ)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Malocclusion	Oral health related quality of life
Bramhagen AC, 2016, Sweden ⁸³	18 children	4-12 years	Both	Postoperative Recovery in Children (PRiC)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Post surgery recovery	Quality of postoperative recovery
Dell SD, 2016, multi- country ⁸⁴	20 patients/parents in focus group, 69 in open ended interview, 57 in survey, 47 in cognitive testing	6-17 years	Both	A health-related quality-of-life questionnaire for primary ciliary dyskinesia (QOL- PCD)	Condition- specific	Both	Primary ciliary dyskinesia	Health-related quality of life

Dellenmark -Blom M, 2016, Sweden ⁸⁵	18 children and 32 parents	Children: 8- 17 years, parents of children 2- 17 years	Both	A health-related quality-of-life questionnaire for esophageal atresia	Condition- specific	Both	Esophageal atresia	Health-related quality of life
Follansbee- Junger KW, 2016, USA ⁸⁶	10 children and 11 parents in focus group, 13 children and 17 parents in cognitive interview	4-17 years	Both	PedsQL™ Epilepsy Module	Condition- specific	Both	Epilepsy	Health-related quality of life
Keays MA, 2016, Canada and USA ⁸⁷	5 patients/care givers in open ended interview	Children older than 8 years and caregivers of boys younger than 8	Males	A PROM for hypospadias	Condition- specific	Both	Hypospadias	Assessment of treatment
Newcombe PA, 2016, Australia ⁸⁸	? (Not reported) in focus group	7-17 years	Both	Child chronic cough- specific quality of life (CC-QoL) measure	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Chronic cough	Quality of life
Olivieri I, 2016, Italy ⁸⁹	? (Not reported) in focus group	7-11 years	Both	SOLE VLBWI Questionnaire	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Very low birthweight (VLBL)	Quality of life
Vande Velde S, 2016, Belgium ⁹⁰	10 patients and their parents in comprehensibil ity testing	6-18 years	Both	Spina Bifida Pediatric Questionnaire (SBPQ)	Condition- specific	Both	Spina bifida	Health-related quality of life

Ardelt PU, 2017, Germany ⁹¹	1 patient representative, 9 in pilot testing	≥14 years	Males	Satisfaction In Genital Hypospadias Treatment (SIGHT)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Hypospadias	Psychosexual satisfaction
Bevans KB, 2017, USA ⁹²	24 children and 8 parents in concept elicitation, 43 in item generation and content validity	5-17 years	Both	The PROMIS pediatric Family Relationships measure	Generic	Both	General population	Family relationships
Elsman EB, 2017, Netherland ⁹ ³	30 in content validity testing	7-25 years and parents of children 0-17 years	Both	Participation and Activity Inventory for Children and Youth (PAI-CY) and Young Adults (PAI- YA) with a visual impairment	Condition- specific	Both	Visual impairment	Participation and activity measurement
Klingels K, 2017, multi- country ⁹⁴	? (Not reported)	\geq 7 years	Males	DMD Upper Limb PROM	Condition- specific	Both	Duchenne muscular dystrophy	Activities of daily living (ADL)
Longmire NM, 2017, Multi- country ⁹⁵ Tassi A, 2021, Canada ⁹⁶	84 patients in concept elicitation and 15 in content validity testing	8-29 years	Both	FACE-Q Craniofacial Module for children and young adults	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Facial conditions including ear anomalies, facial paralysis, skeletal conditions, and soft tissue conditions	Appearance and facial function
Oluboyede Y, 2017, UK ⁹⁷	31 adolescents	11-18 years	Both	Weight-specific Adolescent Instrument for Economic-evaluation (WAItE)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Obesity	Weight management

Reeve BB, 2017, USA ^{98, 99}	132 children in total and 114 parents/proxies	Children 7- 20 and parent/proxi es	Both	Pediatric Patient- Reported Outcomes version of the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (PRO-CTCAE)	Condition- specific	Both	Symptomatic adverse event in cancer patients	Adverse events
Samuels- Kalow ME, 2017, USA ¹⁰⁰	37 parents	Parents of 2– 11-year-olds and adults	Both	A PROM for asthma patients discharged from emergency department (ED)	Condition- specific	Parent/proxy reported	Post-ED asthma	Post-ED care
Skjerning H, 2017, Denmark and Ireland ¹⁰¹	26 in focus group (item generation), 76 in cognitive interview (comprehensibi lity)	Children and parents of children 0- 18 years and adults	Both	Coeliac Disease Quality of Life questionnaire (CDQL)	Condition- specific	Both	Coeliac Disease	Health-related quality of life
Somer R, 2017, Germany ¹⁰² Bloemeke J, 2019, Germany and Spain ¹⁰³	 34 patients and 21 parents in item generation (focus group) 14 patients and 28 parents in content validity testing 	Children and adolescents/ young adults 8-28 years and parents of children 5-14 years	Both	Achondroplasia Personal Life Experience Scale (APLES)	Condition- specific	Both	Achondroplasia	Health-related quality of life
Sperling CD, 2017, Denmark ¹⁰⁴	21 in youth panel and 11 in content validity testing	Adolescents and young adults (15- 29)	Both	A questionnaire to evaluate AYAs' perspectives of cancer treatment and survivorship	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Cancer	Perspectives about cancer treatment and survivorship

Tapia VJ, 2017, USA ¹⁰⁵	47 patients, 80 parents	Patients 7-18 and parents of patient 0- 18 years or older	Both	Quality of Life Outcomes Measure for Pediatric Patients With Craniofacial Conditions (bilingual-English and Spanish)	Condition- specific	Both	Diverse craniofacial conditions	Health-related quality of life
Wong Riff KW, 2017 and 2018, multi- country ^{106,} ¹⁰⁷	136 patients	6-22 years	Both	A cross-cultural patient-reported outcome instrument for children and young adults with cleft lip and/or palate (CLEFT-Q)	Condition- specific	Both	Cleft lip and/or palate	Treatment outcomes regarding physical, psychological, and social health
Wright WJ, 2017, USA ¹⁰⁸	22 in item generation, 40 in face and content validity	Children 13- 18 years	Both	Teen Oral Health- Related Quality of Life instrument (TOQOL)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Children from general population	Oral health related quality of life
Basra MKA, 2018, UK ¹⁰⁹	50 adolescents in item generation, 20 in content validity testing	12-19 years	Both	Teenagers' Quality of Life (T-QOL)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Skin disease	Dermatology- related quality of life
Fiume A, 2018, Canada ¹¹⁰	Parents of 44 children and 6 adolescents in item generation, 10 parents in content validity testing	Children 2- 18 years	Both	Pediatric Stroke Quality of Life Measure (PSQLM)	Condition- specific	Both	Pediatric stroke	Health-related quality of life
Heyworth B, 2018, USA ¹¹¹	40 in item generation, 10 in content validity testing	Children 10- 18 years	Both	Pediatric and Adolescent Shoulder and Elbow Survey (Pedi-ASES)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Shoulder and elbow disorders	Physical function

Lewis S, 2018, USA ¹¹²	39 caregivers	≤2 years	Both	An observer-reported outcome measure to assess observable RSV symptoms	Condition- specific	Parent/proxy reported	Respiratory syncytial virus infection	Symptoms
McErlane F, 2018, UK ¹¹³ Lunt LE, 2020, UK ¹¹⁴	14 in scientific steering committee, 10 in face and content validity testing	Parents and children older than 1 year	Both	CAPTURE-JIA PROM and PREM	Condition- specific	Both	Juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA)	Aspects of healrh-related quality of life
Niemitz M, 2018, Germany ¹¹⁵	? (not reported) in focus group for item generation	Children 8- 18 and parents of children 0- 18 years	Both	A health-related quality of life questionnaire for pediatric patients with interstitial lung disease (chILD- QOL)	Condition- specific	Both	Interstitial lung disease	Health-related quality of life
Santucci NR, 2018, USA ¹¹⁶	10 children and their parents	Parents and children 8- 16 years	Both	Self-efficacy for functional constipation questionnaire (SEFCQ)	Condition- specific	Both	Functional constipation	Self-efficacy
Bevans KB, 2019, USA ¹¹⁷	64 children, and 54 parents	children 8– 17 years, and parents of children 5–17 years	Both	PROMIS pediatric sleep health items	Generic	Both	Not specified (general)	Sleep health
Chhina H, 2019 and 2021, multi- country ^{118,} ¹¹⁹	39 children and 40 parents in concept elicitation	Children 8- 18 years and their parents	Both	A PROM for children and adolescents with lower limb deformities (LIMB- Q kids)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Lower limb deformities	Health-related quality of life

Halleran DR, 2019, USA ¹²⁰	36 families in item generation and 20 in face validity	Families of children 3- 18 years	Both	Patient-Reported Experience and utcome Measure in a Bowel Management Program (PREOM- BMP),	Condition- specific	Parent/proxy reported	Constipation and fecal incontinence undergoing bowel management	Impact of treatment
2019, UK ¹²¹	focus group, 57 in interview	children	Бош	children with recurrent wheeze	specific	reported	Recurrent wheeze	episode and management on family
Hoffman MF, 2019, USA ¹²²	21 child/parents in open ended interview (item generation), 20 in cognitive interview (content validity testing)	Children 6- 12 years and their parents	Both	Health-Related Quality of Life Instruments for Children with Cochlear Implants (CI-QOL)	Condition- specific	Both	Cochlear implant	Health-related quality of life
Jaudszus A, 2019, Germany ¹²³	Not reported	Older than 6 years	Both	Multimodal Questionnaire for the Assessment of Abdominal Symptoms in People with Cystic Fibrosis (CFAbd-Score)	Condition- specific	Both	Abdominal symptoms in cystic fibrosis	Symptom
Klassen AF, 2019, Canada and USA ¹²⁴	21 in concept elicitation, 10 in scale refinement	Older than 12 years	Both	A PROM for acne and acne scarring (ACNE-Q)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Acne and acne scarring	Appearance, symptoms, and related psychological concerns
Nelson LM, 2019, USA ¹²⁵	8 children/adoles cents	10-17 years	Both	Axillary Sweating Daily Diary (ASDD)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Axillary hyperhidrosis	Symptom severity

Newton L, 2019, USA ¹²⁶	24 adolescents	12-17 years	Both	Tools for itch and skin pain in atopic dermatitis	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Atopic dermatitis	Symptom severity and its impact on health-related quality of life
Piscione J, 2019, Canada ¹²⁷	17 children/adoles cents	7-18 years	Both	The Pediatric Toronto Extremity Salvage Score (pTESS) [arm and leg questionnaire]	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Extremity tumors	Physical function
Propp R, 2019, Canada ¹²⁸	19 children and 20 parents	Children 5- 18 years and their caregivers	Males	Caregiver Priorities and Child Health Index of Life with Disabilities (CPCHILD)	Condition- specific	Both	Duchenne muscular dystrophy	Health-related priorities
Sarda SP, 2019, USA ¹²⁹	4 children/adoles cents, 10 parent/caregive rs, 4 child/parent dyads	Children older than 8 years and parents/care givers of children 1- 10 years	Both	Instruments to assess symptoms of ocular discomfort associated with viral or bacterial conjunctivitis	Condition- specific	Both	Viral or bacterial conjunctivitis	Symptoms
Tingsgaard JK, 2019, Denmark ¹³⁰	9 parents/caregiv ers	Parents/care givers of children less than 12 years	Both	Danish National Tympanostomy Tube Insertion Questionnaires (DANTIQ)	Condition- specific	Parent/proxy reported	Otitis media undergoing tube insertion	Symptoms and adherence to treatment
Tsangaris E, 2019, Canada ¹³¹	45 adolescents and young adults	15-39 years	Both	Cancer Distress Scales for AYA (CDS-AYA)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Cancer	Distress

Bevans KB, 2020, USA ¹³²	27 children/adoles cents and 21 parents	Children 8- 17 and parents of children 5- 17 years	Both	PROMs of oral health aesthetics	Condition- specific	Both	Oral appearance	Oral health aesthetics
De Zwaan M, 2020, Germany ¹³³	29 patients and 22 parents	Patients 8-18 years and parents	Both	Instrument assessing Barriers to Growth Hormone Treatment (BAR-GHT)	Condition- specific	Both	Growth hormone deficiency	Treatment barriers and problems
Halstead P, 2020, USA ¹³⁴	39 children and 10 parents	Children 6- 11 years	Both	A PROM to self- assess symptoms of the common cold	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Common cold	Symptoms
Martin SA, 2020, USA ¹³⁵	17 adolescents in item generation and 9 in content validity testing	Adolescents 12-18 years	Both	The atopic dermatitis itch scale (ADIS)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Pruritis in atopic dermatitis	Symptoms
McCarrier KP, 2020, USA ¹³⁶	22 children/adoles cents and their parents	Children/ado lescents 6- 18, parents, and adults	Both	Cystic Fibrosis Impact Questionnaire (CF- IQ)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Cystic fibrosis	Quality of life
Robertson AO, 2020, UK ¹³⁷	29 in item generation, 28 in content validity testing	Children 8- 12 and young people aged 13-18 years	Both	A PROM of functional vision for children and young people (FVQ-C, FVQ-Y)	Condition- specific	Both	Visual impairment	Functional vision
Wyrwich KW, 2020, USA ¹³⁸	5	15-17 years	Both	The Scalp Hair Assessment PRO TM	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	alopecia areata	Symptom
Zigler CK, 2020, USA ¹³⁹	? (not reported) in concept elicitation, 17 in content validity tetsing	8-18 and their caregivers	Both	Localized Seleroderma Quality of Life Instrument	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Localized Scleroderma	Health-related quality of life

Cejas I, 2021, USA ¹⁴⁰	43 parents and 36 adolescents/yo ung adults	Children ages birth through 22 years	Both	QoL-cochlear implant (CI) for early childhood (0-5 years) and adolescents (13-22 years)	Condition- specific	Both	Cochlear implant	Quality of life
Dermott JA, 2021, Canada ¹⁴¹	25 children/adoles cents and 20 parents	9-18 years and parents	Both	Gait outcome Assessment List (GOAL) questionnaire	Condition- specific	Both	Lower limb differences	Health-related quality of life
Griffiths C, 2021, UK ¹⁴²	12 parents in concept elicitation, 18 in content validity testing	Parents of children aged 8 years and less	Both	CARe burn scale: Child form	Condition- specific	Parent/proxy reported	Burn injury	Quality of life
Gwaltney C, 2021, USA ¹⁴³	18 children/adoles cents and caregivers in concept elicitation, 12 in content validity testing	Children/ado lescents <16 years and adults	Both	Barth Syndrome Symptom Assessment (BTHS- SA)	Condition- specific	Both	Barth Syndrome	Symptoms
Hall R, 2021, USA ¹⁴⁴	20 adolescents	Adolescents older than 12 years and adults	Both	Pruritis and Symptoms Assessment for Atopic Dermatitis (PSAAD)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Atopic dermatitis	Symptoms
Meltzer LJ, 2021, USA ¹⁴⁵	28 children/adoles cents in concept elicitation, 32	Youth 8–17 years	Both	Pediatric Sleep Practices Questionnaire (PSPQ).	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Sleep practices	Sleep health

	in content validity testing							
Pandina G, 2021, USA ¹⁴⁶	50 caregivers	Caregivers of patients of 2-40 years of age	Both	Autism Behavior Inventory (ABI)	Condition- specific	Parent/proxy reported	Autism spectrum disorder (ASD)	Symptoms
Powell PA, 2021, UK ¹⁴⁷	18 patients in item generation, 8 in item selection and 10 parents	Children older than 7 years and parents	Male	Quality of Life Measure for Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (DMD- QoL)	Condition- specific	Both	Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy	Quality of life
Ramchandr en S, 2021, Multi- country ¹⁴⁸	31 in focus group	4-17 years	Both	CMT-specific QOL outcome measure (pCMT-QOL)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Charcot–Marie– Tooth disease	Health-related quality of life
Schwartz AE, 2021, USA ¹⁴⁹	8 youth co- researchers 62 in focus group	14-21 years	Both	Pediatric Evaluation of Disability Inventory-Patient Reported Outcome (PEDI-PRO)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Intellectual/develo pmental disabilities	Functional performance in daily activities, social/cogniti ve, and mobility
Winnette R, 2021, USA ¹⁵⁰	7 adolescents	12-17 years	Both	Alopecia Areata Patient Priority Outcomes Instrument (AAPPO)	Condition- specific	Patient- reported	Alopecia areata	Priority treatment outcomes
Zizzi CE, 2021, USA ¹⁵¹	5 patients and their caregivers	Children/ado lescents 8-15 years and their caregivers, and adults	Both	The Spinal Muscular Atrophy Health Index (SMA-HI)	Condition- specific	Both	Spinal Muscular Atrophy	Disease burden

*Each row represents a PROM which its development process may have been reported in more than one study.

ALL: Acute lymphoblastic leukemia, AOD: Alcohol and other drug use, CFS/ME: Chronic fatigue syndrome/ myalgic encephalopathy, CMT: Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease, CP: Cerebral palsy, ED: Emergency department, HIV: Human immunodeficiency virus, HRQL: Health-related quality of life, IBD: Inflammatory bowel disease, ITP: Idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura, PROM: Patient-reported outcome measure, PROMIS: Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System, QOL: quality of life, RLS: Restless leg syndrome, SCI: Spinal cord injury, SLE: Systemic lupus erythematosus

Author Publication year Country	Method of involvement (survey, interview, focus group, etc.)	Stage of involvement (concept elicitation, item generation, comprehensibility testing, validity testing, etc.)	Level of involvement (consult, involve, collaborate, patient-led)
Juniper EF, 1994,	Interview and	Item generation and	Consult
Canada ²¹	survey	selection	
Juniper EF, 1996,	Survey	Item generation and	Consult
Canada ²²		selection, content	
		validity testing	
Armstrong FD,	Interview	Item generation and	Consult
1999, USA ²³		selection	
Ravens-Sieberer U,	Focus group	Content validity	Consult
2001, Multisite		testing	
Europe ²⁴			
Bullinger M, 2002,	Survey, cognitive	Content validity	Consult
Multisite Europe ²⁵	debriefing	testing	
Jokovic A, 2002,	In-depth interview	Item generation and	Consult
Canada ²⁶		selection, content	
		validity testing	
Barnard D, 2003,	Interview	Item generation and	Consult
Canada ²⁷		selection	
Ronen GM, 2003,	Focus group in item	Item generation	Consult
Canada ²⁸	generation		
Moorthy LN, 2004	Interview (single	Domain	Consult
and 2007, USA ^{29, 30}	open-ended	identification and	
	question)	item generation	
Petersen C, 2005,	Focus group and	Item generation and	Consult
Multisite Europe ³¹	interview, Cognitive	content validity	
	debriefing	testing	
Waters E, 2005 and	Qualitative	Item generation	Consult
2007, Australia ^{32, 33}	interview		
Adair CE, 2007,	Semi-structured in-	Item generation and	Consult
Canada ³⁴	depth interviews,	selection, content	
		validity testing	

	narratives, focus		
	group		
Buck D, 2007, UK ³⁵	Cognitive in-depth	Item selection and	Consult
	interview	content validity	
		testing	
Christie G, 2007,	Interview and	Item selection and	Consult
New Zealand ³⁶	focus-group	content validity	
		testing	
Cochrane G, 2008,	Focus group, In-	Domain	Consult
Australia ³⁷	depth interview	identification	
Kintner E, 2008,	Qualitative	Domain	Consult
USA ³⁸	interview	identification, item	
		generation and face	
		validity testing	
Walsh TR, 2008,	Focus group	Item generation	Consult
USA ³⁹			
Bourke-Taylor H,	In-depth interview	Item generation	Consult
2009 and 2010,			
Australia ^{40,41}			
Irwin DE, 2009,	Cognitive interview	Content validity	Consult
USA ⁴²		(comprehensibility)	
Markham C, 2009,	Modified focus	Concept elicitation	Consult
UK ⁴³	group		
Shaikh N, 2009,	In-depth interview,	Item selection,	Consult
USA ⁴⁴	survey	content validity	
		testing	
Aparicio López C,	Survey	Content validity	Consult
2010, Spain ⁴⁵		testing	
Arbuckle R, 2010,	Open ended	Concept elicitation,	Consult
USA ⁴⁶	qualitative interview	item generation,	
	and cognitive	content validity	
	debriefing interview	testing	
Barker D, 2010,	Focus group	Item generation	Consult
USA ⁴⁷			
Liu WY, 2010,	Survey	Face validity testing	Consult
Taiwan ⁴⁸			

Mulcahey MJ,	Cognitive testing	Item generation	Consult
2010, USA ⁴⁹	interview		
Roodra LD, 2010,	Interview	Content validity	Consult
Netherland 50		testing	
Akram A J, 2011,	Focus group, survey	Item generation,	Consult
UK ⁵¹		ease of	
		administration, face,	
		and content validity	
		testing	
Angeles-Han, ST,	Interview,	Item generation,	Consult
2011, USA ⁵²	questionnaire	Face, and content	
		validity	
Lai JS, 2011, USA ⁵³	Interview, cognitive	Item generation,	Consult
	interview	content validity	
		testing	
Punpanich W, 2011,	In-depth structured	Item generation,	Consult
Thailand ⁵⁴	interview, cognitive	content validity	
	interview	testing	
Rahi JS, 2011, UK ⁵⁵	Focus group, in-	Concept elicitation,	Consult
	depth interview	Item generation	
DeCarlo DK, 2012,	Focus group	Domain	Consult
USA ⁵⁶		identification and	
		item generation	
Panepinto JA, 2012,	In-depth interview,	Domain	Consult
USA ⁵⁷	cognitive interview	identification and	
	(cognitive	item generation,	
	debriefing and think	content validity	
	aloud)	testing	
Tsakos G, 2012,	Focus group	Item selection and	Consult
UK ⁵⁸		content validity	
		testing	
Varni JW, 2012,	Focus and cognitive	Item generation and	Consult
USA ⁵⁹	interview	content validity	
		testing	

Bevans KB, 2013,	Semi-structured	Conceptual	Consult
USA ⁶⁰	interview and	framework, item	
	cognitive interview	generation and	
		content validity	
		testing	
Bokhary KA, 2013,	Individual interview	Item generation and	Consult
Saudi Arabia ⁶¹		content validity	
		testing	
Carlton J, 2013,	Semi-structured	Item generation,	Consult
UK ⁶²	interview, cognitive	content validity	
	debriefing interview	testing	
Dufresne H, 2013,	One-to-one	Item generation and	Consult
France ⁶³	sessions, cognitive	content validity	
	debriefing interview	testing	
Fabricant PD, 2013,	Survey	Item generation and	Consult
USA ⁶⁴		selection, content	
		validity testing	
Kerfeld CI, 2013,	Cognitive interview	Content validity	Consult
USA ⁶⁵		testing	
Forrest CB, 2014,	Cognitive	Concept elicitation,	Consult
USA ⁶⁶	debriefing interview	content validity	
		testing	
Geister TL, 2014,	Semi-structured and	Concept elicitation,	Consult
USA ⁶⁷	cognitive interview	content validity	
		testing	
Izaguirre MR, 2014,	Semi-structured and	Concept elicitation	Consult
USA ⁶⁸	cognitive interview	and content validity	
		testing	
Morley TE, 2014,	Cognitive probing	Comprehensibility	Consult
Canada ⁶⁹	interview	testing	
Ng V, 2014, Multi-	Semi-structured	Item generation	Consult
country ⁷⁰	interview and focus		
	group		
Ravens-Sieberer U,	Semi-structured	Item generation,	Consult
2014, Germany and	interview and	content validity	
USA ⁷¹	cognitive interview	testing	

Tucker CA, 2014,	Semi-structured	Concept elicitation	Consult
USA ^{72, 73}	interview and	and item generation,	
	cognitive interview	content validity	
		testing	
Costa-Tutusaus L,	Focus group	Item generation	Consult
2015, Spain ⁷⁴			
Jacobson jr. CJ,	Semi-structured	Concept elicitation,	Consult
2015, USA ⁷⁵	interview, focus	item generation,	
	group, cognitive	content validity	
	debriefing	testing	
Parslow R, 2015,	Cognitive interview,	Concept elicitation	Consult
2019, and 2020,	focus group	and item generation,	
OK 1		content validity	
		testing	
Young NL, 2015,	Cognitive interview	Face validity and	Consult
Canada ⁷⁹	and community	interpretability	
	consultation		
Adams M, 2016,	Focus group,	Item generation,	Consult
UK ⁸⁰	cognitive	Face validity testing	
	interviewing		
Bearss K, 2016,	Focus group	Item generation	Consult
USA ⁸¹			
Benson PE, 2016,	Interview	Content validity and	Consult
UK ⁸²		item reduction	
Bramhagen AC,	Not reported	Content validity and	Consult
2016, Sweden ⁸³		comprehensibility	
		testing	
Dell SD, 2016,	Focus group, open	Item generation,	Consult
multi-country ⁸⁴	ended interview,	content validity	
	survey, cognitive	testing	
	interview		
Dellenmark-Blom	Focus group	Item generation	Consult
M, 2016, Sweden ⁸⁵			
Follansbee-Junger	Focus group,	Item generation,	Consult
KW, 2016, USA ⁸⁶	cognitive debriefing	content validity	
	interview	testing	

Keays MA, 2016,	Open ended	Item generation,	Consult
Canada and USA ⁸⁷	interview, survey	face validity	
Newcombe PA,	Focus group	Item generation and	Consult
2016, Australia ⁸⁸		selection	
Olivieri I, 2016,	Focus group	Item generation	Consult
Italy ⁸⁹			
Vande Velde S,	Interview	Item generation and	Consult
2016, Belgium ⁹⁰		comprehensibility	
		testing	
Ardelt PU, 2017,	Open session,	Item generation and	Involve and consult
Germany ⁹¹	survey	pilot testing	
Bevans KB, 2017,	Semi-structured	Concept elicitation,	Consult
USA ⁹²	interview, cognitive	item generation and	
	interview	content validity	
		testing	
Elsman EB, 2017,	Survey, focus	Concept elicitation,	Consult
Netherland ⁹³	group, semi-	item generation,	
	structured	face, and content	
	interview, concept	validity testing	
	mapping workshop		
Klingels K, 2017,	Focus group	Concept elicitation,	Involve
multi-country94		item generation and	
		selection, relevance	
		and content validity	
		testing,	
		interpretation of	
		findings	
Longmire NM,	Semi-structured	Concept elicitation,	Consult
2017, Multi-	interview, cognitive	content validity	
T: A 2021	interview	testing	
1 assi A, 2021,			
		L	C t
Oluboyede Y, 2017, UW^{97}	One-to-one and	Item generation,	Consult
UK''	iocus groups	content validity	
	interviews	testing	

Reeve BB, 2017,	Cognitive interview	Refinement and	Consult
USA ^{98, 99}		content validity	
		testing	
Samuels-Kalow	Free-listing, semi-	Concept elicitation,	Consult
ME, 2017, USA ¹⁰⁰	structured	item generation	
	interview, cognitive		
	interview		
Skjerning H, 2017,	Focus group,	Item generation,	Consult
Denmark and	Cognitive interview	comprehensibility,	
Ireland ¹⁰¹		and content validity	
		testing	
Somer R, 2017,	Focus group,	Concept elicitation	Consult
Germany ¹⁰²	cognitive debriefing	and item generation,	
		content validity	
Bloemeke J, 2019,		testing	
Germany and			
Spain ¹⁰³			
Sperling CD, 2017,	Qualitative	Theme	Involve and consult
Denmark ¹⁰⁴	interview youth	identification, item	
	panel meetings,	generation, content	
	cognitive interview	validity testing	
Tapia VJ, 2017,	In-depth interview	Theme	Consult
USA ¹⁰⁵		identification, item	
		generation, content	
		validity testing	
Wong Riff KW,	In-depth interview	Concept elicitation,	Consult
2017 and 2018,	(interpretive	item generation	
multi-country ^{106, 107}	description)		
Wright WJ, 2017,	Focus group, one-	Item generation,	Consult
USA ¹⁰⁸	on-one interview	face and content	
		validity	
Basra MKA, 2018,	Semi structured	Concept elicitation	Consult
UK ¹⁰⁹	interview, cognitive	and Item generation,	
1		content validity	
	debriefing	content valuaty	
	debriefing	testing	
Fiume A, 2018,	debriefing In-depth semi-	testing Concept elicitation	Consult

		content validity	
		testing	
Heyworth B, 2018,	Cognitive interview,	Item generation,	Consult
USA ¹¹¹	survey	content validity	
		testing	
Lewis S, 2018,	In-depth individual	Concept elicitation	Consult
USA ¹¹²	interview and	and item generation	
	cognitive debriefing	and selection,	
		content validity	
		testing	
McErlane F, 2018,	Scientific steering	Concept elicitation,	Collaborate and
UK ¹¹³	committee	item generation and	consult
Lunt LE, 2020,	workshops, survey,	selection, face and	
UK ¹¹⁴	cognitive interview	content validity	
		testing	
Niemitz M, 2018,	Focus group	Item generation	Consult
Germany ¹¹⁵			
Santucci NR, 2018,	Interview	Face and content	Consult
USA ¹¹⁶		validity	
Bevans KB, 2019,	Semi-structured	Concept elicitation	Consult
USA ¹¹⁷	interview, cognitive	and item generation,	
	interview	content validity	
		testing	
Chhina H, 2019 and	Semi-structured	Concept elicitation,	Consult
2021, multi-	interview, cognitive	item generation and	
country ^{118, 119}	debriefing	selection	
Halleran DR, 2019,	Open ended	Item generation,	Consult
USA ¹²⁰	questions via email	face validity	
	or in person		
	interview, cognitive		
	interview		
Heidi M, 2019,	Focus group, semi-	Theme	Consult
UK ¹²¹	structured interview	identification and	
		item generation	
Hoffman MF, 2019,	Open ended	Item generation,	Consult
USA ¹²²	questions interview	content validity	
		testing	

	and cognitive		
	interview		
Jaudszus A, 2019,	In-depth cognitive	Concept elicitation	Consult
Germany ¹²³	interview		
Klassen AF, 2019,	Individual and	Concept elicitation,	Consult
Canada and USA ¹²⁴	cognitive interview	item generation and	
		selection	
Nelson LM, 2019,	Semi-structured	Concept elicitation,	Consult
USA ¹²⁵	interview and	content validity	
	cognitive debriefing	testing	
Newton L, 2019,	In-person interview	Concept elicitation,	Consult
USA ¹²⁶	and cognitive	content validity	
	debriefing	testing	
Piscione J, 2019,	Cognitive interview	Item selection and	Consult
Canada ¹²⁷		content validity	
		testing	
Propp R, 2019,	Semi-structured	Item selection and	Consult
Canada ¹²⁸	interview	content validity	
		testing	
Sarda SP, 2019,	Open ended	Concept elicitation,	Consult
USA ¹²⁹	questions and	item selection and	
	cognitive interview	content validity	
		testing	
Tingsgaard JK,	Semi-structured	Face and content	Consult
2019, Denmark ¹³⁰	single-person	validity testing	
	interview		
Tsangaris E, 2019,	Cognitive interview	Content validity	Consult
Canada ¹³¹		testing	
Bevans KB, 2020,	Semi-structured	Item generation and	Consult
USA ¹³²	interview and	content validity	
	cognitive interview	testing	
De Zwaan M, 2020,	Open-ended	Concept elicitation	Consult
Germany ¹³³	questions and	and item generation,	
	cognitive debriefing	content validity	
		testing	
Halstead P, 2020,	Open-ended	Concept elicitation,	Consult
USA ¹³⁴	qualitative questions	item generation and	

	and tasks and	content validity	
	cognitive debriefing	testing	
Martin SA, 2020,	Focus group,	Concept elicitation	Consult
USA ¹³⁵	cognitive debriefing	and item generation,	
		content validity	
		testing	
McCarrier KP,	Semi-structured	Concept elicitation	Consult
2020, USA ¹³⁶	interview and	and item generation,	
	cognitive interview	content validity	
		testing	
Robertson AO,	Semi-structured in-	Item generation and	Consult
2020, UK ¹³⁷	depth interview,	selection, content	
	cognitive interview	validity testing	
Wyrwich KW,	Cognitive	Content validity	Consult
2020, USA ¹³⁸	debriefing interview	testing	
Zigler CK, 2020,	Focus group,	Concept elicitation	Consult
USA ¹³⁹	survey, cognitive	and item generation,	
	interview	content validity	
		testing	
Cejas I, 2021,	Open-ended	Item generation and	Consult
USA ¹⁴⁰	interview, cognitive	selection, content	
	interview	validity testing	
Dermott JA, 2021,	Cognitive interview	Item selection and	Consult
Canada ¹⁴¹		content validity	
		testing	
Griffiths C, 2021,	Semi-structured	Conceptual	Consult
UK ¹⁴²	interview and	framework, item	
	cognitive interview	generation, and	
		content validity	
		testing	
Gwaltney C, 2021,	Semi-structured	Concept elicitation,	Consult
USA ¹⁴³	interview, cognitive	item generation and	
	debriefing	selection, content	
		validity testing	
Hall R, 2021,	Semi-structured	Concept elicitation	Consult
USA ¹⁴⁴	(open ended	and item generation,	
	questions) interview		

	and cognitive	content validity	
	debriefing	testing	
Meltzer LJ, 2021,	Face to face	Concept elicitation,	Consult
USA ¹⁴⁵	interview and	content validity	
	cognitive interview	testing	
Pandina G, 2021,	Cognitive interview	Content validity	Consult
USA ¹⁴⁶		testing	
Powell PA, 2021,	Advisory group	Item generation,	Involve and consult
UK ¹⁴⁷	meetings, Semi-	item selection	
	structured		
	interview, cognitive		
	debriefing		
Ramchandren S,	Focus group	Content and face	Consult
2021, Multi-		validity	
country ¹⁴⁸			
Schwartz AE, 2021,	Team meetings,	Content validity of	Collaborate and
USA ¹⁴⁹	focus group	response scales	consult
Winnette R, 2021,	Cognitive	Content validity	Consult
USA ¹⁵⁰	debriefing	testing	
Zizzi CE, 2021,	Semi-structured	Content validity	Consult
USA ¹⁵¹	qualitative interview	testing	

*Each row represents a PROM which its development process may have been reported in more than one study.

PROMs: Patient-reported outcome measure

	Table	2.3	3 Oualit	v of PPI	reporting	assessment	using	GRIPP2-	SF checklist	*
--	-------	-----	----------	----------	-----------	------------	-------	----------------	--------------	---

the aim of PPI in the study	Provide a clear description of the methods used for PPI in the Study	Results— Outcomes: Report the results of PPI in the study, including both positive and negative outcomes	Conclusions— Outcomes: Comment on the extent to which PPI influenced the study overall; Describe positive and negative effects	Perspective— Comment critically on the study, reflecting on the things that went well and those that did not so others can learn from this experience
~	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
1	the aim of PPI in the study	the Provide a aim of PPI in clear the description of the methods used for PPI in the Study	the Provide a Results— aim of PPI in clear Outcomes: the description of the methods results of PPI in the study, PPI in the Study PPI in the study positive and negative outcomes	the aim of PPI in the clear description of the methods used for PPI in the Study overall; Describe outcomes positive and negative effects PPI in the study overall; Describe positive and negative effects PPI in the study overall; Describe positive and negative effects PPI in the study overall; Describe positive and negative effects PPI in the study overall; Describe positive and negative effects PPI in the study overall; Describe positive and negative effects PPI in the study positive and negative effect PPI in the study positive and positive and negative effect PPI in the study positive and pos

Juniper EF,		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
1996, Canada ²²					
Armstrong FD,	✓	✓	\checkmark	✓	
1999, USA ²³					
Ravens-Sieberer	✓	✓			
U, 2001,					
Multisite					
Europe ²⁴					
Bullinger M,	✓	✓	✓		
2002, Multisite					
Europe ²⁵					
Jokovic A,	✓	✓	✓	✓	
2002, Canada ²⁶					
Barnard D,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
2003, Canada ²⁷					
Ronen GM,	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
2003, Canada ²⁸					
Moorthy LN,	✓	✓	✓	✓	
2004 and 2007,					
USA ^{29, 30}					
Petersen C,	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
2005, Multisite					
Europe ³¹					
Waters E, 2005	✓	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓
and 2007,					
Australia ^{32, 33}					
Adair CE, 2007,	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark		
Canada ³⁴					
Buck D, 2007,	√	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
UK ³⁵					
Christie G,	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
2007, New					
Zealand ³⁶					
Cochrane G,	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
2008,					
Australia ³⁷					

Kintner E, 2008,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
USA ³⁸					
Walsh TR,	✓	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	✓
2008, USA ³⁹					
Bourke-Taylor	✓	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	
H, 2009 and 2010					
A = 1 = 40 41					
Irwin DE, 2009,	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	✓
USA ⁴²					
Markham C,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓
2009, UK ⁴³					
Shaikh N, 2009,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
USA ⁴⁴					
Aparicio López	\checkmark	\checkmark			
C, 2010, Spain ⁴⁵					
Arbuckle R,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
2010, USA ⁴⁶					
Barker D, 2010,		\checkmark			
USA ⁴⁷					
Liu WY, 2010,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
Taiwan ⁴⁸					
Mulcahey MJ,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓
2010, USA ⁴⁹					
Roodra LD,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
2010, Netherland					
50					
Akram A J,	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓
2011, UK ⁵¹					
Angeles-Han,	✓	\checkmark	√		
ST, 2011,					
USA ⁵²					
Lai JS, 2011,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
USA ⁵³					
Punpanich W,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
2011, Thailand ⁵⁴					

Rahi JS, 2011,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
UK ⁵⁵					
DeCarlo DK,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
2012, USA ⁵⁶					
Panepinto JA,	✓	✓	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark
2012, USA ⁵⁷					
Tsakos G, 2012,	✓	✓	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark
UK ⁵⁸					
Varni JW, 2012,	✓	✓	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark
USA ⁵⁹					
Bevans KB,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
2013, USA ⁶⁰					
Bokhary KA,		\checkmark	\checkmark		
2013, Saudi					
Arabia ⁶¹					
Carlton J, 2013,	\checkmark	✓	✓	√	\checkmark
UK ⁶²					
Dufresne H,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
2013, France ⁶³					
Fabricant PD,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
2013, USA ⁶⁴					
Kerfeld CI,	\checkmark	✓	✓	√	\checkmark
2013, USA ⁶⁵					
Forrest CB,	\checkmark	√	✓		
2014, USA ⁶⁶					
Geister TL,	✓	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark
2014, USA ⁶⁷					
Izaguirre MR,	✓	✓	✓		
2014, USA ⁶⁸					
Morley TE,	✓	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	✓
2014, Canada ⁶⁹					
Ng V, 2014,	✓	✓	✓		
Multi-country ⁷⁰					
Ravens-Sieberer	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
U, 2014,					
Germany and					
USA ⁷¹					

Tucker CA,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
2014, USA ^{72, 73}					
Costa-Tutusaus	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	
L, 2015, Spain ⁷⁴					
Jacobson jr. CJ,	✓	✓	✓	\checkmark	✓
2015, USA ⁷⁵					
Parslow R,	✓	✓	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark
2015, 2019, and 2020 UK ^{76, 77, 78}					
2020, 01					
Voung NI					
2015 Canada^{79}	v	v	v	v	v
A dame M					
2016 UK^{80}	v	v	v	v	v
2010, UK Baarss K 2016					
$\frac{115 \Lambda^{81}}{115 \Lambda^{81}}$	v	v	v	v	
Banson PE					
2016 UV^{82}	v	v	v	v	
Drambagan AC					
2016 Sweden ⁸³	¥	×	v	v	
Doll SD 2016					
Dell SD, 2010, multi countru ⁸⁴	¥	×	v	v	v
Dellenment					
Denenmark-	v	×	v		v
Sweden ⁸⁵					
Fallanshaa					
Folialisoee-	¥	×	v	v	v
2016 USA^{86}					
Keys MA					
2016 Canada	v	v	v	v	v
and US Λ^{87}					
Newcombe PA					
2016	v	v	v	v	
Australia ⁸⁸					
Olivieri I 2016					
$[1 \text{ taly}^{89}]$		`	•		
itary					

Vande Velde S,		\checkmark	\checkmark		
2016, Belgium ⁹⁰					
Ardelt PU,	✓	✓	✓		
2017,					
Germany ⁹¹					
Bevans KB,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
2017, USA ⁹²					
Elsman EB,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
2017,					
Netherland ⁹³					
Klingels K,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
2017, multi-					
country ⁹⁴					
Longmire NM,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
2017, Multi-					
Canada ⁹⁶					
Oluboyede Y,	\checkmark	✓	✓		\checkmark
Reeve BB,	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓
2017, USA ^{98, 99}					
Samuels-Kalow	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	
ME, 2017,					
USA^{100}					
Skjerning H,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
2017, Denmark					
and Ireland ¹⁰¹					
Somer R, 2017,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Germany ¹⁰²					
Bloemeke J,					
2019, Germany and Spain ¹⁰³					
Sperling CD,	✓	√	✓	√	✓
2017,					
Denmark ¹⁰⁴					
Tapia VJ, 2017,	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓
USA ¹⁰⁵					

Wong Riff KW,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
2017 and 2018,					
multi-country ^{106,}					
107					
Wright WJ,	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓		
2017, USA ¹⁰⁸					
Basra MKA,	✓	✓	✓	✓	
2018, UK ¹⁰⁹					
Fiume A, 2018,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
Canada ¹¹⁰					
Heyworth B,	✓	✓	✓	\checkmark	
2018, USA ¹¹¹					
Lewis S, 2018,	√	✓	√	\checkmark	
USA ¹¹²					
McErlane F,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
2018, UK ¹¹³					
Lunt LE, 2020,					
UK ¹¹⁴					
Niemitz M,	√	✓	√	\checkmark	√
2018,					
Germany ¹¹⁵					
Santucci NR,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
2018, USA ¹¹⁶					
Bevans KB,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
2019, USA ¹¹⁷					
Chhina H, 2019	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓
and 2021, multi-					
country ^{118, 119}					
Halleran DR,	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark		
2019, USA ¹²⁰					
Heidi M, 2019,	✓	✓	✓		
UK ¹²¹					
Hoffman MF,	✓	✓	✓	\checkmark	✓
2019, USA ¹²²					
Jaudszus A,	✓	✓			
2019,					
Germany ¹²³					

Klassen AF,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
2019, Canada					
and USA ¹²⁴					
Nelson LM,	√	√	√		
2019, USA ¹²⁵					
Newton L,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
2019, USA ¹²⁶					
Piscione J,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
2019, Canada ¹²⁷					
Propp R, 2019,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓
Canada ¹²⁸					
Sarda SP, 2019,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓
USA ¹²⁹					
Tingsgaard JK,	\checkmark	✓	✓	\checkmark	✓
2019,					
Denmark ¹³⁰					
Tsangaris E,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓
2019, Canada ¹³¹					
Bevans KB,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
2020, USA ¹³²					
De Zwaan M,	✓	✓	✓		
2020,					
Germany ¹³³					
Halstead P,	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓
2020, USA ¹³⁴					
Martin SA,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓
2020, USA ¹³⁵					
McCarrier KP,	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓
2020, USA ¹³⁶					
Robertson AO,	✓	✓	✓		
2020, UK ¹³⁷					
Wyrwich KW,	✓	✓	✓		
2020, USA ¹³⁸					
Zigler CK,	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓
2020, USA ¹³⁹					
Cejas I, 2021,	 ✓ 	 ✓ 	 ✓ 	 ✓ 	
USA ¹⁴⁰					

Dermott JA,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
2021, Canada ¹⁴¹					
Griffiths C,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
2021, UK ¹⁴²					
Gwaltney C,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
2021, USA ¹⁴³					
Hall R, 2021,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
USA ¹⁴⁴					
Meltzer LJ,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
2021, USA ¹⁴⁵					
Pandina G,	~	~	~	\checkmark	
2021, USA ¹⁴⁶					
Powell PA,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
2021, UK ¹⁴⁷					
Ramchandren S,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
2021, Multi-					
country ¹⁴⁸					
Schwartz AE,	~	~	~	\checkmark	~
2021, USA ¹⁴⁹					
Winnette R,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
2021, USA ¹⁵⁰					
Zizzi CE, 2021,	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
USA ¹⁵¹					

*Each row represents a PROM which its development process may have been reported in more than one study.

PPI: Patient and public involvement, GRIPP2-SF: Guidance for Reporting Involvement of Patients and Public2-Short form

Chapter 3: Patient involvement in determining minimal important difference: A scoping review

3.1 Abstract

Objectives: The goal was to investigate the involvement of patients and parents/guardians in defining minimal important difference (MID). We also aimed to elaborate on how they have been involved in determining MID and the methods used to obtain MID.

Methods: MEDLINE, EMBASE, CINAHL, PsycINFO, and Cochrane CENTRAL were searched (1989 to September 2021). Hand searches of the reference lists of included studies were also performed. Studies reporting patient involvement regarding MID of any intervention were eligible for inclusion. The patient could be an adult, child or parent/guardian. Studies were excluded if they used only distribution and/or anchor-based methods or pre-established MIDs, sought opinions of healthcare providers or stakeholders other than patients, or reported only patient satisfaction with, or preference for, the health care system, products and/or services. Characteristics and findings of the included studies were reported descriptively.

Results: Of 6044 screened titles, 45 studies were included. Of these, 41 involved adults and 4 studies sought adolescents/parents' opinions. The most common MID outcomes were survival time, survival rate and symptom relief. Trade-off techniques were the most frequently used method to elicit patients' perspectives.

Conclusion: Most of the studies found in this review were focused on adults and there was a paucity of evidence regarding involvement of children/adolescents and their parents/guardians in determining MID. Heterogeneity in terminology, interventions, outcomes, and estimated MIDs,

even for the same clinical conditions, was notable. Mixed method studies and finding the best approach to incorporate patient priorities to generate a narrow range of MIDs are required.

3.2 Background

As the gold standard for determining treatment efficacy (1), randomized controlled trials (RCTs) are powered to detect the difference or change in the outcome of interest between study groups (2). However, this difference/change must outweigh risks, costs and inconvenience of the intervention in order to warrant its implementation. The smallest difference/change that meets these criteria was originally called minimal clinically important difference (MCID) (3, 4). The terminology has since been updated to minimal important difference (MID) to accommodate both patient and clinician perspectives. In the design phase of RCTs, trialists can calculate the sample size by ensuring that the study is powered to detect the estimated MID. In addition, MID helps researchers, clinicians, decision makers and guideline developers to interpret the findings of studies by comparing the magnitude of actual treatment effects with the estimated MID (5, 6). Since 1989, when the concept was first introduced by Jaeschke et al. (3), several methods have been used to measure MCID, although most do not directly seek patient preferences. These methods include anchor-based, distribution-based, and opinion- seeking methods. Anchor-based methods relate the change in the measure of interest to an external measure of change, the "anchor", usually patient or clinical judgment (7). Distribution-based methods compare the change in the outcome of interest, whether continuous or ordinal, to some other statistical parameters of variability (e.g., standard error of measurement, standard deviation, effect size, and smallest detectable change) (2, 8). Opinion-seeking methods, such as surveys, Delphi methods,
and interviews can be used to elicit patients and/or clinicians' opinions about the change or difference they perceive as important (2).

Historically, health care providers have dominated the determination of MID. More recently, as patient-oriented research has been emphasized, patient input on MID is also being sought (4). In 2011, Cook et al. (2) conducted a systematic review (SR) to identify different methods for specifying a MID. Of 60 studies that sought opinions from patients, health care providers, and multidisciplinary experts, only 10 involved patients and none involved children or their parents/guardians (2).

Patient involvement in all aspects of research design has progressed significantly since the Cook study in 2011. Therefore, it is worthwhile to explore whether this is reflected in research regarding MID. Similar to adults, children have also the right to be involved in research about them and to be heard and valued (9). The goal of the present review was to investigate the involvement of patients in defining MID. We also aimed to elaborate on how they have been involved in determining MID and the methods used to obtain MID.

Objectives: 1) To review studies seeking adult patient opinions regarding MID for any disease, 2) To review studies seeking children/adolescents' and parents/guardians' opinions regarding MID for any disease.

Outcomes:

To quantify i) whether and, ii) how patients have been involved in determining MID.

3.3 Methods

We followed the PRISMA extension for scoping reviews (PRISMA-ScR) (10) guidelines for conducting and reporting this scoping review. (10). The protocol of this review was registered at PROSPERO (CRD42018085981).

3.3.1. Search strategy: With the help of a health research librarian, the following sources were searched from 1989 (the time in which the concept of MID was first introduced in the medical literature (3)) to September 2021: 1) Electronic literature search in the following databases: MEDLINE, EMBASE, CINAHL, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials, Cochrane Methodology Register, PsychINFO. 2) Hand-searching reference lists of included studies. No publication type, population, or language restrictions were applied.

Search terms related to minimal important difference were combined with search terms related to seeking patient opinions (Appendix C for search strategy in MEDLINE).

3.3.2. Study selection and data extraction:

We included studies reporting patient preferences with regard to MID of any intervention whether or not clinician/health care provider opinion was also reported. The patient could be adult, child/adolescent, or parent/guardian. Studies were not restricted by design, population, or interventions.

Studies that did not seek patient opinions, studies that only used distribution-based and/or anchor based methods to estimate MID or used pre-established MIDs, studies that only sought opinions of healthcare providers or stakeholders other than patients, studies that reported only patient satisfaction with, or preference for, the health care system, products and/or services, non-human

97

or non-clinical studies, review studies including systematic, narrative, and opinion pieces, or publications that lacked peer-review (e.g., conference abstracts, dissertations) were excluded.

Two reviewers (SKA, AC) screened titles and abstracts for relevant studies and then reviewed full texts of potentially relevant articles independently. Studies fulfilling the inclusion criteria were selected and any disagreements were resolved by a senior reviewer (SV). Data were extracted using an *a priori* data extraction form by one reviewer (SKA) and verified by a second reviewer (AC).

Demographics of the studies (publication year, title, first author, country), design, population characteristics (age, gender, sample size), interventions, outcomes, methods used to obtain MID from patients and clinicians/health care providers [if reported], and the overall value of the MIDs (if reported) were extracted.

3.3.3. Data analysis:

We narratively reported the methods used for obtaining MID and the overall values of MID. If studies obtained both patient and health care provider opinions, we reported both overall values.

3.4 Results

Of 6044 retrieved references from electronic and hand searches, 850 duplicates were removed and 5194 were screened using title and abstracts. Of these, 818 underwent full text screening of which 45 were included (11-55) (Figure 3.1).

3.4.1. General characteristics of the included studies

Most studies were conducted in Australia (N=9), UK (N=9), USA (N=9), and Canada (N=7). Almost all studies used either interviews or questionnaires to obtain patient opinions. Forty-one studies involved adults (Table 3.1). Four studies involved parents/guardians and three of these four also involved adolescents (Table 3.2). In addition to patient perspectives, 11 studies also obtained clinicians, nurses, or other health professionals' perspectives. Eight studies only included female participants.

3.4.2. Interventions/Outcomes and methods to obtain MID

The included studies acquired patient input for heterogenous interventions and outcomes. Chemotherapy, anti-hypertensive or cardioprotective therapies, physiotherapy, exercise programs, and surgeries were among the interventions specified. In eight studies, however, no specific intervention was mentioned. MID was most often calculated for outcomes related to survival time, survival rate, and symptom relief.

More than half of the included studies (24/45) used trade-off techniques to elicit patients' opinions about MID. Other methods included qualitative interviews, direct questions, standard gamble method, etc. (Table 3.1 and Table 3.2)

3.5 Discussion

In this review, we surveyed studies in which patients' opinions were sought regarding determination of MID. We found 41 studies involving adults and 4 studies involving adolescents and/or parents/guardians. Most of these studies used trade-off methods to elicit patients' views.

Estimation of MID has been a challenge since its introduction. We excluded studies that only used distribution- and/or anchor-based methods, which are the most common approaches used in

the current literature (8, 56). A common criticism of the distribution-based approach is that the measured change is not necessarily clinically important or based on the patient's perspective (4, 57). Standard error of measurement and smallest detectable change are considered measurement properties of the outcome measure which are independent of intervention (4). Therefore, they are mostly recommended to be used as supportive information alongside other estimates (2).

Anchor-based methods are the most common and accepted approaches used to determine MID, especially for patient-reported outcomes and health-related quality of life measures (2, 4, 8, 58). The majority of excluded studies in our review used this approach alone or in combination with distribution methods. While multiple anchors have been examined, the most frequently used is the patient global rating of change (6, 57). The anchor should be independent, interpretable, and relevant to patients (8, 57) but, although many anchor-based methods use patients' perceptions to recognize whether change has occurred, the threshold used for MID estimates is usually determined by the researcher (4, 59). Furthermore, this method relies mostly on within-patient change over time rather than differences between patients with and without intervention (59, 4). Lastly, the choice of anchor (e.g., the magnitude of correlation between anchor and the outcome measure), and the type of statistical method used to quantify the MID both affect the resulting MID estimates, yet neither are patient-driven (60, 61).

Various opinion-seeking methods have been developed to directly elicit patients' and/or health professionals' opinions about the change or difference they perceive as important (2). These methods are useful for any type of outcome and can be designed for any degree of difficulty (2).

Trade-off methods were the most common opinion-seeking methods in the studies included in this review. Barret et al. (2005) (59) developed a benefit-harm trade-off method that is well

accepted among researchers. In this method, a scenario including benefits, harms, costs, and inconvenience associated with the intervention of interest is described, and the participants are asked if they accept the intervention. This process is repeated using larger or smaller effect until the minimum benefit is determined. According to Ferreira et al. (2012) (4), this method is directly patient-driven and intervention specific. It focuses on the effect with and without the intervention, and not the change over time. However, the estimate of MID can be influenced by how scenarios are presented, methods of elicitation, and individual preferences (2).

In recent years, qualitative interviews have been used to determine MID. Semi-structured interviews using concept elicitation or cognitive debriefing, focus groups, Delphi panel methods and vignettes are among the methods that are used in an independent study or embedded as exit interviews in the clinical trials (58). In a study by Staunton et al., (2019) (58), they recommend using triangulation methods in which estimates calculated by anchor and distribution methods are supported by the findings of qualitative studies to generate a single MID or a narrow range.

Strengths of the review

In the review by Cook et al. (2011) (2), 60 studies used opinion-seeking methods, of which only 10 focused on patients. However, in our review, we found 27 studies obtaining patients' opinions before 2011. It should be noted that the review by Cook et al. was conducted to find studies determining the "target difference" using all known methods, whilst our review has only focused on patient involvement in MID determination. We also hand searched the reference lists of the included studies which enabled us to find more articles. As another strength of this review, we used a comprehensive search strategy and did not restrict our search to any specific population, condition, or language.

101

Limitations

As in other reviews (60, 61), the heterogeneity in data such as terminology, interventions and outcomes, were noticeable in our review. Even for the same clinical condition, different MIDs were estimated. Hence, challenges remain to reconcile these heterogenous data and how to interpret them. Multiple MIDs hamper sample size calculation and interpretation of clinical trials findings. Moreover, disease severity, the specific intervention under study, and patient characteristics could all impact the final MID estimate (62).

Conclusion and future research

This review was conducted to show whether and how patients' opinions have been sought in the determination of MID. Most of the studies found in this review were focused on adults and there was a paucity of evidence regarding involvement of children/adolescents and their parents/guardians in determining MID. Heterogeneity in terminology, interventions, and outcomes, and estimated MIDs even in the same clinical conditions was notable. Patient-oriented research emphasizes the involvement of patients in the design stage of research and interpretation of findings. Hence, estimation of MID, which should be patient-driven according to its definition, underscore the need for more studies to seek patients' perspectives directly. Future research will benefit from mixed method studies. In addition, studies for finding the best method to reconcile the distribution, anchor and qualitative data resulting in a narrow range of MIDs for specific interventions and outcomes are warranted.

3.6 References

- Schulz KF, Altman DG, Moher D. CONSORT 2010 statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomized trials. Annals of internal medicine. 2010;152(11):726-32.
- Cook JA, Hislop J, Adewuyi TE, Harrild K, Altman DG, Ramsay C, et al. Assessing methods to specify the target difference for a randomised controlled trial: DELTA (Difference ELicitation in TriAls) review. Health Technol Assess 2014;18(28).
- Jaeschke R, Singer J, Guyatt GH. Measurement of health status. Ascertaining the minimal clinically important difference. Control Clin Trials. 1989;10(4):407-15.
- Ferreira ML, Herbert RD, Ferreira PH, Latimer J, Ostelo RW, Nascimento DP, Smeets RJ. A critical review of methods used to determine the smallest worthwhile effect of interventions for low back pain. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 2012;65(3):253-61.
- Ferreira ML, Herbert RD, Crowther MJ, Verhagen A, Sutton AJ. When is a further clinical trial justified?. Bmj. 2012 Sep 13;345:e5913.
- Johnston BC, Ebrahim S, Carrasco-Labra A, Furukawa TA, Patrick DL, Crawford MW, Hemmelgarn BR, Schunemann HJ, Guyatt GH, Nesrallah G. Minimally important difference estimates and methods: a protocol. BMJ open. 2015;5(10):e007953.
- De vet HCW, Terwee CB, Mokkink LB, Knol DL. Measurement in Medicine: A Practical Guide (Practical Guides to Biostatistics and Epidemiology). New York: Cambridge University Press; 2011.

- Copay AG, Subach BR, Glassman SD, Polly Jr DW, Schuler TC. Understanding the minimum clinically important difference: a review of concepts and methods. The Spine Journal. 2007;7(5):541-6.
- Bird D, Culley L, Lakhanpaul M. Why collaborate with children in health research: an analysis of the risks and benefits of collaboration with children. Archives of Disease in Childhood-Education and Practice. 2013:edpract-2012.
- Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, O'Brien KK, Colquhoun H, Levac D, Moher D, Peters MD, Horsley T, Weeks L, Hempel S. PRISMA extension for scoping reviews (PRISMA-ScR): checklist and explanation. Annals of internal medicine. 2018 Oct 2;169(7):467-73.
- Bryce RL, Bradley MT, McCormick SM. To what extent would women prefer chorionic villus sampling to amniocentesis for prenatal diagnosis?. Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology. 1989;3(2):137-45.
- 12. Reed WW, Herbers JE, Noel GL. Cholesterol-lowering therapy. Journal of general internal medicine. 1993;8(11):591-6.
- Bremnes RM, Andersen K, Wist EA. Cancer patients, doctors and nurses vary in their willingness to undertake cancer chemotherapy. European journal of cancer. 1995;31(12):1955-9.
- Man-Son-Hing M, Laupacis A, O'Connor A, Wells G, Lemelin J, Wood W, Dermer M. Warfarin for atrial fibrillation: the patient's perspective. Archives of Internal Medicine. 1996;156(16):1841-8.
- Silvestri G, Pritchard R, Welch HG. Preferences for chemotherapy in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer: descriptive study based on scripted interviews. Bmj. 1998;317(7161):771-5.

- 16. McAlister FA, O'Connor AM, Wells G, Grover SA, Laupacis A. When should hypertension be treated? The different perspectives of Canadian family physicians and patients. CMAJ. 2000;163(4):403-8.
- 17. Steel N. Thresholds for taking antihypertensive drugs in different professional and lay groups: questionnaire survey. Bmj. 2000;320(7247):1446-7.
- 18. Devereaux PJ, Fahey T, Anderson DR, Gardner MJ, Putnam W, Flowerdew GJ, Brownell BF, Nagpal S, Cox JL. Differences between perspectives of physicians and patients on anticoagulation in patients with atrial fibrillation: observational studyCommentary: Varied preferences reflect the reality of clinical practice. Bmj. 2001;323(7323):1218.
- Jansen SJ, Kievit J, Nooij MA, De Haes JC, Overpelt IM, Van Slooten H, Maartense E, Stiggelbout AM. Patients' preferences for adjuvant chemotherapy in early-stage breast cancer: is treatment worthwhile?. British journal of cancer. 2001;84(12):1577-85.
- 20. Trewby PN, Reddy AV, Trewby CS, Ashton VJ, Brennan G, Inglis J. Are preventive drugs preventive enough? A study of patients' expectation of benefit from preventive drugs. Clinical Medicine. 2002;2(6):527.
- 21. Wong RK, Gafni A, Whelan T, Franssen E, Fung K. Defining patient-based minimal clinically important effect sizes: a study in palliative radiotherapy for painful unresectable pelvic recurrences from rectal cancer. International Journal of Radiation Oncology* Biology* Physics. 2002;54(3):661-9.
- 22. Lewis DK, Barton S. Who decides when to start preventive treatment? A questionnaire survey to compare the views of different population subgroups. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health. 2003;57(4):241-2.

- 23. Barrett B, Brown R, Mundt M, Dye L, Alt J, Safdar N, Maberry R. Using benefit harm tradeoffs to estimate sufficiently important difference: the case of the common cold. Medical Decision Making. 2005;25(1):47-55.
- 24. Duric VM, Fallowfield LJ, Saunders C, Houghton J, Coates AS, Stockler MR. Patients' preferences for adjuvant endocrine therapy in early breast cancer: what makes it worthwhile?. British journal of cancer. 2005;93(12):1319-23.
- 25. Duric VM, Stockler MR, Heritier S, Boyle F, Beith J, Sullivan A, Wilcken N, Coates AS, Simes RJ. Patients' preferences for adjuvant chemotherapy in early breast cancer: what makes AC and CMF worthwhile now?. Annals of Oncology. 2005;16(11):1786-94.
- 26. Hirose T, Horichi N, Ohmori T, Kusumoto S, Sugiyama T, Shirai T, Ozawa T, Ohnishi T, Adachi M. Patients preferences in chemotherapy for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. Internal medicine. 2005;44(2):107-13.
- 27. Yelland MJ, Schluter PJ. Defining worthwhile and desired responses to treatment of chronic low back pain. Pain Medicine. 2006;7(1):38-45.
- 28. Barrett B, Harahan B, Brown D, Zhang Z, Brown R. Sufficiently important difference for common cold: severity reduction. The Annals of Family Medicine. 2007;5(3):216-23.
- 29. Johnson FR, Özdemir S, Hauber B, Kauf TL. Women's willingness to accept perceived risks for vasomotor symptom relief. Journal of Women's Health. 2007;16(7):1028-40.
- 30. Aarabi M, Skinner J, Price CE, Jackson PR. Patients' acceptance of antihypertensive therapy to prevent cardiovascular disease: a comparison between South Asians and Caucasians in the United Kingdom. European Journal of Preventive Cardiology. 2008;15(1):59-66.

- Duric VM, Butow PN, Sharpe L, Heritier S, Boyle F, Beith J, Wilcken NR, Coates AS, Simes RJ, Stockler MR. Comparing patients' and their partners' preferences for adjuvant chemotherapy in early breast cancer. Patient education and counseling. 2008;72(2):239-45.
- 32. Ferreira ML, Ferreira PH, Herbert RD, Latimer J. People with low back pain typically need to feel 'much better' to consider intervention worthwhile: an observational study. Australian Journal of Physiotherapy. 2009;55(2):123-7.
- 33. Lauridsen HH, Manniche C, Korsholm L, Grunnet-Nilsson N, Hartvigsen J. What is an acceptable outcome of treatment before it begins? Methodological considerations and implications for patients with chronic low back pain. European Spine Journal. 2009;18(12):1858-66.
- 34. Oliveira VC, Ferreira PH, Ferreira ML, Tibúrcio L, Pinto RZ, Oliveira W, Dias R. People with low back pain who have externalised beliefs need to see greater improvements in symptoms to consider exercises worthwhile: an observational study. Australian Journal of Physiotherapy. 2009;55(4):271-5.
- 35. Allison DB, Elobeid MA, Cope MB, Brock DW, Faith MS, Vander Veur S, Berkowitz R, Cutter G, McVie T, Gadde KM, Foster GD. Sample size in obesity trials: patient perspective versus current practice. Medical Decision Making. 2010;30(1):68-75.
- 36. Mullis R, Hay EM. Goal scaling for low back pain in primary care: development of a semi-structured interview incorporating minimal important change. Journal of evaluation in clinical practice. 2010;16(6):1209-14.
- Carragee EJ, Cheng I. Minimum acceptable outcomes after lumbar spinal fusion. The Spine Journal. 2010;10(4):313-20.

- 38. Mullis R, Lewis M, Hay EM. What does minimal important change mean to patients? Associations between individualized goal attainment scores and disability, general health status and global change in condition. Journal of evaluation in clinical practice. 2011;17(2):244-50.
- 39. Chappell LC, Gurung V, Seed PT, Chambers J, Williamson C, Thornton JG. Ursodeoxycholic acid versus placebo, and early term delivery versus expectant management, in women with intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy: semifactorial randomised clinical trial. Bmj. 2012;344.
- 40. Hudson B, Zarifeh A, Young L, Wells JE. Patients' expectations of screening and preventive treatments. The Annals of Family Medicine. 2012;10(6):495-502.
- 41. Ferreira ML, Herbert RD, Ferreira PH, Latimer J, Ostelo RW, Grotle M, Barrett B. The smallest worthwhile effect of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and physiotherapy for chronic low back pain: a benefit–harm trade-off study. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 2013;66(12):1397-404.
- 42. Epstein RS, Cimen A, Benenson H, Aubert RE, Khalid M, Sostek MB, Salimi T. Patient preferences for change in symptoms associated with opioid-induced constipation.
 Advances in therapy. 2014;31(12):1263-71.
- 43. LaHaye S, Regpala S, Lacombe S, Sharma M, Gibbens S, Ball D, Francis K. Evaluation of patients' attitudes towards stroke prevention and bleeding risk in atrial fibrillation. Thrombosis and haemostasis. 2014;112(03):465-73.
- 44. McNamara RJ, Elkins MR, Ferreira ML, Spencer LM, Herbert RD. Smallest worthwhile effect of land-based and water-based pulmonary rehabilitation for COPD. ERJ Open Research. 2015;1(1).

- 45. Franco MR, Howard K, Sherrington C, Rose J, Ferreira PH, Ferreira ML. Smallest worthwhile effect of exercise programs to prevent falls among older people: estimates from benefit–harm trade-off and discrete choice methods. Age and ageing. 2016;45(6):806-12.
- 46. Ziai H, Bonaparte JP. Determining a successful nasal airway surgery: calculation of the patient-centered minimum important difference. Otolaryngology–Head and Neck Surgery. 2017;157(2):325-30.
- 47. Anthony L, Ervin C, Lapuerta P, Kulke MH, Kunz P, Bergsland E, Hörsch D, Metz DC, Pasieka J, Pavlakis N, Pavel M. Understanding the patient experience with carcinoid syndrome: exit interviews from a randomized, placebo-controlled study of telotristat ethyl. Clinical Therapeutics. 2017;39(11):2158-68.
- 48. Christiansen DH, de Vos Andersen NB, Poulsen PH, Ostelo RW. The smallest worthwhile effect of primary care physiotherapy did not differ across musculoskeletal pain sites. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 2018;101:44-52.
- 49. Sully K, Trigg A, Bonner N, Moreno-Koehler A, Trennery C, Shah N, Yucel E, Panjabi S, Cocks K. Estimation of minimally important differences and responder definitions for EORTC QLQ-MY20 scores in multiple myeloma patients. European journal of haematology. 2019;103(5):500-9.
- 50. Crichton ML, Dudgeon EK, Shoemark A, Chalmers JD. Validation of the Bronchiectasis Impact Measure (BIM): a novel patient-reported outcome measure. European Respiratory Journal. 2021;57(5).
- 51. Kitchen H, Seitz C, Trigg A, Aldhouse N, Willgoss T, Schmitz H, Gater A, Gerlinger C, Haberland C. Patients' and clinicians' perspectives on item importance, scoring, and

clinically meaningful differences for the Endometriosis Symptom Diary (ESD) and Endometriosis Impact Scale (EIS). Health and quality of life outcomes. 2021;19(1):1-4.

- 52. Thissen D, Liu Y, Magnus B, Quinn H, Gipson DS, Dampier C, Huang IC, Hinds PS, Selewski DT, Reeve BB, Gross HE. Estimating minimally important difference (MID) in PROMIS pediatric measures using the scale-judgment method. Quality of Life Research. 2016;25(1):13-23.
- 53. Morgan EM, Mara CA, Huang B, Barnett K, Carle AC, Farrell JE, Cook KF. Establishing clinical meaning and defining important differences for Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS®) measures in juvenile idiopathic arthritis using standard setting with patients, parents, and providers. Quality of Life Research. 2017;26(3):565-86.
- 54. Brigden A, Parslow RM, Gaunt D, Collin SM, Jones A, Crawley E. Defining the minimally clinically important difference of the SF-36 physical function subscale for paediatric CFS/ME: triangulation using three different methods. Health and quality of life outcomes. 2018;16(1):1-7.
- 55. Ardestani SK, Robinson JL, Dieleman LA, Huynh HQ, Jou H, Vohra S. Surveys of parents and clinicians concerning the minimally important difference of probiotic therapy for prevention of paediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhoea. BMJ open. 2019;9(4):e024651.
- 56. Revicki D, Hays RD, Cella D, Sloan J. Recommended methods for determining responsiveness and minimally important differences for patient-reported outcomes. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 2008;61(2):102-9.

- 57. Devji T, Carrasco-Labra A, Qasim A, Phillips M, Johnston BC, Devasenapathy N, Zeraatkar D, Bhatt M, Jin X, Brignardello-Petersen R, Urquhart O. Evaluating the credibility of anchor based estimates of minimal important differences for patient reported outcomes: instrument development and reliability study. Bmj. 2020;369.
- 58. Staunton H, Willgoss T, Nelsen L, Burbridge C, Sully K, Rofail D, Arbuckle R. An overview of using qualitative techniques to explore and define estimates of clinically important change on clinical outcome assessments. Journal of patient-reported outcomes. 2019;3(1):1-0.
- 59. Barrett B, Brown D, Mundt M, Brown R. Sufficiently important difference: expanding the framework of clinical significance. Medical decision making. 2005;25(3):250-61.
- 60. Devji T, Carrasco-Labra A, Guyatt G. Mind the methods of determining minimal important differences: three critical issues to consider. Evidence-Based Mental Health. 2021;24(2):77-81.
- 61. Wang Y, Devji T, Qasim A, Hao Q, Wong V, Bhatt M, Prasad M, Wang Y, Noori A, Xiao Y, Ghadimi M. A systematic survey identified methodological issues in studies estimating anchor-based minimal important differences in patient-reported outcomes. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 2022;142:144-51.
- 62. Trigg A, Griffiths P. Triangulation of multiple meaningful change thresholds for patientreported outcome scores. Quality of Life Research. 2021;30(10):2755-64.

3.7 Tables and figures



Authors Publication Year Country	Study design	Sample size	Age	Gender (F/M)	Study objective	Intervention	The outcome that MID calculated for	How they asked about MID	Reported MID value
Bryce RL, 1989, Australia ¹¹	Interview	Pregnant women: 66, Clinicians: 46	Patients: mean 29, 50% between 25-35, Clinicians: 50% between 35-45 years	Patients: All female, Clinician s: 22% female	"what excess miscarriage rate would women tolerate in order to gain the perceived advantages of their preferred procedure? (CVS vs. amniocentesis) "	Chorionic villus sampling (CVS)	The risk of miscarriage	Standard gamble method	Pregnant women: median utility for CVS of a miscarriage rate of 0.9%, Clinicians: 1.2%
Reed W, 1993, USA ¹²	Interview	35	Median: 53, range 40-65 years	22/13	"To assess variability in patients' values and preferences regarding cholesterol- lowering therapy"	Cholesterol lowering therapy	Life expectancy	Time trade- off, Standard reference gamble	Time trade-off (The amount of additional life patients required) median 3 months, range: 1-81 months The standard reference Gamble (Risk of painless death in 30 days vs. chance of normal life expectancy off therapy) median :0.1%, range: 0.1- 22%

Table 3. 1 General characteristics and results of studies seeking opinions of adults regarding MID

Dromeas	Quasticanaire	Conocr	Moore	Deticata	"To indicate	Concor	Change of	Draganting -	Detionta madian
RM, 1995	Zuestionnune	patients:	patients	(55%	the minimal	chemotherapy	cure, life	hypothetical	chance of cure: 43%.
Norway ¹³		98	55.	male),	benefit with	15	prolongation,	situation	prolongation of life:
5		Healthy	Controls	Controls	respect to		symptom	and then	12 months, symptom
		individuals	37,	(34%	chance of		relief	asking about	relief: 50%
		(control):	Clinicians:	male),	cure, life			the minimal	Controls: median
		42	surgeons,	Clinician	prolongation			benefit they	chance of cure: 20%,
		Clinicians	oncologist	s (78-80	and symptom			would	prolongation of life: 9
		(surgeon,	s: 41, 42,	% male),	relief they			require from	months, symptom
		oncologists	Nurses:	Nurses	would demand			treatment	relief: 50%
): 79	oncology,	(0-6%	to accept the				Clinicians: median
		Nurses	surgical	male)	treatment."				chance of cure:
		(surgical	29,35						(surgeons 25%,
		and	years						oncologists 10%),
		oncology):							prolongation of life:
		102							surgeons: 12 months,
									months sumntom
									relief: both 50%
									Nurses:
									median chance of
									cure: (surgical 40%.
									oncology 25%).
									prolongation of life:
									surgical:12 months,
									oncology: 12 months,
									symptom relief: both
									50%
Man-Son-	Interview	64	Mean	19/45	"To determine	Warfarin	Risk of	Probability	Given a 10% baseline
Hing M,	(face-to-face)		(SD): 68.9		the minimal	therapy	stroke in non	trade-off	risk of having a
1996,			(9)		clinically		valvular	techniques	stroke in the next 2
Canada ¹⁴					important		atrial	(ping-pong	years if not taking
					difference		fibrillation	methods,	wartarin, the mean
					(MCID) of			known	MCID was 2.01%
					warfarin			efficacy	(95% CI 1.60-2.42),
					inerapy for the			method)	meaning they would
					reatment of				take wariarin ii the
					nonvaivular	1	1	1	risk of stroke were

					atrial fibrillation"				increased by 2% on average
Silvestri G, 1998, USA ¹⁵	Interview	81	31 patients:< 60 years, 30 patients: 60-70, 20 patients: >70 years	27/54	"To determine how patients with lung cancer value the trade off between the survival benefit of chemotherapy and its toxicities"	Chemotherapy	Survival threshold for accepting chemotherap y	Modified time trade- off	The median survival threshold for accepting chemotherapy: 4.5 months for mild toxicity and 9 months for severe toxicity. Choice between supportive care and chemotherapy: 18 (22%) patients chose chemotherapy for a survival benefit of 3 months. 55 (68%) patients chose chemotherapy if it substantially reduced symptoms without prolonging life.
McAlister F, 2000, Canada ¹⁶	Interview (face-to-face)	Patient: 72 family physicians: 74	Mean (SD): Patients: 49.4 (8) Clinicians: 45 (7.6)	Patients: 39/33 Clinician s: 28/46	"to determine the treatment thresholds of family physicians and hypertensive patients for mild, uncomplicated essential hypertension"	Anti- hypertensive therapy	Cardiovascul ar risk in patients with hypertension	Probability trade-off tool	The minimum risk of a CV event which makes patients would want to take the therapy in different scenarios: (2% risk in 5 yr): 1.5 (1.3–1.7) (5% risk in 5 yr): 2.8 (2.3–3.3)

									(10% risk in 5 yr): 4.0 (3.2–4.9) (15% risk in 20 yr): 6.1 (4.8–7.4) (30% risk in 20 yr): 7.8 (6.0–9.7) (50% risk in 20 yr): 9.8 (7.1–12.6)
Steel N, 2000, UK ¹⁷	Postal questionnaire	Public:58 Practice nurses:32 GPs:30 Consultant physicians: 29	Public:45 % 41-65 years, Practice nurses:50 % 41-65 years, GPs:53% 41-65 years, Consultant physicians :76% 41- 65 years	Public:58 % female, Practice nurses:97 % female, GPs:30% female, Consulta nt physician s:14% female	"The study compared the threshold at which consultant physicians, general practitioners, nurses attached to a general practice, and the general population would start taking antihypertensi ve drugs."	Anti- hypertensive therapy	Number needed to treat (NNT) to prevent mortality in 5 years	A questionnair e presenting a hypothetical situation and asking whether respondents would take therapy	Median (IQR) NNT: Public: 33-(12-250) Practice nurses: 33 (<12-250) GP: 50 (33-100) Consultant physicians: 100 (50- 250)
Devereaux PJ, 2001, Canada ¹⁸	Prospective observational study (face to face interview)	Patients: 61, Physicians: 63	Patients: 52% <75 years Physicians : Not reported	Patients: 26/37 Physician s: Not reported	"To determine and compare physicians' and patients' thresholds for how much reduction in risk of stroke is necessary and how much risk of excess	Antithromboti c therapy	Risk of stroke and bleeding	Probability trade-off tool	The minimum number of strokes that needed to be prevented in 100 patients over two years Warfarin: Patients: 1.8 (SD 1.9) Physicians: 2.5 (1.6) Aspirin: Patient:1.3 (1.3) Physicians: 1.6 (1.5) The maximum number of acceptable excess bleeding in

Jansen SJT,	Interview	Chemother	Chemother	All	bleeding is acceptable with antithrombotic treatment in people with atrial fibrillation." " to determine	Adjuvant	Improved 5-	Adapted varion of	100 patients over two years Warfarin: Patients: 17.4 (7.1) Physicians: 10.3 (6.1) Aspirin: Patient: 14.7 (8.5) Physicians: 6.7 (6.2) In the chemotherapy group the median
Netherland		38, no- chemother apy group: 38	(SD): 42 (5.5), No- chemother apy: 55 (9.3)	lemale	benefits that patients need to find chemotherapy acceptable"	for early-stage breast cancer	free survival	the decision board described by Levine et al., (1992).	benefit was 1%, in the no-chemotherapy group: 12-15%
Trewby PN, 2002, UK ²⁰	Questionnaire and interview	307 (group 1(102): recent MI, group 2 (105): on preventive drugs but no recent MI, group 3 (100): control)	Mean (SD): Group 1: 62 (11.4), group 2: 64.1 (9.4), group 3: 57.5 (15) years	Group 1: 75.5 % male, Group 2: 53.3% male, Group 3: 45% male	" to find the threshold of benefit for a hypothetical cholesterol- lowering drug below which the subject would not be prepared to take the drug."	Cholesterol lowering therapy	Risk of CVD, prolongation of life	Presenting scenario and then asking about the minimum acceptable benefit patients require.	Median values for the threshold of benefit below which the subject would not take the preventive drug: Group 1 (20%), group 2 (20%), and group 3 (30%) absolute risk reduction for a CVD event. Median values for expectation of average prolongation of life: Group 1 (12 months), group 2 (12 months) and group 3 (18 months).
Wong RK, 2002, Canada ²¹	Interview	43	Mean (SD): 62 (15)	14/29	"To measure patient-based minimal clinically important	Short (5 days) and long (20 days) terms radiotherapy regimens	Pain relief in unresectable painful pelvic recurrences	Decision aid– facilitated trade-off exercises	When the probability of pain relief was unchanged, the median switch point from short term (5

1					<u></u>		0 1		1
					pain relief between two		cancer		(20 days) to long term (20 days) treatment for the duration of pain relief was 6.7
					palliative				and 7.2 months for
					radiotherapy				severe and mild pain,
					regimens for				respectively
					recurrences				
					from rectal				
					cancer."				
Lewis DK,	Questionnaire	Patients:	Mean age:	147/170	" This study	Tablet	% saved	Presenting a	Patients: 50 (10-75)
UK^{22}		Health	Health		absolute	risk of heart	myocardial	asking about	10(5-38)
011		profession	profession		benefits of	attack	infarction	the	10 (0 00)
		al: 155	al: 38		treatment		over 5 years	minimum	
					different			absolute	
					groups would			benefit they	
					require before			require.	
					treatment				
					themselves."				
Barrett B,	Interview (in	460 (149	Mean	104/45	"To develop	Vitamin C,	Common	Benefit-	Overall: 52.6 h,
2005,	person and	in person,	(SD):		methods to	Echinacea,	cold:	harm trade-	Vitamin C: 26.1 h,
USA ²³	telephone)	162	35.5 (14.7)		assess SID and	Zinc,	Reduction in	off method	Echinacea: 36.8h,
		telephone interview)	Range: 18-		to estimate	Pleconaril	length of		Zinc: 64.8 h, anti-
		interview)	oo years		common cold"		(duration)		virai. 62.0 ii
							,		
Duric VM,	Interview	85	Median:	All	" to determine	Adjuvant	Survival	Trade-off	More than half the
Fallowfield,			45 years	Temale	the preferences of	therapy in	times and	method	women required
2005					premenopausa	early breast	Tates		in survival rates or 3
Australia ²⁴					l women who	cancer			years
					had adjuvant				absolute survival time
					endocrine				
					therapy in a				
					randomised				
1	1	1	1		urial.	1	1	1	

Duric VM, Stockler MR, 2005, Australia ²⁵	Interview	97	Median: 55 years	All female	"We sought the preferences of contemporary women who received chemotherapy."	Adjuvant chemotherapy for early breast cancer	Survival rate and life expectancy	Trade-off method	68-84% women required improvements of an additional year in life expectancy or 3% in survival rates
Hirose T, 2005, Japan ²⁶	Face-to-face interview (questionnaire)	Chemother apy group: 73 Control group: 120	40-80 years	Chemoth erapy group: 16/57 Control group: 55/65	" to determine how Japanese patients with lung cancer weigh potential survival, response rate, and symptom relief against the potential toxicity of different treatment strategies."	Intensive and less intensive chemotherapy for advanced non-small cell lung cancer	"Chance of cure," "Response but not cure," "Symptom relief", "prolonging life"	Questionnai re presenting a scenario and then asking about the minimal benefit patients would accept	3 months additional life required by 19% and 21% of patients with lung cancer to receive intensive and less-intensive treatment, respectively. When the chance of symptom relief was 70%, 73% of patients with lung cancer were willing to choose intensive chemotherapy
Yelland MJ, 2006, Australia ²⁷	Descriptive study nested within RCT	110	Median (IQR): 50 (44, 59) years	63/47	"To describe patients' perceptions of minimum worthwhile and desired reductions in pain and disability upon commencing treatment for chronic low back pain."	Prolotherapy injections and exercises	Pain and disability in chronic low back pain	Question asking about the minimum percentage improvemen t	Median (inter- quartile range) minimum worthwhile reductions were 25% (IQR 20%, 50%) for pain and 35% (20%, 50%) for disability. Desired reductions of 80% (60%, 100%) for pain and 80% (50%, 100%) for disability

Barrett B, 2007, USA ²⁸	Interview (in person and telephone)	253 (182 in-person, 162 telephone interview)	Mean (SD): 34.8 (13.3) Range: 18- 74 years	139/66	"to estimate the sufficiently important difference (SID) for the common cold"	Vitamin C, Echinacea, Zinc, Pleconaril (anti-viral)	Common cold: Severity reduction	Benefit- harm trade- off method	Vitamin C: 25%, Echinacea: 32%, Zinc: 47%, Anti- viral: 57%
Johnson FR, 2007, USA ²⁹	Survey	523	Mean (SD): 52 (4.37)	All female	"to estimate the maximum acceptable risk (MAR) of long-term treatment side effects that women are willing to bear in exchange for relief of vasomotor symptoms"	Hormone therapy	Improvement in vasomotor symptoms	Choice- format conjoint analysis (discrete choice experiment) employing benefit- harm trade- off tasks	Women were willing to accept greater risks in exchange for greater relief in their symptoms
Aarabi M, 2008, UK ³⁰	Cross- sectional face- to-face interview	262 both groups South Asians: 110, Caucasian: 152	Mean: South Asians men: 50.2 (11.6), women: 52.0 (11.2), Caucasian s men: 52.2 (12.0), women: 51.7 (10.7) Range: 35- 74 years	South Asians: 52/58, Caucasia ns: 77/75	"To establish people's willingness to receive antihypertensi ve drug treatment as primary prevention of CVD"	Anti- hypertensive therapy	CVD risk	Benefit- harm trade- off method	The minimum CVD risk which makes patients would want to take the therapy in different scenarios: South Asians: Scenario 1 (10% CHD risk without treatment in 10 yrs): 1%, Scenario 2 (20% CHD risk in 10 yrs): 2%, Scenario 3 (40% CHD risk in 10 yrs): 1%Caucasians: 4% in all scenarios

Duric VM, 2008, Australia ³¹	Interview	46 women and their partners	Mean (SD): Women: 57, Partners: 60 Range: Women: 37-71, partners: 40-74 years	Women and their partners	"To compare women and their partners' preferences for adjuvant chemotherapy in early breast cancer."	Adjuvant chemotherapy	Survival times (5 and 15 yrs) and survival rates (65% and 85% at 5 years) in early breast cancer	Benefit- harm trade- off method	Most couples: extra 1 year in life expectancy or 3% i survival, An extra 1 day or 0.1% survival were judged sufficient to make adjuvant chemotherapy worthwhile by 59– 72% of women and 54–59% of partners
Ferreira ML, 2009, Australia ³²	Cross- sectional, observational study (interview)	77	Mean (SD): 53.2 (15.1) years	51/26	"How much of an effect do five common physiotherapy interventions need to have for patients with low back pain to perceive they are worth their cost, discomfort, risk, and inconvenience ?"	Physiotherapy for low back pain	global perceived change (0 to 4) and percentage perceived change	Benefit- harm trade- off method	Participants perceived that intervention would have to make them 'much better', which corresponded to 1.7 (SD 0.7) on the 4-point scale, or improve their symptoms by 42% (SD 23), to make them worthwhile
Lauridsen HH, 2009, Denmark ³³	Prospective observational study (questionnaire)	147	Mean (SD): 46 Range: 19- 82 years	82/65	"to determine the reproducibility and validity of a novel method for estimating low back pain (LBP) patients' view of an acceptable	Standard conservative treatment	Low back pain outcome measures (The Oswestry disability index (ODI), the Bournemout h questionnaire (BQ), the 11-	A question asking about the acceptable level of pain and disability after treatment	The MCIDpre for chronic LBP patients scoring the ODI is a 26.1 points reduction (26%), 25.6 points (37%) for the BQ and 4.2 points (42%) for the NRSpain.

					change (MCIDpre) before treatment begins"		box numeric pain rating scale (NRSpain))		
Oliveira VC, 2009, Brazil ³⁴	Cross- sectional observational study (questionnaire)	86	Mean (SD): 36.9 (11.5)	60/26	"Does health locus of control predict the smallest worthwhile effect of motor control exercise or spinal manipulative therapy when adjusted for severity of pain?"	Motor control exercises and spinal manipulative therapy	Non-specific low back pain	Benefit- harm trade- off method	Mean (SD) of Smallest worthwhile effect (%) for exercise was 63 (22) and for spinal manipulation was 62 (28)
Allison DB, 2010, USA ³⁵	Survey	74	Mean (SD): Men: 46.4 (14), Women: 48.9 (11.4) Range: 24- 73 years	66/8	"Evaluate patient opinions on acceptable risks in exchange for a given degree of weight loss"	Weight loss	The added risk of serious adverse events (SAEs) or death in obesity	Benefit- harm trade- off method	3.5% risk for death for 5% and 10% weight loss, SAEs risk: 7.2% for 5% and 6.7% for 10% weigh loss
Mullis R, 2010, UK ³⁶	Semi- structured interview	15	Mean: 50 Range: 24- 78 years	6/9	"The aim of this project was to develop a goal-based individualized assessment tool capable of defining meaningful change in condition from the patient	Not specified	Problems associated with low back pain	Modified goal attainment scaling method	59 problem areas were identified, and then reduced to the 45 most important goals (three for each patient). The minimal significant improvement was identified on 31 (69%) of these.

					perspective for use in longitudinal clinical studies"				
Carragee EJ, 2010, USA ³⁷	Descriptive study (questionnaire)	165	Mean (SD): Spondyloli sthesis: 42.6 (12.2), degenerati ve disc disease: 40.9 (10.1)	Spondylo listhesis: 43.7% female, Degenera tive disc disease: 59.6% female	"to describe a method of assessing treatment success based on prospective, patient- reported "minimum acceptable" outcome for which they would undergo a procedure"	Lumbar fusion	Pain intensity, functional outcome (Oswestry Disability Index [ODI]), medication usage, and work status in Isthmic spondylolisth esis or disc degeneration	Benefit- harm trade- off method	At least a decrease in pain intensity to 3/10 or less, an improvement in ODI of 20 or more, discontinuing opioid medications, and return to some occupational activity
Mullis R, 2011, UK ³⁸	Observational cohort study (Interview, questionnaire)	35	Mean (SD): 50 (14.4)	26/9	"The aim of this study was to explore the associations between goal attainment scores and disability, general health and global change in condition, with particular reference to minimal important change"	Not specified	Unresolving acute low back pain	Modified goal attainment scaling method	Minimal important change was identified on 67% of the goals

Chappell	Survey	Pregnant	Not	Patients:	"to determine	Ursodeoxycho	Itching in	Benefit-	Women: Median: 30
LC	2011.09	Women:	reported	All	what reduction	lic acid	women with	harm trade-	mm reduction in
2012		100	reponea	female	in	no uolu	Intrahenatic	off method	itching 95% CI: 10-
LIK ³⁹		Clinicians:		Clinician	score on the		cholestasis of	on memor	60
OK		100		s: Not	visual		pregnancy		Clinicians: Median:
		100		s. Not	analogue scale		pregnancy		20. 05% CI: 15-50
				reported	would be a				50, 9570 CI. 15-50
					alinically				
					meaningful				
					difference				
					aliniaiana				
					involved in				
					tracting				
					women with				
					intranepatic				
					cholestasis of				
					pregnancy and				
					among women				
					who had				
					previously				
					experienced				
			1.5.6/1.0.0		the condition"				
Hudson B,	Questionnaire	354	156/198	Mean	"This study	Breast and	the number	Presenting a	Respondents required
2012,				(SD):	assessed	bowel cancer	of events	scenario and	the minimum benefit
New				59.7 (5.7)	participants'	screening, and	(fractures or	asking	greater than the
Zealand ⁴⁰				years	estimates of	medications to	deaths)	patient to	actual benefit these
					the benefit, as	prevent hip	prevented in	indicate the	interventions could
					well as	fracture and	а	minimum	achieve in reality
					minimum	cardiovascular	group of	benefit they	except for
					acceptable	disease	5,000	require from	cardiovascular
					benefit, of		patients	the	mortality prevention.
					screening for		undergoing	intervention	
					breast and		each	S	
					bowel cancer		intervention		
					and		over a period		
					medication to		of 10 years,		
					prevent hip		and the		
					fracture and		minimum		
							number of		

					cardiovascular disease."		events avoided by the intervention		
Ferreira ML, 2013, Australia ⁴¹	Telephone interview	102	Mean (SD): 45.2 (12.8)	78/24	"To determine the smallest worthwhile effects of two treatments for nonspecific low back pain (LBP)"	NSAIDs and physiotherapy	Pain, disability in chronic non- specific Low back pain	Benefit- harm trade- off method	For NSAIDs: 30% (10-40) greater improvement in pain and 20% (10-40) decrease in disability, For Physiotherapy: 20% (0-30%) improvement in pain and disability
Epstein RS, 2014, US, UK, Canada, Germany, Sweden, Norway ⁴²	Cross sectional survey	513	Mean (SD): 46.1 (13)	282/231	"to determine those symptoms of OIC that most patients ([80%) would prefer to improve, and to determine whether one more bowel movement per week was considered 'extremely' or 'very' important to them"	Not specified	Bowel movement per week in OIC	A question asking patient's opinion of what they consider important	"When asked 'how important is it you to have 1 more bowel movement per week'', over 90% endorsed it was 'somewhat', 'very', or 'extremely important' with nearly 70% (n = 354) endorsing the 'extremely' or 'very important' response options."
Lahaye S, 2014, Canada ⁴³	Cross- sectional (iPAD questionnaire)	172	Mean (SD): 72 (12)	56/116	"to determine the minimal clinically important difference (Treatment Threshold)	Anticoagulant therapy for stroke prevention	Risk of stroke, Risk of major bleeding event in non- valvular	Standard gamble method and an adaptation of the probability	At least a 0.8% (NNT=125) annual absolute risk reduction and 15% relative risk reduction in the risk of stroke in order to agree to

							-4-1-1	4	::4:_4_
					and the		atriai	trade-off	initiate
					maximum		normation	tecnnique	
					number of				inerapy, and patients
					major				were willing to
					bleeding				endure 4.4 major
					events that a				bleeds in order to
					patient would				prevent one stroke
					be willing to				
					endure in				
					order to				
					prevent one				
					stroke				
					(Bleeding				
					Ratio) for the				
					initiation of				
					antithrombotic				
					therapy"				
McNamara	Computer	100	Mean	57/43	"to determine	Land-based	6-min walk	Benefit-	For land-based
RJ,	application		(SD): 72		the smallest	and water-	distance in	harm trade-	pulmonary
2015,			(9)		worthwhile	based	patients with	off method	rehabilitation, the
Australia ⁴⁴					effect of land-	pulmonary	COPD		median smallest
					based and	rehabilitation			worthwhile effect
					water-based				was 20 m (95% CI
					pulmonary				15-37 m). For water-
					rehabilitation				based pulmonary
					on 6-min walk				rehabilitation,
					distance				the median smallest
					among people				worthwhile effect
					with chronic				was 26 m (95% CI
					obstructive				15–33 m).
					pulmonary				The pulmonary
					disease				rehabilitation would
					(COPD)"				be worthwhile if it
									increased the 6-min
									walk distance by
									about 6%.
Franco MR,	Survey (On-	Discrete	Mean	Discrete	"to estimate	A proposed	Risk of	Discrete	The average smallest
2016,	line and face-	choice	(SD):	choice	the smallest	exercise	falling in	choice	worthwhile effect of
Australia ⁴⁵	to-face)	group:	Discrete	group:	worthwhile	program	community-	experiment	participation in an
		220, trade-	choice	115/105,	effect of		dwelling	and benefit-	exercise program for

		off group: 66	group: 68 (6), trade- off group: 68 (6)	trade-off group: 37/29	exercise programs designed to prevent falls among older people"		older people who reported a past fall or a mobility limitation	harm trade- off method	discrete choice group: an absolute reduction in the risk of falling of 35% (standard deviation [SD] = 13) and for the benefit-harm trade- off group: 16% (SD = 11)
Ziai H, 2017, Canada ⁴⁶	Prospective cohort questionnaire	76	Mean (SD): 39.0 (13.7)	20/56	"to determine the patient- identified MID in the NOSE scale in patients with nasal obstruction due to a septal deviation who are planning on undergoing a septoplasty"	Nasal airway surgery	Nasal Obstruction Symptom Evaluation (NOSE) score in patients with septal deviation	A question asking patient opinion of smallest change in their score they require to consider surgery successful	Mean (SD) patient- identified MID: 5.3 (2.1) corresponding to a 41.1% change (95% confidence interval, 37.2-41.3) from baseline.
Anthony L, 2017, Multisite (USA, Canada, Australia, England, Germany) ⁴⁷	Telephone Interview (Exit interview of an RCT)	35	Mean (SD): 62	51% female	"to provide insight into the patient experience in TELESTAR and to help understand whether reductions in BM frequency (the primary end point) and other symptoms were clinically meaningful."	Telotristat ethyl therapy	Improvement s in carcinoid syndrome symptoms	Qualitative interview	Most participants (60%) were satisfied with ≤30% reductions in bowel movement frequency

Christiansen D, 2018, Denmark ⁴⁸	Telephone interview	160	Mean (SD): 50.8 (14.2)	90/70	"To determine and compare estimates of the smallest worthwhile effect (SWE) for physiotherapy in neck, shoulder, and low-back pain patients"	Physiotherapy	Pain and disability, time to recovery in patients with neck, shoulder, and low back pain	Benefit- harm trade- off method	The median for improvements in pain and disability: 20% (95%CI; 10-30%) and time to recovery: 10 (95%CI; 7-14) days over a period of 6 weeks
Sully K, 2019, UK and USA ⁴⁹	Mixed- methods study (semi- structured interview)	20	11(55%) < 65 years	9/11	" to establish MID and RD for the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Multiple Myeloma questionnaire (EORTC QLQ- MY20)."	Not specified	Health- related quality of life in patients with MM	Qualitative interview	Disease Symptoms Scale: improvement of 20 points, deterioration:10-point Side effects of Treatment scale: improvement of 10, 20 or 30 points improvement, deterioration of 5-10 points Estimates for the Body Image scale: improvement of 20- points, deterioration of 10-20 points Future Perspective scale: improvement of 10-points, deterioration of between 10-20 points
Crichton M, 2021, UK ⁵⁰	Prospective observational study (questionnaire)	173	69 (11.43)	99 (57%) female	"We developed a simple patient reported visual analogue	Not specified	Disease impact in patients with bronchiectasi s	A question asking the improvemen t they consider	A median of 1.5 points in each domain on a 10-point scale

					outcome			clinically	
					Bronchiectasis			meaningful	
					Impact				
					Measure				
					(BIM), for use				
					in clinical				
					research,				
					including				
					clinical trials."				
Kitchen H,	Semi-	Patients:	Patients:	Patients:	" This study	Not specified	Symptom	Qualitative	2 or 3 points
2021,	structured	25.	33 (6),	All	explored		change in the	interview	reduction in pain
Germany,	interview	Clinicians:	Clinicians:	female,	the importance		Endometriosi	(cognitive	
US ⁵¹		4	not	Clinician	of symptoms		s Symptom	exploration	
			reported	s: not	(ESD items)		Diary (ESD)	tasks)	
				reported	and impacts		and		
					(EIS domains)				
					nerspectives		Scale (FIS)		
					on scoring		Seale (EIS)		
					algorithms				
					and clinically				
					important				
					difference				
					(CID)				
					thresholds to				
					inform clinical				
					trial score				
					interpretation.				
					"				

CI: confidence interval; CVD: Cardiovascular diseases, CVS: Chorionic villus sampling, MM: Multiple myeloma, OIC: Opioid-induced constipation, NNT,

Number needed to treat, SD: Standard deviation, SID: Sufficiently important difference, RD: Responder definition

Authors	Study design	Population			Study	Intervention	The	How they	Reported MID value
Publication Year Country		Sample size	Age Mean (SD) Range	Gender (F/M)	objective		outcome that MID calculated for	asked about MID	
Thissen D, 2016, USA ⁵²	Questionnaire, Interview	246 (78 adolescent s, 85 parents, 83 clinicians)	Mean (SD): Adolesce nts: 14.9 (1.5), parents: 42.9 (7.9), Clinician s: 41.6 (9.2) Range: Adolesce nts: 13- 18, parents: 25-82, Clinician s: 28-68 years	Adolescen ts: 31/47, parents: 69/16, Clinicians: 60/23	"To assess minimally important differences (MIDs) for several pediatric self- report item banks from the National Institutes of Health Patient- Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS)."	Not specified	Depressive symptoms, Pain interference, Fatigue, Mobility	Scale- judgment method	The point at which 50% of judges would declare an important change. The MID estimated with adolescent and parent data: 3 points on the PROMIS T- score scale. The MID estimated with clinician's data: 2 points on the PROMIS T-score scale
Morgan E, 2017, USA ⁵³	Panel discussion	Adolescent s: 4, Parents: 5, Clinicians: 7	Range: Adolesce nts: 15- 20, parents of kids between 13-20	Adolescent s and parents: all female, Clinicians: 4/3	"we conducted a novel exercise to ascertain the magnitude of change, or differences in scores, that were deemed clinically	Not specified	Mobility, upper extremity function (UE), fatigue, and pain interference in patients	"To define MIDs, panelists reviewed a full score report for the vignettes and indicated which items	Fatigue: Severe (3- 9.4), mild (3-4.8) Pain interference: Severe (5.3-12.7), mild (2.1-5.5) Mobility: Severe (2.2-4.4), mild (1.6- 5.4)

 Table 3. 2 General characteristics and results of 4 studies seeking opinions of pediatric/parents' population regarding MID

					significant by stakeholders."		with juvenile idiopathic arthritis	would need to change and by how much to represent ''just enough improvemen t to make a difference.''	UE function: Severe (1.8-2.8), mild (1.5- 3.5)
Brigden A, 2018, UK ⁵⁴	Interview	21 children and their parents	Children: mean: 14.5, Range: 12-17	16 (76.2%) female	"to identify the MCID of the SF-36-PFS for children and adolescents with CFS/ME."	Not specified	Physical function sub- scale of SF- 36 in pediatric patients with CFS/ME	Qualitative interview	10-point improvement
Ardestani SK, 2019, Canada ⁵⁵	Survey	Parents: 127 Clinicians: 45	Parents: 57 (46%) between 31-40	Parents: 98 (77.8%) female, Clinicians: 19 (49%)	"To establish the minimally important difference (MID) that would prompt parents and clinicians to use probiotics for prevention of paediatric antibiotic associated diarrhoea (AAD)"	Probiotic therapy	Risk of AAD in children	Trade-off method	39% reduction in the risk of AAD

AAD: Antibiotic-associated diarrhea, CFS/ME: Chronic fatigue syndrome/myalgic encephalomyelitis, JIA: Juvenile idiopathic arthritis
Chapter 4: Surveys of parents and clinicians concerning the minimal important difference of probiotic therapy for prevention of pediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhea

This chapter was published in its entirety as the following citation: Ardestani SK, Robinson JL, Dieleman LA, Huynh HQ, Jou H, Vohra S. Surveys of parents and clinicians concerning the minimally important difference of probiotic therapy for prevention of paediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhoea. BMJ open. 2019;9(4):e024651.

4.1 Abstract

Objectives: To establish the minimally important difference (MID) that would prompt parents and clinicians to use probiotics for prevention of pediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhea (AAD) and to obtain parent and clinician opinion about the most important outcomes in clinical trials of

AAD.

Methods: In this survey, parents of children presenting to the emergency department of a Canadian tertiary care children's hospital and pediatricians working in that hospital were approached. A range of potential MIDs were presented and participants selected one that they would require to use probiotics for AAD prevention. Additionally, participants were asked to rate a list of outcomes they would consider to be important in clinical trials of AAD. Results: In total, 127 parents and 45 pediatricians participated. 51% (64/125) of parents and 51% (21/41) of clinicians responding to the MID question reported they would use probiotics if it reduced the risk of AAD by 39% (i.e., reduce the risk of AAD from 19% to 12%). The most important outcomes to parents, in descending order, were need for hospitalization, prevention of dehydration, disruption of normal daily activities, diarrhea duration and physician revisit. Pediatricians considered need for hospitalization along with physician revisit as the most important outcomes. They rated prevention of dehydration, diarrhea duration and stool frequency as important outcomes as well.

Conclusion: There is good agreement between parents and clinicians regarding how effective probiotics would need to be in preventing AAD in order to warrant use. This information, along with outcomes perceived to be most important, will help in the design of future clinical trials.

4.2 Background

Probiotics are defined as "live micro-organisms which, when administered in adequate amounts, confer a health benefit on the host". (1, 2) Research shows a substantial increase in probiotic use in clinical and research settings and among the general public in the last three decades. (3)

According to a 2015 Cochrane systematic review,(4) probiotics may be effective for prevention of antibiotic associated diarrhea (AAD) in children (pooled relative risk (RR) = 0.46, 95% CI: 0.35-0.61), AAD can be delayed up to eight weeks after initiation of antibiotics.(5) Its incidence varies considerably (5-62 %) depending on the patient population, setting, type and duration of antibiotics.(6-12) Although mild-to-moderate diarrhea is more common, serious complications such as dehydration and *Clostridium difficile* infection can result.(11, 12) The proposed mechanism for the development of AAD is that antibiotics influence the gut microbial balance, altering its protective functions and leading to diarrhea.(13) AAD is particularly important in children as antibiotics are frequently prescribed in this population (14) and they are more likely to develop dehydration from diarrhea than are adults.

As the gold standard for determining treatment efficacy, (15) randomized clinical trials (RCTs) are powered to detect the difference or change in the outcome of interest between study groups. (16) However, this difference or change must outweigh the risks, costs and inconvenience of the intervention in order to warrant implementation. The smallest difference or change that meets

these criteria is called the minimally important difference (MID). (17, 18) MID also informs the sample size calculation of RCTs. (17)

Historically, MID was determined by health care providers; more recently, patient or parent input on MID is being sought. (18, 19) Recent calls to establish patient-determined MID are especially relevant for therapies that are accessed by consumers without a prescription (e.g., probiotics).

To date, more than 20 RCTs (20-39) have studied the effectiveness and safety of probiotics for prevention of AAD in children. None of these studies reported seeking the perspective of children or parents about the most relevant outcomes and associated MID.

Different methods, including surveys, Delphi methods, and interviews, can be used to elicit opinions about the change or difference in an outcome that is perceived to be Important. (16, 40) Accordingly, we conducted a survey to establish the MID in diarrhea incidence that would lead parents/guardians to use probiotic therapy for prevention of AAD in their children.

As our secondary objective, we also obtained the opinions of clinicians and compared them to the opinions of parents/ guardians. Factors associated with the size of MID (demographics, previous familiarity and experience with probiotics and AAD) in each group were explored. Furthermore, parents/guardians and clinicians rated the importance of outcomes that should be measured in AAD trials, other than risk of AAD.

4.3 Methods

The Health Research Ethics Board of University of Alberta, Canada approved this study.

4.3.1. Sampling frame and administration:

1) Parents/guardians:

We approached parents/guardians of children in the waiting room of the emergency department at the Stollery Children's Hospital, a large urban tertiary care hospital in Edmonton, Canada. They were eligible if their children were less than 17 years old and had taken antibiotics at least once in their lives. Exclusion criteria were inability to communicate in English or previous participation in the study. Participants were provided a paper-based survey (Appendix D) by a study team member (SKA) who obtained consent for participation and provided help to understand the questions as required.

2) Clinicians:

We approached a convenience sample of general pediatricians and all sub-specialists from gastroenterology, infectious diseases, and emergency medicine in active practice at the Stollery Children's Hospital. Clinicians were given electronic surveys (Appendix E) using REDCap; (41) paper surveys were provided to those who did not respond to the electronic surveys.

4.3.2. Development of survey:

Validated surveys were developed based on the literature, discussion with experts, and consultation with parents and pediatricians. Clinical sensibility and pilot testing were performed on a group of parents (n=5) and clinicians (n=5) with diverse demographic characteristics to ensure face validity, comprehensiveness, clarity, acceptability and ease of administration of the surveys. The surveys (Appendices D and E) consisted of two sections: in the first section, we asked participants for their opinions and behavior about probiotics. In the second section, we

introduced a trade-off tool consisting of potential advantages and disadvantages of probiotic therapy. (4, 12, 42) For parents/guardians, this was complemented by presentation of a scenario wherein the risk of developing AAD in children was shown to be 19% as stated in a 2015 systematic review. (4) Then, a range of higher and lower MIDs were presented. These options were calculated based on the pooled RR of probiotics to reduce the incidence of pediatric AAD and the corresponding lower and upper limits of 95% confidence interval (pooled RR = 0.46, 95% CI: 0.35-0.61). We asked participants to select the MID that was closest to what they would require in order to use probiotics for AAD prevention. The rationale of presenting limited response options was to obtain the opinions of parents and clinicians for the range of treatment effect that was realistic and in keeping with the published literature. A research team member was available to respond to any questions that parents/guardians might have had and to make sure that they had a good understanding of the concept of the question. For parents/guardians, risks were expressed as frequencies per 100 patients to facilitate ease of understanding. (43) Positive and negative wording with corresponding visual illustration (i.e., happy and sad faces) were used to promote clarity. (44) Format and questions of clinician survey were mainly adapted from the survey study carried out by Li et al. (45)

Finally, we asked participants to score a list of outcomes they would consider important to be measured in clinical trials of AAD. We used the 9-point scale suggested by the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development, and Evaluation (GRADE) group to score the importance of outcomes. (46) In this scale, scores of 1-3 represents outcomes of limited importance, 4-6 important but not critical, and 7-9 indicates outcomes that are of critical importance.

4.3.3. Sample size justification:

A sample size of 122 parents/guardians and 44 clinicians would achieve 80% power to detect an effect size of 0.3 (medium effect) and 0.5 (large effect) respectively using a 3 degrees of freedom Chi-Square test with a significance level (alpha) of 0.05, two sided. (47) According to Cohen et al (47), effect size is the measure of the magnitude of the Chi-square that is to be detected.

4.3.4. Statistical Analysis:

Frequencies of MID estimates of parents/guardians and clinicians were reported as n (%). MID estimates derived from clinicians and parents/guardians were compared using Chi-square test. Participant opinions and behaviors were reported as frequencies for each question. A multinomial logistic regression model was conducted to determine factors associated with the size of MID in clinicians and parents/guardians. P value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Data were analyzed using SPSS 16.0.(48)

4.3.5. Patient and public involvement:

Parents were involved in the comprehensibility and feasibility testing of the surveys. The results of the study reflects parents and clinicians views which can be used to designing and interpreting the findings of intervention studies of probiotic therapy for prevention of AAD.

4.4 Results

We approached 145 families and 125 clinicians of which 127 parents/guardians (87.5%) and 45 pediatricians (36%) responded. Lack of time or interest was the main reason of refusal among families, and respondents did not answer all questions (1-13% missing values across different questions and participants). The mean age of children presenting to the emergency room on whose behalf their parents/guardians completed our survey was 6.5 years (66/124, 53% female).

According to the parents/guardians, 39 out of 127 (31%) of the children had previous experience of AAD. Most of the responding clinicians were general pediatricians (17/39, 44%) or pediatric emergency medicine sub-specialists (15/39, 38%). Tables 4.1 and 4.2 show the general characteristics of responding parents/guardians and pediatricians, respectively.

4.4.1. Parent/guardian and clinician knowledge and behavior regarding probiotics *Parents/guardians*

One hundred and twelve (88%) of the 127 parents/guardians were familiar with probiotics before doing the survey and 106/127 (84%) had previously given their children probiotics, mostly as foods containing naturally occurring probiotics (e.g., regular yogurt, kefir, sauerkraut, kimchi) (81/106; 64%) and foods containing supplemental probiotics (e.g., yogurts and drinks containing added probiotics) (64/106; 50%). Thirty-two of 106 parents (25%) had given their children probiotics in the form of supplements (e.g., powder, capsule, chewable pill, drop/liquid). When asked which formulation their child would prefer (choose all that apply), most parents favored drops/liquid form (63%) of probiotic supplements. Chewable pills (48%) and powder/sachet (42%) were the next favorite options, followed by capsules (26%); 3% selected none of the options.

Clinicians

Thirty two of the 45 (71%) pediatricians recommended probiotics for specific indications, 9/45 (20%) selected "other" (e.g., "If they want to take them I do not object", "I state that the current evidence for its use is limited and that there is a cost associated with their use. It could help and likely would not harm their child but could harm their pocket book."), 3/45 (7%) did not know

enough about probiotics to make any recommendations, and 1/45 (2%) did not recommend probiotics at all. Thirty-eight of the 45 pediatricians (84%) stated that they recommended probiotics without parents asking them. Pediatricians mainly recommended probiotic supplements (29/45, 64%) or foods containing supplemental probiotics (23/45, 51%). The commonest indication for which they had recommended probiotics was prevention and treatment of AAD (31/45, 69%). Other indications were treatment (23/45, 51%) and prevention (12/45, 27%) of non-specific diarrhea, prevention of necrotizing enterocolitis (2/45, 4%) and other conditions (10/45, 22%) (e.g., functional abdominal pain, functional constipation, inflammatory bowel disease, irritable bowel syndrome, infantile colic, cold).

4.4.2. Parent/guardian and clinician opinions regarding probiotics for prevention and treatment of AAD

Compared to parents, pediatricians more frequently agreed or strongly agreed that probiotics were effective (77 vs. 48%, p=0.001) and safe (98 vs. 62%, p<0.001) for prevention of AAD. Three (2%) parents and none of the clinicians disagreed or strongly disagreed that probiotics were safe for prevention of AAD (table 4.3).

4.4.3. Minimally important difference

Sixty four out of 125 responding parents (51%) and 21 out of 41 responding clinicians (51%) reported they would use probiotics if it could reduce the relative risk of AAD by 39% (i.e., reduce the absolute risk of AAD from 19% to 12%; yielding a number needed to treat of 13 and a relative risk of 0.61) (Table 4.4). Pediatricians were most likely to choose a relative risk reduction of 54% or less as compared to parents (85 vs. 65%; odds ratio=3, 95% CI:1.14-9.54, P=0.02)

There was no association between parental age, gender, ethnicity, education, previous familiarity with probiotics, previous use of probiotics, child's previous experience of AAD, and parental opinion about the safety of probiotics with the choice of MID (p>0.05) (Appendix F). In addition, there was no association between clinician's gender, specialty, years since graduation, number of AAD patients seen per month, previous familiarity and recommendation of probiotics, and clinician's opinion about the safety of probiotics with the choice of MID (p>0.05) (Appendix F).

4.4.4. Important outcomes

According to GRADE (46), outcomes should be measured in clinical trials if more than 70% of respondents rate them between 7-9 (critical) and less than 15% rate them between 1-3 (limited importance) on a scale of 1-9.

In our study, the most important outcomes to parents in descending order were - need for hospitalization, prevention of dehydration, disruption of normal daily activities, diarrhea duration and physician revisit (Table 4.5). Pediatricians considered the need for hospitalization along with physician revisit as the most important outcomes. Moreover, they also rated prevention of dehydration, diarrhea duration, and stool frequency as critical outcomes to be measured in clinical trials (Table 4.5).

4.5 Discussion

Our study showed that half of the parents of children presenting to the emergency department of a Canadian tertiary care children's hospital and half of the pediatricians working in that hospital required at least a 39% reduction in the relative risk of pediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhea (i.e., decrease the absolute AAD risk from 19% to 12%) to consider it worthwhile to

consume/recommend probiotics. No associated factors (e.g., demographic characteristics, previous experience of AAD and familiarity with probiotics) were found to be related with the choice of MID in either group.

There are multiple approaches to establish MID in the current literature: anchor-based, distribution-based, health economic, pilot studies, review of the existing evidence, and opinionseeking. (16) However, most of them are not considered patient-centered approaches. Although anchor-based methods reflect patients' views about the amount of experienced change, most often researchers decide on the threshold scores for MID. Additionally, this method usually relies on change of symptoms over time rather than differences between patients with and without intervention. (19)

To obtain parent preferences about MID, we used the benefit-harm trade off tool providing advantages and disadvantages (e.g., side effects, costs, inconvenience) of the intervention. This method has been used in various studies in other settings. (49-54) In addition to considering the patient's perspective, this method is specific to the intervention and is based on between-group comparisons. (18, 19)

In the majority of the previous studies comparing patient and health care provider opinions, patients wanted larger effect sizes before opting for an intervention than did health care providers. (55-60) In our study, although clinicians were more convinced than were parents that probiotics are safe and effective, the MIDs were relatively similar. Only 8% of parents and none of the clinicians were unwilling to use probiotics for AAD. The high rates of familiarity and use of probiotics, limited costs and inconvenience, and the favorable safety profile of probiotics may explain this preference.

The level of familiarity (88%) and use of probiotics (84%) by parents/guardians were high in our study compared to others. Chin-Lee et al in 2014, (61) reported that 65% of their respondents were familiar with the term "probiotics" and only 30% had used them before. Another study in New Zealand (2011) (62) also showed a low rate (25%) of probiotic use. Studies in the Netherlands in 2013 (50%), (63) Brazil in 2008 (29%),(64) and Greece in 2005 (18-29%) (65) reported even less familiarity with the term and meaning of probiotics. It is possible that the general population has greater awareness about the potential health benefits of probiotic products over time, but it also seems parents in Canada have a more positive attitude towards probiotics than do those in other countries.

In 2014, a core outcome set (COS) was developed for clinical trials of acute diarrhea in children. (66) Outcomes included prevention of hospitalization, diarrhea and dehydration, similar to the outcomes of greatest importance to our participants. Employing outcomes that reflect patient/parent and clinician opinions will increase the acceptability and relevance of these studies.

Strengths and limitations

Our study is the first to seek parent and clinician opinions about MID of probiotic therapy for preventing pediatric AAD. Before recruitment, a pilot and clinical sensibility testing were conducted to ensure the comprehensibility and feasibility of the surveys, and revisions were made based on the results. Response rate of parents/guardians was very high since the survey was conducted in the emergency department waiting room with in-person support.

Our study has some limitations. It was restricted to individuals who could communicate in English. Additionally, we only recruited parents of children presenting to a children's hospital emergency department, which represent a small fraction of children who are prescribed antibiotics. These might affect the generalizability of our findings. The level of education in our participating parents was higher than the level of education in people living in Alberta (Canada) (67). Although, education level and previous familiarity with probiotics were not correlated with the choice of MID in our study, these characteristics might affect the generalizability of our findings. In addition, all our participating clinicians were pediatricians who may be more familiar with probiotics than other medical specialists. Similar to previous studies, (68) there was a low response rate from clinicians despite sending two reminders after the first invitation. According to VanGeest et al., (69) the most common reasons for non-responders are being busy and considering surveys as a low priority task compared to their other duties. Moreover, in our study, the administration method was different for parents/guardians (in-person) and clinicians (online) which might have an effect on their response rate.

Implication

Findings of our study regarding MID will inform future RCTs to calculate sample size and interpret findings informed by parental and clinician perspectives. Given that parents/caregivers are the ultimate decision-makers about their child's health, especially for treatments that are easily available without a prescription, employing the outcomes that are most important to them will also improve the applicability and relevance of future studies.

Conclusion

There is a good agreement between parents and clinicians regarding how effective probiotics need to be in preventing AAD in order to warrant use. This information, along with the outcomes they perceived important, will help designing future clinical trials.

4.6 References

- 1. FAO/WHO. Joint Working Group Guidelines for Probiotics in Food. 2002.
- Hill C, Guarner F, Reid G, et al. Expert consensus document. The International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics consensus statement on the scope and appropriate use of the term probiotic. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol*. 2014;11(8):506-14. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2014.66.
- Zorzela L, Ardestani SK, McFarland LV, et al. Is there a role for modified probiotics as beneficial microbes: a systematic review of the literature. *Benef Microbes*. 2017;8(5):739-54.
- Goldenberg JZ, Lytvyn L, Steurich J, et al. Probiotics for the prevention of pediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhea. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2015;12:CD004827. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004827.pub4.
- 5. Bartlett JG. Antibiotic-associated diarrhea. N Engl J Med. 2002;346(5):334-339.
- LaRosa M, Bottaro G, Gulino N, et al. Prevention of antibiotic-associated diarrhea with Lactobacillus sporogens and fructo-oligosaccharides in children: A multicentric doubleblind vs placebo study. *Minerva Pediatr*. 2003;55(5):447–52.
- McFarland LV. Epidemiology, risk factors and treatments for antibiotic-associated diarrhea. *Dig Dis.* 1998;16(5):292–307.

- Wistrom J, Norrby SR, Myhre EB, et al. Frequency of antibiotic-associated diarrhoea in 2462 antibiotic-treated hospitalized patients: a prospective study. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 2001;47(1):43–50.
- 9. Beaugerie L, Petit JC. Microbial-gut interactions in health and disease. Antibioticassociated diarrhoea. *Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol*. 2004;18(2):337-52.
- Bergogne-Bérézin E. Treatment and prevention of antibiotic associated diarrhea. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2000;16(4):521-6.
- Berrington A, Borriello SP, Brazier J, et al. National Clostridium difficile Standards Group: Report to the Department of Health. *J Hosp Infect*. 2004;56 Suppl1:1–38.
- McFarland LV, Goh S. Preventing pediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhea and Clostridium difficile infections with probiotics: A meta-analysis. *World J Meta-Anal*. 2013;1(3): 02-120
- Varughese CA, Vakil NH, Phillips KM. Antibiotic-associated diarrhea: a refresher on causes and possible prevention with probiotics--continuing education article. *J Pharm Pract.* 2013;26(5):476-82.
- Rossignoli A, Clavenna A, Bonati M. Antibiotic prescription and prevalence rate in the outpatient paediatric population: analysis of surveys published during 2000-2005. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2007;63(12):1099-106.
- 15. Schulz KF, Altman DG, Moher D. CONSORT 2010 statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomized trials. *Ann intern med.* 2010;152(11):726-32.
- 16. Cook JA, Hislop J, Adewuyi TE, et al. Assessing methods to specify the target difference for a randomised controlled trial: DELTA (Difference ELicitation in TriAls) review. *Health Technol Assess.* 2014;18(28).

- 17. Jaeschke R, Singer J, Guyatt GH. Measurement of health status. Ascertaining the minimal clinically important difference. *Control Clin Trials*. 1989;10(4):407-15.
- Ferreira ML, Herbert RD, Crowther MJ, et al. When is a further clinical trial justified?.
 BMJ. 2012;345:e5913.
- Ferreira ML, Herbert RD, Ferreira PH, et al. A critical review of methods used to determine the smallest worthwhile effect of interventions for low back pain. *J clin epidemiol*. 2012;65(3):253-61.
- 20. Arvola T, Laiho K, Torkkeli S, et al. Prophylactic Lactobacillus GG reduces antibioticassociated diarrhea in children with respiratory infections: a randomized study. *Pediatrics*. 1999;104(5):e64.
- 21. Benhamou PH, Berlier P, Danjou G, et al. Antibiotic-associated diarrhoea in children: A computer monitored double-blind outpatients trial comparing a protective and a probiotic agent. *Méd Chir Dig.* 1999;28(4):163–8.
- 22. Contardi I. Oral bacterial therapy in prevention of antibiotic-induced diarrhea in childhood [Batterioterapia orale quale prevenzione della diarrea da antibiotici in eta pediatrica]. *Clinica Terapeutica*. 1991;136(6):409–13.
- 23. Conway S, Hart A, Clark A, et al. Does eating yogurt prevent antibiotic-associated diarrhoea? A placebo controlled randomised controlled trial in general practice. *Br J Gen Pract.* 2007;57(545):953–9.
- 24. Corrêa NB, Péret Filho LA, Penna FJ, et al. A randomized formula controlled trial of Bifidobacterium lactis and Streptococcus thermophilus for prevention of antibioticassociated diarrhea in infants. *J Clin Gastroenterol*. 2005;39(5):385–9.

- Erdeve O, Tiras U, Dallar Y. The probiotic effect of Saccharomyces boulardii in a pediatric age group. *J Trop Pediatr*. 2004;50(4):234–6.
- 26. Fox M, Ahuja K, Robertson I, et al. Can probiotic yogurt prevent diarrhoea in children on antibiotics? A double blind,randomised, placebo-controlled study. *BMJ Open* 2015;5:e006474.
- 27. Jirapinyo P, Densupsoontorn N, Thamonsiri N, et al. Prevention of antibiotic-associated diarrhea in infants by probiotics. *J Med Assoc Thai*. 2002;85Suppl2:s739–42.
- 28. Khodadad, A, Farahmand, F, Najafi, M, et al. Probiotics for the Treatment of Pediatric Helicobacter Pylori Infection: A Randomized Double Blind Clinical Trial. *Iran J Pediatr*. 2013;23(1):79–84.
- 29. Kotowska M, Albrecht P, Szajewska H. Saccharomyces boulardii in the prevention of antibiotic-associated diarrhoea in children: a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*. 2005;21(5):583–90.
- 30. Merenstein DJ, Foster J, D'Amico F. A randomized clinical trial measuring the influence of kefir on antibiotic-associated diarrhea: the measuring the influence of Kefir (MILK) Study. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* 2009;163(8):750–4.
- 31. Ruszczy ski M, Radzikowski A, Szajewska H. Clinical trial: effectiveness of Lactobacillus rhamnosus (strains E/N, Oxy and Pen) in the prevention of antibioticassociated diarrhoea in children. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*. 2008;28(1):154–61.
- Saneeyan H, Layegh S, Rahimi H. Effectivness of probiotic on treatment of Helicobacter pylori infection in children. *I.U.M.S.* 2011;29(146):882–889.

- 33. Shan L, Hou Z, Wang F, et al. Prevention and treatment of diarrhoea with Saccharomyces boulardii in children with acute lower respiratory tract infections. *Benef Microb*. 2013;4(4):329–334.
- 34. Sykora J, Valeckova K, Amlerova J, et al. Effects of a specially designed fermented milk product containing probiotic Lactobacillus casei DN- 114 001 and the eradication of H. pylori in children: a prospective randomized double-blind study. *J Clin Gastroenterol.* 2005;39(8):692–8.
- 35. Szajewska H, Albrecht P, Topczewska-Cabanek A. Randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial: effect of lactobacillus GG supplementation on Helicobacter pylori eradication rates and side effects during treatment in children. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr*. 2009;48(4):431–6.
- 36. Szyma ski H, Arma ska M, Kowalska-Duplaga K, et al. Bifidobacterium longum PL03, Lactobacillus rhamnosus KL53A, and Lactobacillus plantarum PL02 in the prevention of antibiotic-associated diarrhea in children: a randomized controlled pilot trial. *Digestion*. 2008;78(1): 13–7.
- 37. Tankanow RM, Ross MB, Ertel IJ, et al. A double-blind, placebocontrolled study of the efficacy of Lactinex in the prophylaxis of amoxicillin-induced diarrhea. *DICP*. 1990;24(4):382–4.
- Vanderhoof JA, Whitney DB, Antonson DL, et al. Lactobacillus GG in the prevention of antibiotic-associated diarrhea in children. *J Pediatr*. 1999;135(5):564–8.
- 39. Zheng YJ, Mao ZQ, Wu QB, et al. Multicenter, randomized, controlled clinical trial on preventing antibiotic-associated diarrhea in children with pneumonia using the live

Clostridium butyricum and Bifidobacterium combined powder. *Zhonghua er ke za zhi*. 2012;50:732–6.

- 40. Schünemann HJ, Guyatt GH. Commentary—goodbye M (C) ID! Hello MID, where do you come from? *Health serv res.* 2005;40(2):593-7.
- 41. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, et al. Research electronic data capture (REDCap) A metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. *J Biomed Inform*. 2009;42(2):377-81.
- 42. Kligler B, Hanaway P, Cohrssen A. Probiotics in children. *Pediatr Clin North Am*.2007;54(6):949-67; xi.
- Gigerenzer G, Edwards A. Simple tools for understanding risks: from innumeracy to insight. *BMJ*. 2003;327(7417):741-4.
- Edwards A, Elwyn G, Mulley A. Explaining risks: turning numerical data into meaningful pictures. *BMJ*. 2002;324(7341):827-30.
- 45. Li KK, Holbrook AM, Thabane L, et al. A survey of physicians show a one-third reduction in harmful outcomes to be a clinically important difference for statin therapy. J Clin Epidemiol. 2012;65(9):954-61.
- 46. Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Kunz R, et al. GRADE guidelines: 2. Framing the question and deciding on important outcomes. *J Clin Epidemiol*. 2011;64(4):395-400.
- Cohen, Jacob. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Hillsdale, New Jersey. 1988.
- 48. SPSS Inc. Released 2007. SPSS for Windows, Version 16.0. Chicago, SPSS Inc.
- 49. Barrett B, Brown R, Mundt M, et al. Using benefit harm tradeoffs to estimate sufficiently important difference: the case of the common cold. *Med Decis Making*. 2005;25: 47e55.

- Barrett B, Haraban B, Brown D, et al. Sufficiently important difference for common cold: severity reduction. *Ann Fam Med.* 2007;5:216e23.
- 51. Duric VM, Butow PN, Sharpe L, et al. Comparing patients' and their partners' preferences for adjuvant chemotherapy in early breast cancer. *Patient Educ Couns*. 2008;72(2):239e45.
- 52. Duric V, Stockler M, Heritier S, et al. Patients' preferences for adjuvant chemotherapy in early breast cancer: what makes AC and CMF worthwhile now? *Ann Oncol.* 2005;16: 1786e94.
- 53. Hirose T, Horichi N, Ohmori T, et al. Patients preferences in chemotherapy for advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *Intern Med.* 2005;44:107e13.
- 54. Petherick E, O'Meara S, Spilsbury K, et al. Patient acceptability of larval therapy for leg ulcer treatment: a randomised survey to inform the sample size calculation of a randomised trial. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. 2006;6:43e6.
- 55. McAlister FA, O'Connor AM, Wells G, et al. When should hypertension be treated? The different perspectives of Canadian family physicians and patients. *CMAJ*. 2000;163(4):403-8.
- 56. Aarabi M, Skinner J, Price CE, et al. Patients' acceptance of antihypertensive therapy to prevent cardiovascular disease: a comparison between South Asians and Caucasians in the United Kingdom. *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil*. 2008;15(1):59-66.
- 57. Lewis DK, Barton S. Who decides when to start preventive treatment? A questionnaire survey to compare the views of different population subgroups. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* 2003;57(4):241-2.

- 58. Steel N. Thresholds for taking antihypertensive drugs in different professional and lay groups: questionnaire survey. *BMJ*. 2000;320(7247):1446-7.
- 59. Murphy DJ, Gahm GJ, Santilli S, et al. Seniors' preferences for cancer screening and medication use based on absolute risk reduction. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. 2002;57(2):M100-5.
- 60. Hudson B, Zarifeh A, Young L, et al. Patients' expectations of screening and preventive treatments. *Ann Fam Med.* 2012;10(6):495-502.
- 61. Chin-Lee B, Curry WJ, Fetterman J, et al. Patient experience and use of probiotics in community-based health care settings. *Patient prefer adherence*. 2014;8:1513.
- Schultz M, Baranchi A, Thurston L, et al. Consumer demographics and expectations of probiotic therapy in New Zealand: results of a large telephone survey. N Z Med J. 2011;124(1329):36–43.
- 63. Rijkers GT, Bimmel D, Grevers D, et al. Consumer perception of beneficial effects of probiotics for human health. *Benef microb*. 2013;4(1):117-21.
- 64. Viana JV, Da Cruz AG, Zoellner SS, et al. Probiotic foods: consumer perception and attitudes. *Int J Food Sci Technol*. 2008;43:1577-1580.
- 65. Babajimopoulos M. Consumer's knowledge on probiotics and consumption of these products in the city of Thessaloniki, Greece. *Consumer & Nutrition*. 2005:155.
- 66. Karas J, Ashkenazi S, Guarino A, et al; Consensus Group on Outcome Measures Made in Paediatric Enteral Nutrition Clinical Trials (COMMENT). A core outcome set for clinical trials in acute diarrhoea. *Arch Dis Child*. 2015;100(4):359-63. doi: 0.1136/archdischild-2014-307403.

- 67. Statistics Canada. Education Highlight Tables, 2016 Census. Last modified November 23, 2017. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/hlt-fst/edu-sco/Table.cfm?Lang=E&T=11&Geo=00&SP=1&view=2&age=1&sex=1 (Accessed November 6, 2018)
- 68. Cho YI, Johnson TP, VanGeest JB. Enhancing surveys of health care professionals: a meta-analysis of techniques to improve response. *Eval health prof.* 2013;36(3):382-407.
- 69. VanGeest JB, Johnson TP, Welch VL. Methodologies for improving response rates in surveys of physicians: a systematic review. *Eval health prof.* 2007;30(4):303-21.

4.7 Tables and figures

Child's age (years), n=126 Mean (SD)	65(19)
Mean (SD)	0.5 (4.9)
Child's gender, n=124	
Female	66 (53%)
Parent's age (years), n=125	
20 or less	8 (6%)
21-30	20 (16%)
31-40	57 (46%)
41-50	31 (25%)
Over 50	9 (7%)
Parent's gender, n=126	
Female	98 (77.8%)
Parent's ethnicity, n=123	
White/European/ Caucasian	80 (65%)
Asian (East, Southeast)	15 (12%)
Middle Eastern/ South or West Central Asian	8 (7%)
Black	6 (5%)
Latin American	4 (3%)
North American Aboriginal	5 (4%)
Other	5 (4%)
Parent's education n=124	
Did not finish high school	6 (5%)
High school diploma	22 (18%)
Post-secondary education without a bachelor's degree	39 (31%)
Bachelor's degree or higher	57 (5170)
	57 (46%)

Table 4. 1 Responding parent/guardian general characteristics

Categorical variables are presented as n (%)

Table 4. 2 Clinicians general characteristics

Gender, n=39 Female	19 (49%)
Specialty n=20	
Specially, n=39	
General pediatricians	17 (44%)
Sub specialists	
Pediatric emergency medicine	15 (38%)
Pediatric gastroenterology	5 (13%)
Pediatric infectious disease	2 (5%)
Years since graduation, n=39	
Mean (SD)	10.05 (6.3)
Median (Q1, Q3)	10 (5, 15)

Number of AAD patients in a typical month, n=39	
Mean (SD)	4.5 (3.8)
Median (Q1, Q3)	4 (2, 5)

Categorical variables are presented as n (%)

Table 4. 3 Parent/guardian and clinician opinions about effectiveness and safety of probiotics for prevention and treatment of AAD

			Strongly agreed	Agreed	Neutral	Disagreed	Strongly disagreed	Do not know	P value
Prevention	Effective	Parents N=126	19 (15%)	41(33%)	22 (17%)	5 (4%)	6 (5%)	33 (26%)	0.001
		Clinicians N=44	10 (23 %)	24 (54%)	6 (14%)	4 (9%)	0	0	
	Safe	Parents N=123	38 (31%)	38 (31%)	26 (21%)	0	3 (2%)	18 (15%)	0.000
		Clinicians N=44	17 (39%)	26 (59%)	1 (2%)	0	0	0	
Treatment	Effective	Parents N=126	17 (14%)	37 (29%)	23 (18%)	3 (2%)	6 (5%)	40 (32%)	0.000
		Clinicians N=43	6 (14%)	23 (53%)	11 (26%)	3 (7%)	0	0	
	Safe	Parents N=123	34 (28%)	39 (32%)	21 (17%)	1 (1%)	4 (3%)	24 (19%)	0.000
		Clinicians N=43	13 (30%)	28 (65%)	2 (5%)	0	0	0]

AAD: Antibiotic-associated diarrhea, NS: Non-significant Data are presented as n (%)

Table 4. 4 Parent/guardian and clinician opinions about minimally important difference

MID options – Absolute risk of diarrhea in probiotic group, assuming 19% in control group	Parents (n=125)	Clinicians (n= 41)
12% (NNT=13, RRR=0.39)	64 (51%)	21 (51%)
9% (NNT=10, RRR= 0.54)	18 (14%)	14 (34%)
7% (NNT=8, RRR=0.65)	33 (27%)	6 (15%)
I would not give (recommend) probiotics for AAD prevention	10 (8%)	0

MID: Minimally important difference, NNT: Number needed to treat, RRR: Relative risk reduction

Table 4. 5 Parent/guardian and clinician opinions regarding importance of outcomes in clinical trials of AAD

Outcomes		Limited	Important but	Critical	Р
	1	importance	not critical		value*
Stool frequency	Parents (N=125)	17 (14%)	50 (40%)	58 (46%)	0.002
	Clinicians (N=40)	1 (2%)	8 (20%)	31 (78%)	
Stool consistency	Parents (N=125)	6 (5%)	38 (30%)	81 (65%)	0.03
	Clinicians (N=40)	2 (5%)	21 (53%)	17 (42%)	
Duration of diarrhea	Parents (N=125)	3 (2%)	26 (21%)	96 (77%)	NS
	Clinicians (N=40)	1 (2%)	7 (18%)	32 (80%)	
Dehydration	Parents (N=125)	3 (2%)	15 (12%)	108 (86%)	NS
	Clinicians (N=40)	1 (2%)	7 (18%)	32 (80%)	
Effect on normal daily activities (e.g. eating, sleeping, playing)	Parents (N=125)	0	19 (15%)	106 (85%)	0.004
	Clinicians (N=40)	1 (2%)	14 (35%)	25 (63%)	
Child absence from day care or school	Parents (N=125)	19 (15%)	31 (25%)	75 (60%)	NS
	Clinicians (N=40)	3 (7%)	16 (40%)	21 (53%)	
Parental absence from work	Parents (N=125)	30 (24%)	31 (25%)	64 (51%)	NS
	Clinicians (N=40)	4 (10%)	14 (36%)	21 (54%)	
Need for hospitalization	Parents (N=125)	3 (2%)	8 (7%)	113 (91%)	NS
	Clinicians (N=40)	1 (2%)	4 (10%)	35 (88%)	
Need for outpatient or emergency department visit	Parents (N=125)	7 (6%)	23 (18%)	95 (76%)	NS
	Clinicians (N=40)	1 (2%)	4 (10%)	35 (88%)	

*For the comparison between parents and clinicians, AAD: Antibiotic-associated diarrhea, NS: Non-significant

Chapter 5: Development of a patient/proxy-reported instrument for pediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhea

5.1 Abstract

Objective: To develop and validate a patient/proxy-reported measure of the incidence and severity of pediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhea (PAAD) in inpatient and outpatient settings.

Methods: A patient advisory group, consisting of five parents and two children, was engaged as a research partner. Instrument items were developed from three sources: relevant items from two previously validated instruments; relevant constructs from a newly developed core outcome measurement set; and outcomes identified by parents and clinicians as being the most important. In a prospective observational study, children (birth to 17 years old) newly prescribed antibiotics or on antibiotics for \leq 7 days, were included and assessed at the time of presentation and daily thereafter until two weeks after antibiotic therapy was completed. Internal consistency and convergent validity of the instrument were examined.

Results: Of 80 patients who agreed to participate and met the eligibility criteria, 32(40%) were lost to follow-up; data from the remaining 48 were analyzed. By applying four different definitions of diarrhea, we found a broad range of incidence risks of PAAD (27%-83%). PAAD was more likely to develop in younger age groups (\leq 3 years old). Cronbach's α for the severity scale was less than 0.7. A high correlation was found between the PAAD severity score and numerical rating score of diarrhea severity reported by parents (r>0.5). Conclusion: The PAAD instrument is the first designed to measure the incidence and severity of PAAD. The instrument has content and construct validity. For reliability analyses of the severity scale, larger studies are required.

5.2 Background

Interventional studies of pediatric acute diarrhea have used heterogeneous outcome measures, often with poor reporting of their measurement properties [1]. Use of different definitions and measures, or use of measures that lack sound measurement properties, in trials with similar primary outcomes hampers comparison of results and knowledge synthesis [1, 2].

Antibiotic-associated diarrhea (AAD) is a complication of antibiotic use, likely due to resulting dysbiosis [3]. Clinical trials on prevention of AAD have mainly used probiotics as the intervention. A recent review reporting the outcomes related to pediatric antibiotic-associated adverse events in probiotic trials showed that diarrhea was only clearly defined in 21 of 37 studies. Among these 21 studies, 16 different definitions of diarrhea were documented [4]. Additionally, in a previous systematic review [5], we showed that there is a disturbing lack of evidence evaluating the validity and reliability of the most commonly used pediatric diarrhea severity scales.

The Consensus Group on Outcome Measures Made in Paediatric Enteral Nutrition Clinical Trials was established in 2012 to reach consensus on common definitions for relevant outcome measures, including acute diarrhea [6]. They developed a core outcome set (COS) and a core outcome measurement set (COMS) for clinical trials evaluating strategies for prevention and treatment of pediatric acute diarrhea and gastroenteritis [7, 8]. Although their work was novel and valuable, they did not derive a specific definition or measurement instrument for AAD.

Since existing instruments were designed to measure pediatric acute diarrhea or gastroenteritis and not specifically AAD, the primary objective of this study was to develop and validate a patient/proxy-reported measure of the incidence and severity of pediatric AAD in inpatient and outpatient settings, the Pediatric Antibiotic-Associated Diarrhea (PAAD) instrument.

5.3 Methods

This study was approved by the University of Alberta Health Research Ethics Board. Informed consent was obtained from all participants, and assent was obtained from children old enough to write their name.

5.3.1. Derivation of the PAAD instrument

Aim of the instrument: To determine the incidence and severity of AAD in children (birth to 17 years of age) who were prescribed antibiotics in inpatient and outpatient settings.

Diarrhea incidence

To determine the incidence of AAD, objective definitions of diarrhea are required. Given the previous lack of consensus, we performed a sensitivity analysis comparing the incidence of AAD in our study population using the following four common definitions:

1. Core Outcome Measurement Set for acute diarrhea (COMS) [8]: a decrease in the consistency of loose or liquid stools and, or an increase in the frequency of evacuations, typically three in 24 hours, with or without fever or vomiting.

2. World Health Organization (WHO): the passage of unusually loose or watery stools, usually at least three times in a 24-hour period.

3. Numerical Rating Scale (NRS): a 0-10 scale where 0 indicates normal bowel movement (middle of the line) and moving to the right or left indicates progressive diarrhea or constipation, respectively (Appendix G). NRS scores of 1 on the right side indicate mild diarrhea while 10 is severe diarrhea. Daily NRS scoring reflects parental opinions without the interference of recall bias.

4. Parental global report: At the end of the follow-up period, parents/guardians were asked whether, in their opinion, their child developed diarrhea during the study period.

To assess stool consistency for the first two definitions, we used the Modified Bristol Stool Form Scale (Appendix H). The original Bristol stool form scale was modified first by Chumpitazi et al. (2010) [9]. The modified scale depicts 5 categories of stool consistency using drawings with descriptive captions and has high interrater (intra-class correlation coefficients (ICC)= 0.85) and intra-rater reliability (ICC=0.87) [9] and high interobserver reliability in children 8 years and older [10]. In our study, parents of children younger than 8 years old provided proxy ratings, and we considered drawings 4 and 5 ("loose" or "watery") in the Modified Bristol Stool Form scale to be diarrhea.

Diarrhea severity

To develop items for AAD severity, we reviewed the published literature on pediatric acute diarrhea measurement. To our knowledge, two more recent scales, the 20-point Modified Vesikari Score (MVS) [11] and the International Pediatric Acute Diarrheal Diseases Scale (IPADDS) [Johnston 2009], are the only instruments for which measurement properties have been examined. The MVS was developed in Canada [11] for outpatient settings and was validated in a US population [12]. IPADDS developed by Johnston et al (2009) and its content

validity was established through a modified international Delphi study. Both scales were developed to measure the severity of acute gastroenteritis (AGE) or acute pediatric diarrhea and included vomiting and fever in the final score.

To develop our PAAD instrument, we adapted relevant items from these two scales. Vomiting and fever were not included in the calculation of total score but were collected to help distinguish between AAD and AGE. We also added the relevant constructs of the recommended COS [7] and COMS [8] in order to be consistent with other studies in this area. Lastly, we included items from our previous survey [13] that parents/guardians and pediatricians identified as key PAAD outcomes: stool frequency and consistency, diarrhea duration, prevention of dehydration, hospitalization, physician or emergency department visit, and disruption of normal daily activities (eating, sleeping, playing).

Final components of PAAD instrument

Initially, we developed different PAAD instruments for inpatient and outpatient settings. In outpatient settings, AAD severity was assessed by diarrhea duration and frequency, physician and/or nurse practitioner visits as a substitution for the dehydration item (adapted from MVS), the need for rehydration treatment (adapted from MVS) and ability to participate in normal daily activities (adapted from IPADDS). In inpatient settings, AAD severity was assessed by diarrhea duration and frequency, the need for rehydration treatment and estimated prolongation of hospital stay due to AAD.

Ultimately, we decided to use the outpatient form for all participants as none of the inpatients were treated for dehydration or had their hospital stay prolonged by AAD.

A committee of experts in clinimetrics, clinical epidemiology, general pediatrics, pediatric emergency medicine, pediatric infectious disease and pediatric gastroenterology approved the final structure and content of the PAAD instrument (Appendix H).

5.3.2. Patient engagement

In the design stage of this study, five parents and two children who were diverse in gender, education and ethnicity were engaged as part of an advisory council. They were recruited through patient/family registry invitations and word of mouth and interacted through in-person meetings and email communications with the academic research team. They reviewed the items, response options and formatting of our measurement instrument and the data collection forms and provided perspectives on the best recruitment and follow-up strategies. Study methods and data collection forms were approved by them before deployment.

5.3.3. Validation of the PAAD instrument

Study design, setting and population

A prospective observational study was conducted in the Emergency Department and ambulatory clinics of a tertiary care children's hospital in Edmonton, Canada.

We approached parents of inpatient or outpatients, birth to 17 years old, who were newly prescribed antibiotics for any reason or who were on antibiotics for fewer than seven days at the time of presentation. We asked for participation until 2 weeks after antibiotic therapy was finished (the time interval in which the incidence of AAD is highest).

Exclusion criteria:

1. Parental report of current diarrhea or diarrhea within the last week.

2. Anticipated antibiotic use for ≤ 2 days or at sub-therapeutic doses (e.g., prophylaxis).

3. Inflammatory bowel disease, irritable bowel syndrome or other causes of diarrhea.

4. Parent/guardians without phone or email access or who could not communicate in English.

5. No parents/guardians who could complete the baseline measurement.

6. Previously enrolled in this study.

Administration

The initial screening visit took place in the pediatric emergency department and ambulatory clinics of the participating hospital. After meeting the eligibility criteria and providing written informed consent, demographic information and baseline stool frequency and consistency were recorded (Appendix I and J-1). Parents/guardians were asked to record their child's stool frequency and consistency daily until two weeks after antibiotic therapy was finished (Appendix J-1). For stool consistency, they were instructed to compare their child's most abnormal stool appearance over the preceding 24 hours to the categories on the Modified Bristol Stool Form Scale. They also rated their child's most abnormal stool using the NRS. For outpatients, an additional question regarding child's normal activities (e.g., eating, sleeping, playing) was asked every day. Vomiting and fever were recorded by parents daily, and if either was present, the child was presumed to have infectious diarrhea rather than AAD. At the end of the follow-up period, parents/guardians were asked to report whether they thought that the child had diarrhea, the duration of diarrhea and if any physician/nurse practitioner visit or treatment were sought (Appendix J-2). For uniformity, every effort was made to have the parent/guardian form filled

out by the same person. All parents/guardians were contacted daily by email or text message, based on their preference, for the duration of treatment and the next two weeks. Older children were encouraged to rate their own stool.

5.3.4. Sample size

A minimum of 50 patients is recommended to calculate correlation coefficients for construct validation. For factor analysis, a minimum of 4-10 cases per item is suggested [14]. Considering that PAAD instrument had 5 items adapted from two validated instruments, we aimed to include at least 50 patients in our study.

5.3.5. Analysis

Content validity

Content validity is defined as "the degree to which the content of a measurement instrument is an adequate reflection of the construct to be measured" [15]. To ensure its relevance and comprehensiveness, we developed the items in the PAAD instrument based on previous measures for which face and content validity had been established. Items were also chosen based on our previous survey of parents and clinicians [13]. Finally, a committee of experts and patient partners approved its content and structure.

Construct validity (hypothesis testing)

• *Hypothesis testing:*

o We expected to observe high correlation (0.5 or higher) between the PAAD instrument severity score and NRS severity score (convergent validity).

o Information about child absenteeism from day care/school and parental absenteeism from work were gathered to assess the correlation between disease severity and its impact on family life. We expected to observe high correlation (0.5 or higher) between the PAAD instrument severity score and child absenteeism from day care/school and parental absenteeism from work.

Internal consistency

Internal consistency is defined as the degree of correlation among items of a uni-dimensional multi-item instrument, therefore measuring the same concept [15]. We performed exploratory factor analysis to identify the dimensions of the PAAD instrument. Internal consistency was examined separately for each dimension (subscale) by Cronbach's α [14]. Cronbach's α between 0.70 and 0.95 is considered to indicate good internal consistency [16].

5.4 Results

5.4.1. Population characteristics

Parents of 104 children were approached from August 2019 through March 2020 of which 95 agreed to participate. Eighty-five patients met eligibility criteria, of whom five were eventually excluded (3 received antibiotics for less than 2 days, and 2 received polyethylene glycol (a laxative which can cause diarrhea)). No study participants were excluded for having presumed infectious diarrhea.

Of the remaining 80 participants, 32 (40%) were lost to follow-up (never responded or responded for only one or two days), hereafter referred to as "non-respondents". The remaining 48 participants responded for at least the duration of their antibiotic therapy and were included in

data analysis. The only significant difference between respondents and non-respondents was parental age (Table 5.1).

5.4.2. Incidence of AAD

The incidence of AAD based on the four definitions of diarrhea was as follows: The COMS definition: 40/48 (83%), the WHO definition: 24/48 (50%), the NRS definition: 37/48 (77%), and the parental global report at the end of the study: 13/39 (27%).

Gender, ethnicity, antibiotic type and duration were not risk factors for developing AAD by any of the definitions (Appendix K). We categorized children into three age groups [group 1 (0-3 years old), group 2 (4-6 years old), and group 3 (>6 years old)] as a post-hoc analysis and found the youngest age group (0-3 years old) had the highest risk of developing AAD according to three of the four definitions - parental global report was the exception (P=0.07) (Appendix K).

5.4.3. Severity of AAD

Scoring

Table 5.2 shows the PAAD instrument severity components. The instrument has a minimum of 0 and maximum of 15 points. To define cut-points for mild, moderate, and severe AAD, we looked at the distribution of item scores among our population. Considering that most patients scored zero in the "daily activities", "physician/nurse practitioner visit", and "treatment" items, we defined severity categories as follows: 0 as no-diarrhea, 2-3 as mild, 4-5 as moderate and >= 6 as severe.

Distribution of scores

Figure 5.1 shows the distribution of severity scores based on different definitions. As shown, skewness and kurtosis are minimal in COMS and NRS definitions. The severity scores distribution based on the WHO definition is slightly right skewed but still in the acceptable range. The parent reported distribution, however, is more skewed towards the right tail and kurtosis is also high, both showing less severe scores based on this definition.

Reliability analysis

Most patients scored zero for "daily activities", "physician/nurse practitioner visit" and "dehydration treatment" in the PAAD instrument. As a result, we were not able to conduct factor analysis. Cronbach's α was less than 0.7 for all definitions, indicating low internal consistency (Appendix L). In the inter-item correlation matrix (Appendix M), only "diarrhea frequency" showed acceptable correlation with other items of the severity scale. The corrected item-total correlation shows the correlation between that item score and sum of the scores of the remaining items. If the correlation is more than 0.3, it shows the item can discriminate between patients with different severities and should remain in the scale [14]. Appendix N shows "diarrhea duration" and "diarrhea frequency" meet these criteria.

Construct validity (hypothesis testing)

We observed high correlation (0.5 or higher) between the PAAD instrument severity score and worst NRS score, confirming our a priori hypothesis and demonstrating convergent validity (Table 5.3).

Since only one child missed daycare/school because of diarrhea, we were unable to analyze the correlation between the PAAD instrument severity score and child absenteeism from daycare/school and parental absenteeism from work. Out of 34 children with AAD according to

the COMS definition, 19 (56%) did not miss daycare/school and the question was not applicable in the remaining 14 (41%) participants. For parents, 30/34 (88%) did not miss work and the question was not applicable in the other 4 (12%).

5.5 Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first study to develop an instrument to measure the incidence and severity of AAD in children. Engagement of parents and children in this process was a highlight of this study. Content and construct validity, and internal consistency were examined, and promising results were obtained for the PAAD instrument.

The incidence of AAD reported by observational and clinical trials varies significantly, depending on the sample size, the definition and diagnostic criteria used. For broad spectrum antibiotics, the risk of developing AAD has been reported to be 11 to 40% in children [3]. Other studies report an even wider 5 to 62% risk [3].

In our study, despite daily recording and using a standardized validated instrument to assess stool consistency (modified Bristol stool form scale), we found a broad range in incidence of AAD using four different definitions of diarrhea. When a change in stool consistency from baseline was considered the main indication of diarrhea (COMS definition), the incidence observed was very high (83%). Conversely, only about one-quarter of parents thought that their child had diarrhea, suggesting that parents only considered it to be diarrhea if their child developed a marked change in stool consistency and/or frequency.

In contrast, applying the definition of three or more loose or liquid/watery bowel movements per day (WHO definition), showed a 50% incidence of diarrhea. Using the same definition an
observational study of 75 children up to 12 years old with acute respiratory tract infections also showed a 52% prevalence of AAD [17] although a prospective study of 289 children up to 17 years old showed a 20% incidence of AAD [18].

In our study, children in the youngest age group (0-3 years old) were most likely to have AAD as shown in previous studies [17, 18]. This is thought to be related to immaturity of the gastrointestinal tract and microbiota alterations in younger children [18]. Antibiotic type and duration did not affect the risk of developing AAD in our study. However, as the majority of participants were exposed to relatively few antibiotic types, our ability to comment on antibiotic type as a risk factor for AAD was constrained.

Regarding the PAAD instrument severity scores, the distributions seemed symmetrical for all diarrhea definitions except the parental global report. Consistent with results of a previous study [19], our results showed that most patients developed AAD of mild to moderate severity.

We were unable to run the reliability analyses (factor analysis and internal consistency) for the severity scale of the PAAD instrument because most of our patients scored zero for the three items of "daily activities", "physician/nurse practitioner visit" and "dehydration treatment". This also could explain the low Cronbach's α shown in our study according to the different diarrhea definitions. Furthermore, low Cronbach's α could be due to low correlation between the items of an instrument, heterogenous constructs or low number of items (20). The PAAD instrument only has five items, and the constructs could be diverse. It should be noted that the MVS from which some items of the PAAD instrument were adapted, also showed low Cronbach's α . The authors attributed this finding to the low number of items (seven items) and possibly distinct constructs but mentioned that it did not affect the validity of their scale (11). Studies with larger sample

sizes may include children with different severities of AAD which therefore enables a more accurate examination of internal consistency of the PAAD severity instrument. The high correlation found between the PAAD instrument severity score and the worst NRS score confirmed the convergent validity of the PAAD instrument. However, there was insufficient data to determine the impact of AAD on family life.

Small sample size was the main limitation of our study. Although we reached the minimum number of participants required [14] despite the unexpectedly high attrition rate and restrictions in doing clinical research at the hospital due to the COVID pandemic, many references recommend 100 participants in validation studies to reflect the full spectrum of illness severity. Future larger studies with children who are more severely affected are required to enable accurate examination of the internal consistency as well as the impact of disease severity on family life.

Conclusion

The first instrument to measure the incidence and severity of pediatric AAD was successfully designed and assessed for its measurement properties with the engagement of parents/children in the process of development. The PAAD instrument has content and construct validity. For reliability analyses, larger studies are needed, including children with more severe AAD.

5.6 References

 Johnston BC, Shamseer L, da Costa BR, et al. Measurement issues in trials of pediatric acute diarrheal diseases: a systematic review. Pediatrics 2010;126(1):e222-e31

- Szajewska H. Supplementation of infant formula with probiotics/prebiotics: lessons learned with regard to documenting outcomes. Journal of clinical gastroenterology 2012;46:S67-S68
- 3. Guo Q, Goldenberg JZ, Humphrey C, et al. Probiotics for the prevention of pediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhea. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2019(4)
- Łukasik J, Guo Q, Boulos L, et al. Probiotics for the prevention of antibiotic-associated adverse events in children—A scoping review to inform development of a core outcome set. PloS one 2020;15(5):e0228824
- Ardestani SK, Ishaque S, Robinson J, et al. Evaluation of measurement properties of pediatric acute diarrheal severity scoring systems. Trials 2015;16(3):1-2
- Koletzko B, Szajewska H, Ashwell M, et al. Documentation of functional and clinical effects of infant nutrition: setting the scene for COMMENT. Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism 2012;60(4):222-32
- Karas J, Ashkenazi S, Guarino A. Consensus Group on Outcome Measures Made in Paediatric Enteral Nutrition Clinical Trials (COMMENT). A core outcome set for clinical trials in acute diarrhoea. Arch Dis Child 2015;100:359-63
- Karas J, Ashkenazi S, Guarino A, et al. Developing a core outcome measurement set for clinical trials in acute diarrhoea. Acta Paediatrica 2016;105(4):e176-e80
- Chumpitazi BP, Lane MM, Czyzewski DI, et al. Creation and initial evaluation of a Stool Form Scale for children. The Journal of pediatrics 2010;157(4):594-97
- Lane MM, Czyzewski DI, Chumpitazi BP, et al. Reliability and validity of a modified Bristol Stool Form Scale for children. The Journal of pediatrics 2011;159(3):437-41. e1

- 11. Freedman SB, Eltorky M, Gorelick M, Group PERCGS. Evaluation of a gastroenteritis severity score for use in outpatient settings. Pediatrics 2010;125(6):e1278-e85
- 12. Schnadower D, Tarr PI, Gorelick MH, et al. Validation of the modified Vesikari score in children with gastroenteritis in 5 US emergency departments. Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition 2013;57(4):514
- 13. Ardestani SK, Robinson JL, Dieleman LA, et al. Surveys of parents and clinicians concerning the minimally important difference of probiotic therapy for prevention of paediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhoea. BMJ open 2019;9(4):e024651
- De Vet HC, Terwee CB, Mokkink LB, et al. Measurement in medicine: a practical guide: Cambridge university press, 2011.
- 15. Mokkink LB, Terwee CB, Patrick DL, et al. The COSMIN study reached international consensus on taxonomy, terminology, and definitions of measurement properties for health-related patient-reported outcomes. Journal of clinical epidemiology 2010;63(7):737-45
- 16. Terwee CB, Bot SD, de Boer MR, et al. Quality criteria were proposed for measurement properties of health status questionnaires. Journal of clinical epidemiology 2007;60(1):34-42
- Popov SV, Smiian OI, Loboda AM, et al. Peculiarities of antibiotic-associated diarrhea development in children with acute respiratory infections. 2019
- 18. Baù M, Moretti A, Bertoni E, et al. Risk and protective factors for gastrointestinal symptoms associated with antibiotic treatment in children: a population study. Pediatric gastroenterology, hepatology & nutrition 2020;23(1):35-48

19. McFarland LV, Ozen M, Dinleyici EC, et al. Comparison of pediatric and adult

antibiotic-associated diarrhea and Clostridium difficile infections. World journal of

gastroenterology 2016;22(11):3078

5.7 Tables and figures

Table 5. 1 General characteristics of children enrolled in a study to validate a measure of antibiotic associated diarrhea (PAAD)

	Respondents (N=48)	Non-respondents (N=30)	P value
Outpatient, n (%)	40 (83%) outpatients	26 (87%) outpatients	0.75
Inpatient, n (%)	8 (17%) inpatients	4 (13%) inpatients	
Duration of hospitalization	2-7 days	1-3 days	
Patient's Age (years)			
Range	1 month- 16 y	4 months-17 y	0.39
Mean (SD)	4.2 (3.9) years	5.1(5.1) years	
Sex, n (%)	25 (52%) Male	15 (50%) Male	0.85
Ethnicity, n (%)			
White/ European/ Caucasian	25 (52.1%)	12 (42.9%)	0.09
East and South East Asians	3 (6.2%)	1 (3.6%)	
South Asians	4 (8.3%)	2 (7.1%)	
Middle Eastern	6 (12.5%)	0	
Black	1 (2.1%)	3 (10.7%)	
Latin American	2 (4.2%)	0	
North American Indigenous	1 (2.1%)	3 (10.7%)	
Other (Mixed, Pacific Islander)	6 (12.5%)	7 (25%)	
Primary diagnosis, n (%)			
Pneumonia	11 (22.9%)	9 (30%)	0.5
Acute otitis media	6 (12.5%)	6 (20%)	
Urinary tract infection	8 (16.7%)	1 (3.3%)	
Cellulitis	9 (18.8%)	6 (20%)	
Abscess	2 (4.2%)	2 (6.7%)	
Sepsis	3 (6.2%)	0	
Animal bite	3 (6.2%)	3 (10%)	
Other (Febrile neutropenia, lymphadenitis,	6 (12.5%)	3 (10%)	
conjunctivitis, sinusitis, pharyngitis,			
balanitis)			-
Antibiotic name, n (%)			
Amoxicillin	14 (29.2%)	9 (30%)	0.07
Amoxicillin-clavulanate	5 (10.4%)	4 (13.3%)	
Cephalosporins	21(43.8%)	6 (20%)	
Combination of penicillin and cephalosporin	3 (6.2%)	1 (3.3%)	
class	1 (2 10/)	5 (16 70/)	
With the second	1(2.1%)	5(10.7%) 5(1(70/)	
Uner (IMP/SMX, Piperacillin-tazobactam,	4 (8.3%)	3 (10./%)	
clindamycin, other combinations)	l		+
Duration of antibiotic therapy, days		5 14 1	0.22
Kange	3-28 days,	5-14 days,	0.33
Mean (SD)	8.3 (4.29)	1.5 (2.2)	

Parent age n (%)			
< 20 or younger	0	0	0.03
21-25	2 (4.3%)	3 (11.5%)	
26-30	5 (10.9%)	7 (26.9%)	
31-35	14 (30.4%)	3 (11.5%)	
36-40	16 (34.8%)	8 (30.8%)	
41-45	8 (17.4%)	2 (7.7%)	
46-50	1 (2.2%)	0	
>51	0	3 (11.5%)	
Parent gender, n (%)	37 (78.7%) female	20 (69%) female	0.34
Parental education, n (%)			
Bachelor's degree	28 (59.6%)	11 (47.8%)	
Post-secondary education without	11 (23.4%)	5 (21.7%)	0.34
bachelor's degree			
High school diploma	7 (14.9%)	4 (17.4%)	
Did not finish high school	1 (2.1%)	3 (13%)	

Table 5. 2 Pediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhea (PAAD) instrument severity components

	0 point	1 point	2 points	3 points
Diarrhea duration, days	0	1-4	5	>=6
Diarrhea frequency (maximum number of diarrheal stools in 24 hours)	0	1-3	4-5	>=6
Daily activities	Normal	Reduced	Not able to participate	Hospitalized due to diarrhea
Physician/nurse practitioner visit	None	Outpatient	Emergency department visit	Hospitalized due to diarrhea
Treatment	None	Oral Rehydration	IV Rehydration	Hospitalized due to diarrhea

Table 5. 3 Correlation between PAAD severity score and worst NRS reported by parents

	COMS (n=47)	WHO (n=47)	NRS (n=47)	Parent (n=36)	Worst recorded NRS severity score (n=47)
Worst recorded NRS severity	0.66*	0.6*	0.79*	0.52*	1

*Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed) ** Spearman's rho correlation coefficients were calculated.

COMS: Core Outcome Measurement Set; NRS: Numerical Rating Scale, WHO: World Health Organization



Distribution of severity scores according to COMS definition Skewness (SE): 0.25 (0.34), Kurtosis (SE): -0.63 (0.67), Median: 2, Range: 0-7 Severity categories: No diarrhea: 8(17%), Mild: 24(50%), Moderate: 11(23%), Severe: 5(10%)



Distribution of severity scores according to NRS definition Skewness (SE): 0.12 (0.34), Kurtosis (SE): -0.86 (0.67), Median: 3, Range: 0-7 Severity categories: No diarrhea: 11(23%), Mild: 18(37.5%), Moderate: 13(27%), Severe: 6(12.5%)



Distribution of severity scores according to WHO definition Skewness (SE): 0.88 (0.34), Kurtosis (SE): -0.19 (0.67), Median: 1, Range: 0-7 Severity categories: No diarrhea: 24(50%), Mild: 14(29%), Moderate: 7(15%), Severe: 3(6%)



Distribution of severity scores according to parent report Skewness (SE): 1.69 (0.39), Kurtosis (SE): 1.77 (0.76), Median: 0, Range: 0-6 Severity categories: No diarrhea: 26(54%), Mild: 6(13%), Moderate: 3(6%), Severe: 2(4%), Missing: 11(23%)

Figure 5. 1 Distribution of severity scores according to different definitions

Chapter 6. Conclusion

6.1 Summary of key findings

This doctoral dissertation was performed to investigate the role of patient engagement with a focus on children and their parents/guardians in developing pediatric patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) and determining minimal important difference (MID). The four chapters consist of two review studies, one survey and one validation study.

In chapter 2, the engagement of children and parents/guardians in developing pediatric PROMs was explored in the published literature through a systematic review. In most studies found by this review, feedback from children and/or parents/guardians was sought on specific research activities when needed (*consult* level). Only six studies engaged children and/or their parents/guardian as members of advisory groups/councils (*involve* level) or as co-researchers and members of scientific steering committees (*collaborate* level). Qualitative research methods such as focus groups and interviews were the most common methods of obtaining opinions. Child/parent input was mainly employed in developing a conceptual framework, item generation, and testing the content validity (including relevance, comprehensibility, and ease of administration) of the PROMs.

In chapter 3, we reviewed studies to reveal the engagement of patients of any age in determining MID for any intervention in any clinical condition. This review highlighted the scarcity of studies involving adolescents and/or parents/guardians. Trade-off techniques were used most often for direct elicitation of patients' views. We observed considerable heterogeneity in the terminology used for MID, the interventions and outcomes that MID were calculated for, and the different MID estimates for the same clinical condition.

In chapter 4, we conducted a survey to sample parent and clinician opinions about probiotic consumption, MID of probiotics for prevention of pediatric AAD, and important outcomes to be measured in clinical trials of AAD. For the MID question, we employed a trade-off technique. According to the half of the participants, risk of developing AAD needed to be decreased at least 40% for parents or clinicians to consider it worthwhile to consume/recommend probiotics. In our study participants, demographic characteristics, previous experience of AAD and familiarity with probiotics were (surprisingly) not found to be related with the choice of MID. To support future instrument development to measure pediatric AAD, specific outcomes were also rated for their importance to parents and clinicians.

Chapter 5 describes our final study in which we developed, and validity tested a novel instrument to measure the incidence and severity of pediatric AAD (PAAD instrument). Parents and children were engaged in the process of development as members of our advisory council ("involve" level). Their opinions were sought to develop the items and response options, format the instrument and data collection forms, and develop strategies to improve recruitment and follow-up of the participants. The items of the PAAD instrument were based on i) the outcomes identified by parents and clinicians as being most important (Chapter 4); ii) relevant constructs of a core outcome measurement set for pediatric acute diarrhea; and iii) relevant items of two previously validated instruments of pediatric acute diarrhea. Internal consistency and convergent validity of the instrument were examined. This study revealed a broad range of AAD incidence when using different definitions, emphasizing the need for a consistent definition of AAD across studies.

6.2 Limitations

Review studies (Chapters 2 and 3):

Patient-oriented research (POR) and patient engagement have been emerging issues in the last decade, but further work is required to address several challenges. For instance, inconsistent terminology used in the literature may have limited the ability of our search strategies to be as comprehensive as possible.

While some POR guidelines for researchers and patients exist, the current evidence lacks homogeneous frameworks for patient engagement which hamper comparison and interpretation of findings.

Survey study (chapter 4):

The generalizability of our findings in the survey study might have been limited by recruitment from a single site (patients and their parents in a pediatric emergency department and pediatricians at the associated Children's hospital) which represent a small fraction of the target population. Participating parents had a higher level of education than the provincial average. Additionally, clinicians who participated in our survey were all hospital-based academic pediatricians who may have been more familiar with probiotics than other medical specialists or community-based providers. Although our study did not find any correlation between parental education and previous familiarity with probiotics (for both parents and clinicians) with the choice of MID, these characteristics may also have affected the generalizability of our findings.

Validation study (chapter 5):

Considering the longitudinal design of the validation study, the main limitation was the small sample size due to the high attrition rate. Except for parental age, no significant difference was

found between respondents and non-respondents. Daily reporting for at least three weeks was difficult for many participants to sustain, and our access to them was limited to email or phone reminders. Most participants in our study developed mild symptoms, which is typical for AAD. Increasing the sample size may have enhanced the possibility of capturing the full spectrum of illness severity and thus enabled more accurate examination of the PAAD instrument measurement properties.

While invaluable, engagement with patients had its own challenges in this study. First, recruitment was both time and energy intensive. We tried different recruitment strategies; however, word of mouth was the most efficient. Second, due to the COVID pandemic and time limitations, meetings were logistically difficult to arrange with parents/children on our advisory council. Despite this, we received valuable feedback from patient partners regarding potential ethical or feasibility issues, which was used to modify the study until concerns were resolved.

6.3 Implications for research

According to the principle of "nothing about me without me", the importance of patient engagement in developing PROMs is apparent in both research and clinical care. While this has been addressed in some pediatric PROMs, our systematic review showed the low level of engagement in most studies. Moreover, conflating patients as participants of qualitative studies versus patients as research partners remains controversial and ambiguous. Future research should be transparent in terms of the methodology used and require adherence to standard guidelines developed to facilitate the engagement of patients in the process of PROM development. Furthermore, most studies overlook reporting the impact of patient engagement throughout the research enterprise. Using the Guidance for Reporting Involvement of Patients and Public-2

(GRIPP-2) checklist at the initial stages of the research cycle would help ensure all aspects of patient engagement have been addressed and facilitate manuscript preparation.

Obtaining patient perspectives for the interpretation of research findings is also worthwhile. This was highlighted in our scoping review in which we showed the paucity of evidence regarding estimation of MIDs with direct patient input, especially in the pediatric population. Recent trends of conducting mixed method studies for MID determination, in which estimates calculated by anchor and distribution methods are supported by the findings of qualitative studies, are promising. These methods are helpful to overcome the considerable heterogeneity of MID estimates by generating a single MID or a narrow range of MID for a specific clinical condition.

In our survey study, we actively involved the target population (parents and clinicians) to establish MID for use of probiotics in preventing pediatric AAD. This patient-driven MID can be used to calculate sample size in future RCTs and interpret their findings. As parents/caregivers are the ultimate decision-makers about their child's health, identifying the outcomes that are most important to them will improve the applicability and relevance of future studies.

Our novel PAAD instrument can be used in future studies to provide a standardized measure of the incidence and severity of AAD in children. By developing this specific outcome instrument with the active engagement of parents and children, accurate measurement of outcomes that are most important and relevant to them are enabled. Our goal is for results of clinical studies using the PAAD instrument to be comparable, facilitating knowledge synthesis.

6.4 Implications for clinical practice

Integrating PROMs into routine clinical practice is on the rise (1). Having patient perspectives about the physical, psychological, social, and emotional aspects of their health is essential in improving quality of care. Although age and developmental considerations remain a challenge in developing and using pediatric PROMs, their positive impact on improving health-related quality of life and quality of care has been reported (2). The relevance and applicability of these instruments will be enhanced by greater engagement of children and families in this process, from selection of the most important outcomes to development of an accurate PROM, and/or even in selecting the most suitable existing PROM.

Patient-driven MIDs help increase patient satisfaction and adherence to treatment advice (3). We obtained family and clinician views on probiotics as an example of a therapy which is accessible without prescription and asked what threshold they recognize as meaningful for the prevention of pediatric AAD. Interestingly, we found high levels of familiarity with probiotics and positive perceptions about their safety and effectiveness. There was also good agreement between parents and clinicians regarding MID of probiotics for this clinical condition.

6.5 Future directions

Based on the results of this doctoral thesis, the next steps are recommended:

- Higher levels of engagement of children and parents at all stages of pediatric PROM development, from study design to interpretation and dissemination of its findings.
- Reporting in more detail on positive and negative effects of child/family engagement on developing PROMs and determining MID and investigating how these factors impact the engagement and the quality of resulted PROM and MID.

- Developing mixed method studies and finding the best method to reconcile the distribution, anchor and qualitative data that results in a narrow range of MIDs for specific interventions and outcomes.
- Using the estimated MID derived from parent and clinician opinions in calculating sample size and interpreting the data of future RCTs on probiotics for prevention of pediatric AAD
- Conducting larger studies with children who are more severely affected to test the reliability of PAAD instrument and to measure the impact of AAD severity on family life.

6.6 Conclusion

This doctoral dissertation focused on patient engagement in the development of pediatric PROMs and MID determination. Our review studies showed that existing evidence regarding children/families' engagement in these areas is sparse and at a preliminary stage. Potential directions for future research were suggested in this thesis. We chose pediatric AAD and probiotics as our clinical conditions to implement patient-centered approaches in determining MID and developing an instrument to measure the incidence and severity of pediatric AAD. Parent and clinician opinions were obtained regarding MID of probiotics for preventing pediatric AAD and good agreement was found. The estimated MID will help in sample size calculation and interpretation of results of future RCTs. Lastly, the PAAD instrument was developed, and validity tested to measure pediatric AAD, with parents and children as members of our advisory council. Limitations of this study along with suggestions for future studies were discussed.

6.7 References

- Bele S, Chugh A, Mohamed B, Teela L, Haverman L, Santana MJ. Patient-reported outcome measures in routine pediatric clinical care: a systematic review. Frontiers in pediatrics. 2020 Jul 28;8:364.
- Bird D, Culley L, Lakhanpaul M. Why collaborate with children in health research: an analysis of the risks and benefits of collaboration with children. Archives of Disease in Childhood-Education and Practice. 2013 Jan 1:edpract-2012.
- Ferreira ML, Herbert RD, Ferreira PH, Latimer J, Ostelo RW, Nascimento DP, Smeets RJ. A critical review of methods used to determine the smallest worthwhile effect of interventions for low back pain. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 2012 Mar 1;65(3):253-61.

Thesis References (Alphabetical order)

- Aarabi M, Skinner J, Price CE, et al. Patients' acceptance of antihypertensive therapy to prevent cardiovascular disease: a comparison between South Asians and Caucasians in the United Kingdom. *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil*. 2008;15(1):59-66.
- 2. Adair CE, Marcoux GC, Cram BS, Ewashen CJ, Chafe J, Cassin SE, Pinzon J, Gusella JL, Geller J, Scattolon Y, Fergusson P. Development and multi-site validation of a new condition-specific quality of life measure for eating disorders. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes. 2007 Dec;5(1):1-4.
- 3. Adams M, Robling M, Grainger J, Tomlins J, Johnson A, Morris S, Velangi M, Jenney M. Quality of life Evaluation in patients receiving Steroids (the QuESt tool): initial development in children and young people with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Archives of disease in childhood. 2016 Mar 1;101(3):241-6.
- Akram AJ, Jerreat AS, Woodford J, Sandy JR, Ireland AJ. Development of a conditionspecific measure to assess quality of life in patients with hypodontia. Orthodontics & craniofacial research. 2011 Aug;14(3):160-7.
- Alam S, Mushtaq M. Antibiotic associated diarrhea in children. Indian Pediatr. 2009 Jun;46(6):491-6.
- Amirav I, Vandall-Walker V, Rasiah J, Saunders L. Patient and researcher engagement in health research: a parent's perspective. Pediatrics. 2017 Sep 1;140(3):e20164127.
- 7. Angeles-Han ST, Griffin KW, Harrison MJ, Lehman TJ, Leong T, Robb RR, Shainberg M, Ponder L, Lenhart P, Hutchinson A, Srivastava SK. Development of a vision-related quality of life instrument for children ages 8–18 years for use in juvenile idiopathic arthritis–associated uveitis. Arthritis care & research. 2011 Sep;63(9):1254-61.

- 8. Aparicio López C, Fernández Escribano A, Luque de Pablos A, Izquierdo García E, Garrido Cantanero G. Design of a quality of life questionnaire in Spanish for children with chronic renal disease. Nefrología (English Edition). 2010 Mar 1;30(2):168-76.
- 9. Arbuckle R, Abetz L, Durmer JS, Ivanenko A, Owens JA, Croenlein J, Bolton K, Moore A, Allen RP, Walters AS, Picchietti DL. Development of the Pediatric Restless Legs Syndrome Severity Scale (P-RLS-SS)©: A patient-reported outcome measure of pediatric RLS symptoms and impact. Sleep Medicine. 2010 Oct 1;11(9):897-906.
- Ardelt PU, Cederqvist M, Barth M, Frankenschmidt A. The SIGHT questionnaire: a novel assessment tool for satisfaction in genital hypospadias treatment. Journal of Pediatric Urology. 2017 Feb 1;13(1):33-e1.
- 11. Ardestani SK, Ishaque S, Robinson J, et al. Evaluation of measurement properties of pediatric acute diarrheal severity scoring systems. Trials 2015;16(3):1-2
- 12. Ardestani SK, Robinson JL, Dieleman LA, et al. Surveys of parents and clinicians concerning the minimally important difference of probiotic therapy for prevention of paediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhoea. BMJ open 2019;9(4):e024651
- Armstrong FD, Toledano SR, Miloslavich K, Lackman-Zeman L, Levy JD, Gay CL, Schuman WB, Fishkin PE. The Miami pediatric quality of life questionnaire: parent scale. International Journal of Cancer. 1999;83(S12):11-7.
- Arvola T, Laiho K, Torkkeli S, et al. Prophylactic Lactobacillus GG reduces antibioticassociated diarrhea in children with respiratory infections: a randomized study. *Pediatrics*. 1999;104(5):e64.
- 15. Babajimopoulos M. Consumer's knowledge on probiotics and consumption of these products in the city of Thessaloniki, Greece. *Consumer & Nutrition*. 2005:155.

- 16. Barker DH, Lloyd TQ, Stewart PK, Wells MG. Psychometric validation of the Preschool Outcome Questionnaire: A preschool treatment outcome instrument. Journal of Child and Family Studies. 2010 Aug;19(4):504-15.
- 17. Barnard D, Woloski M, Feeny D, McCusker P, Wu J, David M, Bussel J, Lusher J, Wakefield C, Henriques S, Blanchette V. Development of disease-specific health-related quality-of-life instruments for children with immune thrombocytopenic purpura and their parents. Journal of pediatric hematology/oncology. 2003 Jan 1;25(1):56-62.
- 18. Barrett B, Brown R, Mundt M, et al. Using benefit harm tradeoffs to estimate sufficiently important difference: the case of the common cold. *Med Decis Making*. 2005;25: 47e55.
- 19. Barrett B, Haraban B, Brown D, et al. Sufficiently important difference for common cold: severity reduction. *Ann Fam Med.* 2007;5:216e23.
- 20. Bartlett JG. Antibiotic-associated diarrhea. N Engl J Med. 2002; 346(5):334-339.
- 21. Baù M, Moretti A, Bertoni E, et al. Risk and protective factors for gastrointestinal symptoms associated with antibiotic treatment in children: a population study. Pediatric gastroenterology, hepatology & nutrition 2020;23(1):35-48
- 22. Bearss K, Taylor CA, Aman MG, Whittemore R, Lecavalier L, Miller J, Pritchett J, Green B, Scahill L. Using qualitative methods to guide scale development for anxiety in youth with autism spectrum disorder. Autism. 2016 Aug;20(6):663-72.
- 23. Beaugerie L, Petit JC. Microbial-gut interactions in health and disease. Antibioticassociated diarrhoea. *Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol*. 2004;18(2):337-52.
- 24. Bele S, Chugh A, Mohamed B, Teela L, Haverman L, Santana MJ. Patient-reported outcome measures in routine pediatric clinical care: a systematic review. Frontiers in pediatrics. 2020 Jul 28;8:364.

- 25. Benhamou PH, Berlier P, Danjou G, et al. Antibiotic-associated diarrhoea in children: A computer monitored double-blind outpatients trial comparing a protective and a probiotic agent. *Méd Chir Dig.* 1999;28(4):163–8.
- 26. Benson PE, Cunningham SJ, Shah N, Gilchrist F, Baker SR, Hodges SJ, Marshman Z. Development of the Malocclusion Impact Questionnaire (MIQ) to measure the oral health-related quality of life of young people with malocclusion: part 2–cross-sectional validation. Journal of orthodontics. 2016 Jan 2;43(1):14-23.
- Bergogne-Bérézin E. Treatment and prevention of antibiotic associated diarrhea. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2000;16(4):521-6.
- 28. Berrington A, Borriello SP, Brazier J, Duckworth G, Foster K, Freeman R, et al. National Clostridium difficile Standards Group: Report to the Department of Health. Journal of Hospital Infection 2004;56 Suppl 1:1–38.
- 29. Bevans KB, Meltzer LJ, De La Motte A, Kratchman A, Viél D, Forrest CB. Qualitative development and content validation of the PROMIS Pediatric Sleep Health items. Behavioral Sleep Medicine. 2019 Sep 3;17(5):657-71.
- Bevans KB, Moon J, Becker BD, Carle A, Forrest CB. Development of patient-reported outcome measures of children's oral health aesthetics. Community dentistry and oral epidemiology. 2020 Oct;48(5):423-32.
- 31. Bevans KB, Riley AW, Landgraf JM, Carle AC, Teneralli RE, Fiese BH, Meltzer LJ, Ettinger AK, Becker BD, Forrest CB. Children's family experiences: development of the PROMIS® pediatric family relationships measures. Quality of Life Research. 2017 Nov;26(11):3011-23.

- 32. Bird D, Culley L, Lakhanpaul M. Why collaborate with children in health research: an analysis of the risks and benefits of collaboration with children. Archives of Disease in Childhood-Education and Practice. 2013 Jan 1:edpract-2012.
- 33. Blackburn SJ. Patient involvement vs. patient participation in qualitative research in the development of PROMs. Health Expectations. 2017 Jun 1;20(3):371-2.
- 34. Blackwell CK, Wakschlag L, Krogh-Jespersen S, Buss KA, Luby J, Bevans K, Lai JS, Forrest CB, Cella D. Pragmatic health assessment in early childhood: The PROMIS® of developmentally based measurement for pediatric psychology. Journal of pediatric psychology. 2020 Apr 1;45(3):311-8.
- 35. Bloemeke J, Sommer R, Witt S, Dabs M, Badia FJ, Bullinger M, Quitmann J. Piloting and psychometric properties of a patient-reported outcome instrument for young people with achondroplasia based on the International Classification of Functioning Disability and Health: the Achondroplasia Personal Life Experience Scale (APLES). Disability and rehabilitation. 2019 Jul 17;41(15):1815-25.
- 36. Bokhary KA, Suttle C, Alotaibi AG, Stapleton F, Boon MY. Development and validation of the 21-item children's vision for living scale (CVLS) by Rasch analysis. Clinical and Experimental Optometry. 2013 Nov 1;96(6):566-76.
- 37. Bourke-Taylor H, Howie L, Law M. Impact of caring for a school-aged child with a disability: Understanding mothers' perspectives. Australian Occupational Therapy Journal. 2010 Apr;57(2):127-36.
- 38. Bourke-Taylor H, Law M, Howie L, Pallant JF. Development of the Assistance to Participate Scale (APS) for children's play and leisure activities. Child: Care, Health and Development. 2009 Sep;35(5):738-45.

- 39. Bower WF, Wong EM, Yeung CK. Development of a validated quality of life tool specific to children with bladder dysfunction. Neurourology and Urodynamics: Official Journal of the International Continence Society. 2006;25(3):221-7.
- Bower WF. Self-reported effect of childhood incontinence on quality of life. Journal of Wound Ostomy & Continence Nursing. 2008 Nov 1;35(6):617-21.
- 41. Bramhagen AC, Eriksson M, Ericsson E, Nilsson U, Harden S, Idvall E. Self-reported post-operative recovery in children: development of an instrument. Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice. 2016 Apr;22(2):180-8.
- 42. Buck D, Smith M, Appleton R, Baker GA, Jacoby A. The development and validation of the Epilepsy and Learning Disabilities Quality of Life (ELDQOL) scale. Epilepsy & behavior. 2007 Feb 1;10(1):38-43.
- 43. Bullinger MV, Von Mackensen S, Fischer K, Khair K, Petersen C, Ravens-Sieberer U, Rocino A, Sagnier P, Tusell JM, Van Den Berg M, Vicariot M. Pilot testing of the 'Haemo-QoL'quality of life questionnaire for haemophiliac children in six European countries. Haemophilia. 2002 Mar;8:47-54.
- 44. Canadian Institutes of Health Research. Strategy for patient-oriented research patient engagement framework. <u>https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/48413.html</u> (accessed 2022, July 15).
- 45. Carlton J, Peasgood T, Khan S, Barber R, Bostock J, Keetharuth AD. An emerging framework for fully incorporating public involvement (PI) into patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs). Journal of Patient-Reported Outcomes. 2020 Dec;4(1):1-0.
- 46. Carlton J. Developing the draft descriptive system for the child amblyopia treatment questionnaire (CAT-Qol): a mixed methods study. Health and quality of life outcomes. 2013 Dec;11(1):1-9.

- 47. Cejas I, Coto J, Sarangoulis C, Sanchez CM, Quittner AL. Quality of Life-CI: Development of an Early Childhood Parent-Proxy and Adolescent Version. Ear and hearing. 2021 Jul 1;42(4):1072-83.
- 48. Cella D, Yount S, Rothrock N, Gershon R, Cook K, Reeve B, Ader D, Fries JF, Bruce B, Rose M. The Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS): progress of an NIH Roadmap cooperative group during its first two years. Medical care. 2007 May;45(5 Suppl 1):S3.
- 49. Chhina H, Klassen A, Kopec JA, Oliffe J, Cooper A. International multiphase mixed methods study protocol to develop a patient-reported outcome instrument for children and adolescents with lower limb deformities. BMJ open. 2019 May 1;9(5):e027079.
- 50. Chhina H, Klassen AF, Kopec JA, Oliffe J, Iobst C, Dahan-Oliel N, Aggarwal A, Nunn T, Cooper AP. What matters to children with lower limb deformities: an international qualitative study guiding the development of a new patient-reported outcome measure. Journal of patient-reported outcomes. 2021 Dec;5(1):1-2.
- 51. Chin-Lee B, Curry WJ, Fetterman J, et al. Patient experience and use of probiotics in community-based health care settings. *Patient prefer adherence*. 2014;8:1513.
- 52. Cho YI, Johnson TP, VanGeest JB. Enhancing surveys of health care professionals: a meta-analysis of techniques to improve response. *Eval health prof.* 2013;36(3):382-407.
- 53. Christie G, Marsh R, Sheridan J, Wheeler A, Suaalii-Sauni T, Black S, Butler R. The Substances and Choices Scale (SACS)-The development and testing of a new alcohol and other drug screening and outcome measurement instrument for young people. Addiction. 2007 Sep;102(9):1390-8.

- 54. Chumpitazi BP, Lane MM, Czyzewski DI, et al. Creation and initial evaluation of a Stool Form Scale for children. The Journal of pediatrics 2010;157(4):594-97
- 55. Cochrane G, Lamoureux E, Keeffe J. Defining the content for a new quality of life questionnaire for students with low vision (the Impact of Vision Impairment on Children: IVI_C). Ophthalmic epidemiology. 2008 Jan 1;15(2):114-20.
- 56. Cohen, Jacob. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Hillsdale, New Jersey. 1988.
- 57. Compilation of Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act: Extracted sections concerning patient-centered outcomes research and the authorization of the Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute (PCORI). Amended May 1, 2010. Subtitle D of Title VI-Sec.,6301. Enacted March 23, 2010. http://www.pcori.org/sites/default/files/ PCORI_Authorizing_Legislation.pdf. (Accessed 2022, July 15).
- 58. COnsensus-based Standards for the selection of health Measurement INstruments (COSMIN) website. http://www.cosmin.nl. (Accessed 2022, July 15).
- 59. Contardi I. Oral bacterial therapy in prevention of antibiotic-induced diarrhea in childhood [Batterioterapia orale quale prevenzione della diarrea da antibiotici in eta pediatrica]. *Clinica Terapeutica*. 1991;136(6):409–13.
- 60. Conway S, Hart A, Clark A, et al. Does eating yogurt prevent antibiotic-associated diarrhoea? A placebo controlled randomised controlled trial in general practice. *Br J Gen Pract.* 2007;57(545):953–9.
- 61. Cook JA, Hislop J, Adewuyi TE, Harrild K, Altman DG, Ramsay C, et al. Assessing methods to specify the target difference for a randomised controlled trial: DELTA (Difference ELicitation in TriAls) review. Health Technol Assess 2014;18(28).

- 62. Copay AG, Subach BR, Glassman SD, Polly DW Jr, Schuler TC. Understanding the minimum clinically important difference: a review of concepts and methods. Spine J. 2007;7(5):541-6.
- 63. Corrêa NB, Péret Filho LA, Penna FJ, et al. A randomized formula controlled trial of Bifidobacterium lactis and Streptococcus thermophilus for prevention of antibioticassociated diarrhea in infants. *J Clin Gastroenterol*. 2005;39(5):385–9.
- 64. Costa-Tutusaus L, Guerra-Balic M. Development and psychometric validation of a scoring questionnaire to assess healthy lifestyles among adolescents in Catalonia. BMC Public Health. 2015 Dec;16(1):1-2.
- 65. Dawson J, Doll H, Fitzpatrick R, Jenkinson C, Carr AJ. The routine use of patient reported outcome measures in healthcare settings. Bmj. 2010 Jan 1;340:c186.
- 66. De vet HCW, Terwee CB, Mokkink LB, Knol DL. Measurement in Medicine: A Practical Guide (Practical Guides to Biostatistics and Epidemiology). New York: Cambridge University Press; 2011.
- 67. De Zwaan M, Fischer-Jacobs J, Wabitsch M, Reinehr T, Meckes-Ferber S, Crosby RD. Development and Psychometric Evaluation of an Instrument Assessing Barriers to Growth Hormone Treatment (BAR-GHT). Frontiers in Endocrinology. 2020 Feb 25;11:84.
- 68. DeCarlo DK, McGwin G, Bixler ML, Wallander J, Owsley C. Impact of pediatric vision impairment on daily life: results of focus groups. Optometry and vision science: official publication of the American Academy of Optometry. 2012 Sep;89(9):1409.
- 69. Dell SD, Leigh MW, Lucas JS, Ferkol TW, Knowles MR, Alpern A, Behan L, Morris AM, Hogg C, DunnGalvin A, Quittner AL. Primary ciliary dyskinesia: first health-related

quality-of-life measures for pediatric patients. Annals of the American Thoracic Society. 2016 Oct;13(10):1726-35.

- Dellenmark-Blom M, Chaplin JE, Gatzinsky V, Jönsson L, Wigert H, Apell J, Sillén U, Abrahamsson K. Health-related quality of life experiences among children and adolescents born with esophageal atresia: development of a condition-specific questionnaire for pediatric patients. Journal of Pediatric Surgery. 2016 Apr 1;51(4):563-9.
- 71. Dermott JA, Wright F, Salbach NM, Narayanan UG. Development of the gait outcomes assessment list for lower-limb differences (GOAL-LD) questionnaire: a child and parent reported outcome measure. Health and quality of life outcomes. 2021 Dec;19(1):1-0.
- 72. Domecq JP, Prutsky G, Elraiyah T, Wang Z, Nabhan M, Shippee N, Brito JP, Boehmer K, Hasan R, Firwana B, Erwin P. Patient engagement in research: a systematic review.BMC health services research. 2014 Feb 26;14(1):89.
- 73. Doria N, Condran B, Boulos L, Curtis Maillet DG, Dowling L, Levy A. Sharpening the focus: differentiating between focus groups for patient engagement vs. qualitative research. Research Involvement and Engagement. 2018 Dec;4(1):1-8.
- 74. Duffett L. Patient engagement: What partnering with patient in research is all about. Thromb Res. 2017 Feb;150:113-120. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2016.10.029.
- 75. Dufresne H, Hadj-Rabia S, Méni C, Sibaud V, Bodemer C, Taïeb C. Family burden in inherited ichthyosis: creation of a specific questionnaire. Orphanet journal of rare diseases. 2013 Dec;8(1):1-8.

- 76. Duric V, Stockler M, Heritier S, et al. Patients' preferences for adjuvant chemotherapy in early breast cancer: what makes AC and CMF worthwhile now? *Ann Oncol.* 2005;16: 1786e94.
- 77. Duric VM, Butow PN, Sharpe L, et al. Comparing patients' and their partners' preferences for adjuvant chemotherapy in early breast cancer. *Patient Educ Couns*. 2008;72(2):239e45.
- Edwards A, Elwyn G, Mulley A. Explaining risks: turning numerical data into meaningful pictures. *BMJ*. 2002;324(7341):827-30.
- 79. Elsman EB, van Nispen RM, van Rens GH. Feasibility of the Participation and Activity Inventory for Children and Youth (PAI-CY) and Young Adults (PAI-YA) with a visual impairment: a pilot study. Health and quality of life outcomes. 2017 Jan;15(1):1-2.
- Erdeve O, Tiras U, Dallar Y. The probiotic effect of Saccharomyces boulardii in a pediatric age group. *J Trop Pediatr*. 2004;50(4):234–6.
- 81. FAO/WHO. Joint Working Group Guidelines for Probiotics in Food. 2002.
- Ferreira ML, Herbert RD, Crowther MJ, Verhagen A, Sutton AJ. When is a further clinical trial justified?. Bmj. 2012 Sep 13;345:e5913.
- 83. Ferreira ML, Herbert RD, Ferreira PH, Latimer J, Ostelo RW, Nascimento DP, Smeets RJ. A critical review of methods used to determine the smallest worthwhile effect of interventions for low back pain. J Clin Epidemiol. 2012 Mar 31;65(3):253-61.
- 84. Follansbee-Junger KW, Mann KA, Guilfoyle SM, Morita DA, Varni JW, Modi AC.
 Development of the PedsQL[™] Epilepsy Module: Focus group and cognitive interviews.
 Epilepsy & Behavior. 2016 Sep 1;62:115-20.

- 85. Fox M, Ahuja K, Robertson I, et al. Can probiotic yogurt prevent diarrhoea in children on antibiotics? A double blind,randomised, placebo-controlled study. *BMJ Open* 2015;5:e006474.
- 86. Freedman SB, Eltorky M, Gorelick M, Group PERCGS. Evaluation of a gastroenteritis severity score for use in outpatient settings. Pediatrics 2010;125(6):e1278-e85
- 87. Geister TL, Quintanar-Solares M, Martin M, Aufhammer S, Asmus F. Qualitative development of the 'Questionnaire on Pain caused by Spasticity (QPS),'a pediatric patient-reported outcome for spasticity-related pain in cerebral palsy. Quality of Life Research. 2014 Apr;23(3):887-96.
- Gigerenzer G, Edwards A. Simple tools for understanding risks: from innumeracy to insight. *BMJ*. 2003;327(7417):741-4.
- Goldenberg JZ, Lytvyn L, Steurich J, et al. Probiotics for the prevention of pediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhea. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2015;12:CD004827. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004827.pub4.
- 90. Griffiths C, Guest E, Pickles T, Hollèn L, Grzeda M, Tollow P, Harcourt D. The development and validation of the CARe Burn Scale: Child Form: a parent-proxyreported outcome measure assessing quality of life for children aged 8 years and under living with a burn injury. Quality of Life Research. 2021 Jan;30(1):239-50.
- 91. Guo Q, Goldenberg JZ, Humphrey C, El Dib R, Johnston BC. Probiotics for the prevention of pediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhea. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2019(4).
- 92. Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Kunz R, et al. GRADE guidelines: 2. Framing the question and deciding on important outcomes. *J Clin Epidemiol*. 2011;64(4):395-400.

- 93. Gwaltney C, Stokes J, Aiudi A, Mazar I, Ollis S, Love E, Shields A. Development and content validity of the Barth Syndrome Symptom Assessment (BTHS-SA) for adolescents and adults. Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases. 2021 Dec;16(1):1-3.
- 94. Hall R, Lebwohl MG, Bushmakin AG, Simpson EL, Gooderham MJ, Wollenberg A, Gater A, Wells JR, Cappelleri JC, Hsu MA, Papacharalambous J. Development and content validation of pruritus and symptoms assessment for atopic dermatitis (PSAAD) in adolescents and adults with moderate-to-severe AD. Dermatology and therapy. 2021 Feb;11(1):221-33.
- 95. Halleran DR, Lane VA, Leonhart KL, Fischer B, Sebastião YV, Chisolm DJ, Levitt MA, Wood RJ, Minneci PC, Deans KJ. Development of a patient-reported experience and outcome measures in pediatric patients undergoing bowel management for constipation and fecal incontinence. Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition. 2019 Aug 1;69(2):e34-8.
- 96. Halstead P, Arbuckle R, Marshall C, Zimmerman B, Bolton K, Gelotte C. Development and content validity testing of patient-reported outcome items for children to self-assess symptoms of the common cold. The Patient-Patient-Centered Outcomes Research. 2020 Apr;13(2):235-50.
- 97. Hardin AP, Hackell JM, Committee on Practice and Ambulatory Medicine. Age limit of pediatrics. Pediatrics. 2017 Sep 1;140(3):e20172151.
- 98. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, et al. Research electronic data capture (REDCap) A metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. *J Biomed Inform*. 2009;42(2):377-81.

- 99. Heidi M, Emily K, Benjamin H, Michael C, Robert K, Mitch B, Chris G, Mando W, Andrew B. Patient reported outcomes for preschool children with recurrent wheeze. NPJ primary care respiratory medicine. 2019 Mar 26;29(1):1-5.
- 100. Hill C, Guarner F, Reid G, et al. Expert consensus document. The International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics consensus statement on the scope and appropriate use of the term probiotic. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol*. 2014;11(8):506-14.
- 101. Hirose T, Horichi N, Ohmori T, et al. Patients preferences in chemotherapy for advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *Intern Med.* 2005;44:107e13.
- 102. Hoffman MF, Cejas I, Quittner AL. Health-related quality of life instruments for children with cochlear implants: development of child and parent-proxy measures. Ear and hearing. 2019 May;40(3):592.
- 103. Hudson B, Zarifeh A, Young L, et al. Patients' expectations of screening and preventive treatments. *Ann Fam Med.* 2012;10(6):495-502.
- 104. INVOLVE N. Briefing notes for researchers: involving the public in NHS, public health and social care research. UK: INVOLVE Eastleigh. 2012.
- 105. Izaguirre MR, Keefer L. Development of a self-efficacy scale for adolescents and young adults with inflammatory bowel disease. Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition. 2014 Jul 1;59(1):29-32.
- 106. Jaeschke R, Singer J, Guyatt GH. Measurement of health status. Ascertaining the minimal clinically important difference. *Control Clin Trials*. 1989;10(4):407-15.
- 107. Jaudszus A, Zeman E, Jans T, Pfeifer E, Tabori H, Arnold C, Michl RK, Lorenz M,Beiersdorf N, Mainz JG. Validity and reliability of a novel multimodal questionnaire for

the assessment of abdominal symptoms in people with cystic fibrosis (CFAbd-Score). The Patient-Patient-Centered Outcomes Research. 2019 Aug;12(4):419-28.

- 108. Jirapinyo P, Densupsoontorn N, Thamonsiri N, et al. Prevention of antibiotic-associated diarrhea in infants by probiotics. *J Med Assoc Thai*. 2002;85Suppl2:s739–42.
- 109. Johnston BC, Ebrahim S, Carrasco-Labra A, Furukawa TA, Patrick DL, Crawford MW, Hemmelgarn BR, Schunemann HJ, Guyatt GH, Nesrallah G. Minimally important difference estimates and methods: a protocol. BMJ open. 2015 Oct 1;5(10):e007953.
- 110. Johnston BC, Patrick DL, Devji T, Maxwell LJ, Bingham III CO, Beaton D, Boers M, Briel M, Busse JW, Carrasco-Labra A, Christensen R, da Costa BR, El Dib R, Lyddiatt A, Ostelo RW, Shea B, Singh J, Terwee CB, Williamson PR, Gagnier JJ, Tugwell P, Guyatt GH. Chapter 18: Patient-reported outcomes. In: Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.3 (updated February 2022). Cochrane, 2022. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.
- 111. Johnston BC, Shamseer L, da Costa BR, Tsuyuki RT, Vohra S. Measurement issues in trials of pediatric acute diarrheal diseases: a systematic review. Pediatrics. 2010
 Jul;126(1):e222-31. doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-3667.
- 112. Jokovic A, Locker D, Stephens M, Kenny D, Tompson B, Guyatt GJ. Validity and reliability of a questionnaire for measuring child oral-health-related quality of life. Journal of dental research. 2002 Jul;81(7):459-63.
- 113. Juniper EF, Guyatt GH, Dolovich J. Assessment of quality of life in adolescents with allergic rhinoconjunctivitis: development and testing of a questionnaire for clinical trials. Journal of allergy and clinical immunology. 1994 Feb 1;93(2):413-23.

- 114. Juniper EF, Guyatt GH, Feeny DH, Ferrie PJ, Griffith LE, Townsend M. Measuring quality of life in children with asthma. Quality of life research. 1996 Feb;5(1):35-46.
- 115. Karas J, Ashkenazi S, Guarino A, Lo Vecchio A, Shamir R, Vandenplas Y, Szajewska H; Consensus Group on Outcome Measures Made in Paediatric Enteral Nutrition Clinical Trials (COMMENT). A core outcome set for clinical trials in acute diarrhoea. Arch Dis Child. 2015 Apr;100(4):359-63.
- 116. Karas J, Ashkenazi S, Guarino A, Lo Vecchio A, Shamir R, Vandenplas Y, Szajewska H; Consensus Group on Outcome Measures Made in Paediatric Enteral Nutrition Clinical Trials (COMMENT). Developing a core outcome measurement set for clinical trials in acute diarrhoea. Group on Outcome Measures Made in Paediatric Enteral Nutrition Clinical Trials (COMMENT). Acta Paediatr. 2016 Apr;105(4):e176-80.
- 117. Kaushik A, Papachristou E, Dima D, Fewings S, Kostaki E, Ploubidis GB,
 Kyriakopoulos M. Measuring stigma in children receiving mental health treatment:
 Validation of the Paediatric Self-Stigmatization Scale (PaedS). European Psychiatry.
 2017 Jun;43:1-8.
- 118. Keays MA, Starke N, Lee SC, Bernstein I, Snodgrass WT, Bush NC. Patient reported outcomes in preoperative and postoperative patients with hypospadias. The Journal of urology. 2016 Apr;195(4 Part 2):1215-20.
- 119. Kerfeld CI, Dudgeon BJ, Engel JM, Kartin D. Development of items that assess physical function in children who use wheelchairs. Pediatric physical therapy: the official publication of the Section on Pediatrics of the American Physical Therapy Association. 2013;25(2):158.

- 120. Khodadad, A, Farahmand, F, Najafi, M, et al. Probiotics for the Treatment of Pediatric Helicobacter Pylori Infection: A Randomized Double Blind Clinical Trial. *Iran J Pediatr*. 2013;23(1):79–84.
- 121. Kintner EK. Development and preliminary evaluation of the participation in life activities scale for children and adolescents with asthma: an instrument development study. Health and quality of life outcomes. 2008 Dec;6(1):1-1.
- 122. Kirwan J, Heiberg T, Hewlett S, Hughes R, Kvien T, Ahlmèn M, Boers M, Minnock P, Saag K, Shea B, Almazor MS. Outcomes from the Patient Perspective Workshop at OMERACT 6. The Journal of rheumatology. 2003 Apr 1;30(4):868-72.
- 123. Kirwan JR, de Wit M, Frank L, Haywood KL, Salek S, Brace-McDonnell S, Lyddiatt A, Barbic SP, Alonso J, Guillemin F, Bartlett SJ. Emerging guidelines for patient engagement in research. Value in Health. 2017 Mar 31;20(3):481-6.
- 124. Klassen AF, Lipner S, O'Malley M, Longmire NM, Cano SJ, Breitkopf T, Rae C, Zhang YL, Pusic AL. Development of a new patient-reported outcome measure to evaluate treatments for acne and acne scarring: the ACNE-Q. British Journal of Dermatology. 2019 Dec;181(6):1207-15.
- 125. Kligler B, Hanaway P, Cohrssen A. Probiotics in children. *Pediatr Clin North Am*.2007;54(6):949-67; xi.
- 126. Klingels K, Mayhew AG, Mazzone ES, Duong T, Decostre V, Werlauff U, Vroom E, Mercuri E, Goemans NM, Upper Limb Clinical Outcome Group, Eagle M. Development of a patient-reported outcome measure for upper limb function in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: DMD upper limb PROM. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2017 Feb;59(2):224-31.

- 127. Koletzko B, Szajewska H, Ashwell M, et al. Documentation of functional and clinical effects of infant nutrition: setting the scene for COMMENT. Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism 2012;60(4):222-32
- 128. Kotowska M, Albrecht P, Szajewska H. Saccharomyces boulardii in the prevention of antibiotic-associated diarrhoea in children: a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*. 2005;21(5):583–90.
- 129. Krabbe PF, van Asselt AD, Selivanova A, Jabrayilov R, Vermeulen KM. Patientcentered item selection for a new preference-based generic health status instrument: CS-Base. Value in Health. 2019 Apr 1;22(4):467-73.
- 130. Lane MM, Czyzewski DI, Chumpitazi BP, et al. Reliability and validity of a modifiedBristol Stool Form Scale for children. The Journal of pediatrics 2011;159(3):437-41. e1
- 131. LaRosa M, Bottaro G, Gulino N, et al. Prevention of antibiotic-associated diarrhea with Lactobacillus sporogens and fructo-oligosaccharides in children: A multicentric doubleblind vs placebo study. *Minerva Pediatr.* 2003;55(5):447–52.
- 132. LaRosa M, Bottaro G, Gulino N, Gambuzza F, Di Forti F, Ini G, et al. Prevention of antibiotic-associated diarrhea with Lactobacillus sporogens and fructo-oligosaccharides in children: A multicentric double-blind vs placebo study. Minerva Pediatrica 2003;55(5):447–52.
- 133. Lewis DK, Barton S. Who decides when to start preventive treatment? A questionnaire survey to compare the views of different population subgroups. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* 2003;57(4):241-2.
- 134. Lewis S, DeMuro C, Block SL, Senders S, Wisman P, Toback S, Chien JW, WilliamsV. Development of a novel observer-reported outcome measure for the assessment of

Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) infection symptoms in pediatric clinical trials. Journal of patient-reported outcomes. 2018 Dec;2(1):1-9.

- 135. Li KK, Holbrook AM, Thabane L, et al. A survey of physicians show a one-third reduction in harmful outcomes to be a clinically important difference for statin therapy. J Clin Epidemiol. 2012;65(9):954-61.
- 136. Liu WY, Hou YJ, Liao HF, Lin YH, Chen YY, Wong AM. A Preliminary study of the development, validity, and reliability of a caregiver questionnaire for the health-related quality of life in children with cerebral palsy. Chang Gung Med J. 2010 Nov 1;33(6):646-58.
- 137. Longmire NM, Riff KW, O'Hara JL, Aggarwala S, Allen GC, Bulstrode NW, Forrest CR, French BM, Goodacre TE, Marucci D, Norris JH. Development of a new module of the FACE-Q for children and young adults with diverse conditions associated with visible and/or functional facial differences. Facial Plastic Surgery. 2017 Oct;33(05):499-508.
- 138. Łukasik J, Guo Q, Boulos L, et al. Probiotics for the prevention of antibiotic-associated adverse events in children—A scoping review to inform development of a core outcome set. PloS one 2020;15(5):e0228824
- 139. Lunt LE, Shoop-Worrall S, Smith N, Cleary G, McDonagh J, Smith AD, Thomson W, McErlane F. Validation of novel patient-centred juvenile idiopathic arthritis-specific patient-reported outcome and experience measures (PROMs/PREMs). Pediatric Rheumatology. 2020 Dec;18(1):1-9.
- 140. Mara CA, Kashikar-Zuck S, Cunningham N, Goldschneider KR, Huang B, Dampier C, Sherry DD, Crosby L, Miller JF, Barnett K, Morgan EM. Development and psychometric

evaluation of the PROMIS pediatric pain intensity measure in children and adolescents with chronic pain. The Journal of Pain. 2021 Jan 1;22(1):48-56.

- 141. Martin SA, Brown TM, Fehnel S, Deal LS, Katz EG, Chiou CF. The atopic dermatitis itch scale: development of a new measure to assess pruritus in patients with atopic dermatitis. Journal of Dermatological Treatment. 2020 Jul 3;31(5):484-90.
- 142. Matza LS, Patrick DL, Riley AW, Alexander JJ, Rajmil L, Pleil AM, Bullinger M. Pediatric patient-reported outcome instruments for research to support medical product labeling: report of the ISPOR PRO good research practices for the assessment of children and adolescents task force. Value in Health. 2013 Jun 30;16(4):461-79.
- 143. McAlister FA, O'Connor AM, Wells G, et al. When should hypertension be treated? The different perspectives of Canadian family physicians and patients. *CMAJ*. 2000;163(4):403-8.
- 144. McCarrier KP, Hassan M, Hodgkins P, Suthoff E, McGarry LJ, Martin ML. The Cystic Fibrosis Impact Questionnaire: qualitative development and cognitive evaluation of a new patient-reported outcome instrument to assess the life impacts of cystic fibrosis. Journal of Patient-Reported Outcomes. 2020 Dec;4(1):1-1.
- 145. McErlane F, Foster HE, Armitt G, Bailey K, Cobb J, Davidson JE, Douglas S, Fell A, Friswell M, Pilkington C, Strike H. Development of a national audit tool for juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a BSPAR project funded by the Health Care Quality Improvement Partnership. Rheumatology. 2018 Jan 1;57(1):140-51.
- 146. McFarland LV, Goh S. Preventing pediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhea and Clostridium difficile infections with probiotics: A meta-analysis. *World J Meta-Anal*. 2013;1(3): 02-120

- 147. McFarland LV, Ozen M, Dinleyici EC, et al. Comparison of pediatric and adult antibiotic-associated diarrhea and Clostridium difficile infections. World journal of gastroenterology 2016;22(11):3078
- 148. McFarland LV. Antibiotic-associated diarrhea: epidemiology, trends and treatment. Future Microbiology 2008;3(5):563–78.
- 149. McFarland LV. Epidemiology, risk factors and treatments for antibiotic-associated diarrhea. *Dig Dis.* 1998;16(5):292–307.
- 150. McNeill M, Noyek S, Engeda E, Fayed N. Assessing the engagement of children and families in selecting patient-reported outcomes (PROs) and developing their measures: a systematic review. Quality of Life Research. 2021 Apr;30(4):983-95.
- 151. Meltzer LJ, Forrest CB, de la Motte A, Mindell JA, Bevans KB. Development and validation of the pediatric sleep practices questionnaire: a self-report measure for youth ages 8–17 years. Behavioral sleep medicine. 2021 Jan 2;19(1):126-43.
- 152. Merenstein DJ, Foster J, D'Amico F. A randomized clinical trial measuring the influence of kefir on antibiotic-associated diarrhea: the measuring the influence of Kefir (MILK) Study. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2009;163(8):750–4.
- 153. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. Int J Surg 2010;8:336–41.
- 154. Mokkink LB, Terwee CB, Patrick DL, et al. The COSMIN study reached international consensus on taxonomy, terminology, and definitions of measurement properties for health-related patient-reported outcomes. Journal of clinical epidemiology 2010;63(7):737-45
- 155. Moorthy LN, Peterson MG, Baratelli M, Harrison MJ, Onel KB, Chalom EC, Haines K, Hashkes PJ, Lehman TJ. Multicenter validation of a new quality of life measure in pediatric lupus. Arthritis Care & Research. 2007 Oct 15;57(7):1165-73.
- 156. Moorthy LN, Robbins L, Harrison MJ, Peterson MG, Cox N, Onel KB, Lehman TJ. Quality of life in paediatric lupus. Lupus. 2004 Apr;13(4):234-40.
- 157. Morley TE, Cataudella D, Fernandez CV, Sung L, Johnston DL, Nesin A, Zelcer S. Development of the pediatric advanced care quality of life scale (PAC-QoL): Evaluating comprehension of items and response options. Pediatric blood & cancer. 2014 Oct;61(10):1835-9.
- 158. Mulcahey MJ, DiGiovanni N, Calhoun C, Homko E, Riley A, Haley SM. Children's and parents' perspectives about activity performance and participation after spinal cord injury: Initial development of a patient-reported outcome measure. The American Journal of Occupational Therapy. 2010 Jul;64(4):605-13.
- 159. Murphy DJ, Gahm GJ, Santilli S, et al. Seniors' preferences for cancer screening and medication use based on absolute risk reduction. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2002;57(2):M100-5.
- 160. Nelson LM, DiBenedetti D, Pariser DM, Glaser DA, Hebert AA, Hofland H, Drew J, Ingolia D, Gillard KK, Fehnel S. Development and validation of the Axillary Sweating Daily Diary: a patient-reported outcome measure to assess axillary sweating severity. Journal of Patient-Reported Outcomes. 2019 Dec;3(1):1-3.
- 161. Newcombe PA, Sheffield JK, Petsky HL, Marchant JM, Willis C, Chang AB. A child chronic cough-specific quality of life measure: development and validation. Thorax. 2016 Aug 1;71(8):695-700.

- 162. Newton L, DeLozier AM, Griffiths PC, Hill JN, Hudgens S, Symonds T, Gable JC, Paik J, Wyrwich KW, Eichenfield LF, Abetz-Webb L. Exploring content and psychometric validity of newly developed assessment tools for itch and skin pain in atopic dermatitis. Journal of patient-reported outcomes. 2019 Dec;3(1):1-2.
- 163. Ng V, Nicholas D, Dhawan A, Yazigi N, Ee L, Stormon M, Gilmour S, Schreiber R, Taylor R, Otley A, PeLTQL study group. Development and validation of the pediatric liver transplantation quality of life: a disease-specific quality of life measure for pediatric liver transplant recipients. The Journal of Pediatrics. 2014 Sep 1;165(3):547-55.
- 164. Niemitz M, Schwerk N, Goldbeck L, Griese M. Development and validation of a healthrelated quality of life questionnaire for pediatric patients with interstitial lung disease. Pediatric pulmonology. 2018 Jul;53(7):954-63.
- 165. Olivieri I, M Bova S, Fazzi E, Ricci D, Tinelli F, Montomoli C, Rezzani C, Balottin U, Orcesi S, SOLE VLBWI Questionnaire Study Group, Ariaudo G. Patient-reported outcomes measure for children born preterm: validation of the SOLE VLBWI Questionnaire, a new quality of life self-assessment tool. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2016 Sep;58(9):957-64.
- 166. Pandina G, Ness S, Trudeau J, Stringer S, Knoble N, Lenderking WR, Bangerter A. Qualitative evaluation of the Autism Behavior Inventory: use of cognitive interviewing to establish validity of a caregiver report scale for autism spectrum disorder. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes. 2021 Dec;19(1):1-3.
- 167. Panepinto JA, Torres S, Varni JW. Development of the PedsQL[™] sickle cell disease module items: Qualitative methods. Quality of Life Research. 2012 Mar;21(2):341-57.

- 168. Parslow R, Patel A, Beasant L, Haywood K, Johnson D, Crawley E. What matters to children with CFS/ME? A conceptual model as the first stage in developing a PROM. Archives of disease in childhood. 2015 Dec 1;100(12):1141-7.
- 169. Parslow RM, Anderson N, Byrne D, Haywood KL, Shaw A, Crawley E. Development of a conceptual framework to underpin a health-related quality of life outcome measure in paediatric chronic fatigue syndrome/myalgic encephalopathy (CFS/ME): prioritisation through card ranking. Quality of Life Research. 2020 May;29(5):1169-81.
- 170. Parslow RM, Shaw A, Haywood KL, Crawley E. Developing and pretesting a new patient reported outcome measure for paediatric chronic fatigue syndrome/myalgic encephalopathy (CFS/ME): cognitive interviews with children. Journal of patient-reported outcomes. 2019 Dec;3(1):1-0.
- 171. Patrick DL, Burke LB, Powers JH, Scott JA, Rock EP, Dawisha S, O'neill R, Kennedy DL. Patient-reported outcomes to support medical product labeling claims: FDA perspective. Value in Health. 2007 Nov 1;10:S125-37.
- 172. Petersen C, Schmidt S, Power M, Bullinger M. Development and pilot-testing of a health-related quality of life chronic generic module for children and adolescents with chronic health conditions: a European perspective. Quality of life research. 2005 May;14(4):1065-77.
- 173. Petherick E, O'Meara S, Spilsbury K, et al. Patient acceptability of larval therapy for leg ulcer treatment: a randomised survey to inform the sample size calculation of a randomised trial. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. 2006;6:43e6.
- 174. Pierzynski JA, Clegg JL, Sim JA, Forrest CB, Robison LL, Hudson MM, Baker JN, Huang IC. Patient-reported outcomes in paediatric cancer survivorship: a qualitative

study to elicit the content from cancer survivors and caregivers. BMJ open. 2020 May 1;10(5):e032414.

- 175. Piscione J, Barden W, Barry J, Malkin A, Roy T, Sueyoshi T, Mazil K, Salomon S, Dandachli F, Griffin A, Saint-Yves H. The Pediatric Toronto Extremity Salvage Score (pTESS): Validation of a self-reported functional outcomes tool for children with extremity tumors. Clinical orthopaedics and related research. 2019 Sep;477(9):2127.
- 176. Popov SV, Smiian OI, Loboda AM, et al. Peculiarities of antibiotic-associated diarrhea development in children with acute respiratory infections. 2019
- 177. Powell PA, Carlton J, Rowen D, Chandler F, Guglieri M, Brazier JE. Development of a new quality of life measure for Duchenne muscular dystrophy using mixed methods: the DMD-QoL. Neurology. 2021 May 11;96(19):e2438-50.
- 178. Propp R, McAdam L, Davis AM, Salbach NM, Weir S, Encisa C, Narayanan UG. Development and content validation of the Muscular Dystrophy Child Health Index of Life with Disabilities questionnaire for children with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2019 Jan;61(1):75-81.
- 179. Rahi JS, Tadić V, Keeley S, Lewando-Hundt G. Capturing children and young people's perspectives to identify the content for a novel vision-related quality of life instrument. Ophthalmology. 2011 May 1;118(5):819-24.
- 180. Ramchandren S, Wu TT, Finkel RS, Siskind CE, Feely SM, Burns J, Reilly MM, Estilow T, Shy ME, Childhood CMT Study Group. Development and Validation of the Pediatric Charcot–Marie–Tooth Disease Quality of Life Outcome Measure. Annals of neurology. 2021 Feb;89(2):369-79.

- 181. Ravens-Sieberer U, Devine J, Bevans K, Riley AW, Moon J, Salsman JM, Forrest CB. Subjective well-being measures for children were developed within the PROMIS project: presentation of first results. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 2014 Feb 1;67(2):207-18.
- 182. Ravens-Sieberer U, Gosch A, Abel T, Auquier P, Bellach BM, Bruil J, Dür W, Power M, Rajmil L. Quality of life in children and adolescents: a European public health perspective. Sozial-und Präventivmedizin. 2001 Sep;46(5):294-302.
- 183. Reeve BB, McFatrich M, Pinheiro LC, Freyer DR, Basch EM, Baker JN, Withycombe JS, Sung L, Mack JW, Waldron MK, Mowbray C. Cognitive interview-based validation of the patient-reported outcomes version of the common terminology criteria for adverse events in adolescents with cancer. Journal of pain and symptom management. 2017 Apr 1;53(4):759-66.
- 184. Reeve BB, McFatrich M, Pinheiro LC, Weaver MS, Sung L, Withycombe JS, Baker JN, Mack JW, Waldron MK, Gibson D, Tomlinson D. Eliciting the child's voice in adverse event reporting in oncology trials: cognitive interview findings from the Pediatric Patient-Reported Outcomes version of the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events initiative. Pediatric blood & cancer. 2017 Mar;64(3):e26261.
- 185. Revicki D, Hays RD, Cella D, Sloan J. Recommended methods for determining responsiveness and minimally important differences for patient-reported outcomes. J Clin Epidemiol. 2008;61(2):102-9.
- 186. Riff KW, Tsangaris E, Goodacre T, Forrest CR, Pusic AL, Cano SJ, Klassen AF. International multiphase mixed methods study protocol to develop a cross-cultural patient-reported outcome instrument for children and young adults with cleft lip and/or palate (CLEFT-Q). BMJ open. 2017 Jan 1;7(1):e015467.

- 187. Rijkers GT, Bimmel D, Grevers D, et al. Consumer perception of beneficial effects of probiotics for human health. *Benef microb*. 2013;4(1):117-21.
- 188. Robertson AO, Tadić V, Cortina-Borja M, Rahi JS. A patient-reported outcome measure of functional vision for children and young people aged 8 to 18 years with visual impairment. American Journal of Ophthalmology. 2020 Nov 1;219:141-53.
- 189. Ronen GM, Streiner DL, Rosenbaum P, Canadian Pediatric Epilepsy Network. Healthrelated quality of life in children with epilepsy: development and validation of self-report and parent proxy measures. Epilepsia. 2003 Apr;44(4):598-612.
- 190. Rossignoli A, Clavenna A, Bonati M. Antibiotic prescription and prevalence rate in the outpatient paediatric population: analysis of surveys published during 2000-2005. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2007;63(12):1099-106.
- 191. Ruszczy ski M, Radzikowski A, Szajewska H. Clinical trial: effectiveness of Lactobacillus rhamnosus (strains E/N, Oxy and Pen) in the prevention of antibioticassociated diarrhoea in children. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*. 2008;28(1):154–61.
- 192. Sacristán JA, Aguarón A, Avendaño-Solá C, Garrido P, Carrión J, Gutiérrez A, Kroes R, Flores A. Patient involvement in clinical research: why, when, and how. Patient preference and adherence. 2016;10:631.
- 193. Samuels-Kalow ME, Rhodes KV, Henien M, Hardy E, Moore T, Wong F, Camargo Jr CA, Rizzo CT, Mollen C. Development of a patient-centered outcome measure for emergency department asthma patients. Academic Emergency Medicine. 2017 May;24(5):511-22.
- 194. Saneeyan H, Layegh S, Rahimi H. Effectivness of probiotic on treatment of Helicobacter pylori infection in children. *I.U.M.S.* 2011;29(146):882–889.

- 195. Sarda SP, De La Cruz M, Flood EM, Vanya M, Hwang DG, Ta CN, Narvekar A. Content validity of a novel patient-reported and observer-reported outcomes assessment to evaluate ocular symptoms associated with infectious conjunctivitis in both adult and pediatric populations. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes. 2019 Dec;17(1):1-0.
- 196. Schnadower D, Tarr PI, Gorelick MH, et al. Validation of the modified Vesikari score in children with gastroenteritis in 5 US emergency departments. Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition 2013;57(4):514 Shippee ND, Domecq Garces JP, Prutsky Lopez GJ, Wang Z, Elraiyah TA, Nabhan M, Brito JP, Boehmer K, Hasan R, Firwana B, Erwin PJ. Patient and service user engagement in research: a systematic review and synthesized framework. Health Expectations. 2015 Oct 1;18(5):1151-66.
- 197. Schultz M, Baranchi A, Thurston L, et al. Consumer demographics and expectations of probiotic therapy in New Zealand: results of a large telephone survey. N Z Med J. 2011;124(1329):36–43.
- 198. Schulz KF, Altman DG, Moher D. CONSORT 2010 statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomized trials. *Ann intern med.* 2010;152(11):726-32.
- 199. Schünemann HJ, Guyatt GH. Commentary—goodbye M (C) ID! Hello MID, where do you come from? *Health serv res.* 2005;40(2):593-7.
- 200. Schwartz AE, Kramer JM, PEDI-PRO Youth Team. Inclusive approaches to developing content valid patient-reported outcome measure response scales for youth with intellectual/developmental disabilities. British Journal of Learning Disabilities. 2021 Mar;49(1):100-10.
- 201. Shaikh N, Martin JM, Casey JR, Pichichero ME, Wald ER, Colborn DK, Gerber MA, Kearney DH, Balentine TL, Haralam MA, Hoberman A. Development of a patient-

reported outcome measure for children with streptococcal pharyngitis. Pediatrics. 2009 Oct 1;124(4):e557-63.

- 202. Shan L, Hou Z, Wang F, et al. Prevention and treatment of diarrhoea with Saccharomyces boulardii in children with acute lower respiratory tract infections. *Benef Microb*. 2013;4(4):329–334.
- 203. Skjerning H, Hourihane J, Husby S, DunnGalvin A. A comprehensive questionnaire for the assessment of health-related quality of life in coeliac disease (CDQL). Quality of Life Research. 2017 Oct;26(10):2831-50.
- 204. Sommer R, Blömeke J, Dabs M, Witt S, Bullinger M, Quitmann J. An ICF-CY-based approach to assessing self-and observer-reported functioning in young persons with achondroplasia–development of the pilot version of the Achondroplasia Personal Life Experience Scale (APLES). Disability and rehabilitation. 2017 Nov 20;39(24):2499-503.
- 205. Sperling CD, Petersen GS, Hølge-Hazelton B, Graugaard C, Winther JF, Gudmundsdottir T, Ahrensberg J, Schmiegelow K, Boisen KA, Olsen PR, Heerdegen AC. Being young and getting cancer: development of a questionnaire reflecting the needs and experiences of adolescents and young adults with cancer. Journal of Adolescent and Young Adult Oncology. 2017 Mar 1;6(1):171-7.
- 206. SPSS Inc. Released 2007. SPSS for Windows, Version 16.0. Chicago, SPSS Inc.
- 207. Staniszewska S, Brett J, Mockford C, Barber R. The GRIPP checklist: strengthening the quality of patient and public involvement reporting in research. International journal of technology assessment in health care. 2011 Oct;27(4):391-9.
- 208. Staniszewska S, Brett J, Simera I, Seers K, Mockford C, Goodlad S, Altman DG, Moher D, Barber R, Denegri S, Entwistle A. GRIPP2 reporting checklists: tools to improve

reporting of patient and public involvement in research. Research Involvement and Engagement. 2017 Aug 2;3(1):13.

- 209. Staniszewska S, Haywood KL, Brett J, Tutton L. Patient and public involvement in patient-reported outcome measures. The Patient-Patient-Centered Outcomes Research. 2012 Jun 1;5(2):79-87.
- 210. Statistics Canada. Education Highlight Tables, 2016 Census. Last modified November 23, 2017. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/hlt-fst/edusco/Table.cfm?Lang=E&T=11&Geo=00&SP=1&view=2&age=1&sex=1 (Accessed November 6, 2018)
- 211. Steel N. Thresholds for taking antihypertensive drugs in different professional and lay groups: questionnaire survey. *BMJ*. 2000;320(7247):1446-7.
- 212. Sykora J, Valeckova K, Amlerova J, et al. Effects of a specially designed fermented milk product containing probiotic Lactobacillus casei DN- 114 001 and the eradication of H. pylori in children: a prospective randomized double-blind study. *J Clin Gastroenterol*. 2005;39(8):692–8.
- 213. Szajewska H, Albrecht P, Topczewska-Cabanek A. Randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial: effect of lactobacillus GG supplementation on Helicobacter pylori eradication rates and side effects during treatment in children. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr.* 2009;48(4):431–6.
- 214. Szajewska H. Supplementation of infant formula with probiotics/prebiotics: lessons learned with regard to documenting outcomes. Journal of clinical gastroenterology 2012;46:S67-S68

- 215. Szyma ski H, Arma ska M, Kowalska-Duplaga K, et al. Bifidobacterium longum PL03, Lactobacillus rhamnosus KL53A, and Lactobacillus plantarum PL02 in the prevention of antibiotic-associated diarrhea in children: a randomized controlled pilot trial. *Digestion*. 2008;78(1): 13–7.
- 216. Tankanow RM, Ross MB, Ertel IJ, et al. A double-blind, placebocontrolled study of the efficacy of Lactinex in the prophylaxis of amoxicillin-induced diarrhea. DICP. 1990;24(4):382–4.
- 217. Tapia VJ, Drizin JH, Dalle Ore C, Nieto M, Romero Y, Magallon S, Nayak R, Sigler A, Malcarne V, Gosman A. Qualitative methods in the development of a bilingual and bicultural quality of life outcomes measure for pediatric patients with craniofacial conditions. Annals of Plastic Surgery. 2017 May 1;78(5):S248-55.
- 218. Tassi A, Tan J, Piplani B, Longmire N, Wong Riff KW, Klassen AF. Establishing content validity of an orthodontic subset of the FACE-Q Craniofacial Module in children and young adults with malocclusion. Orthodontics & Craniofacial Research. 2021 Nov;24(4):553-60.
- 219. Terwee CB, Bot SD, de Boer MR, et al. Quality criteria were proposed for measurement properties of health status questionnaires. Journal of clinical epidemiology 2007;60(1):34-42
- 220. Tingsgaard JK, Tingsgaard PK, Siggaard LD, Barrett TQ, Luscher M, Homoe P. Validation of the Danish National Tympanostomy Tube Insertion Questionnaires. Danish Medical Journal. 2019 Sep 1;66(9):A5568.

- 221. Tsakos G, Blair YI, Yusuf H, Wright W, Watt RG, Macpherson L. Developing a new self-reported scale of oral health outcomes for 5-year-old children (SOHO-5). Health and quality of life outcomes. 2012 Dec;10(1):1-8.
- 222. Tsangaris E, D'Agostino N, Rae C, Breakey V, Klassen AF. Development and psychometric evaluation of the cancer distress scales for adolescent and young adults. Journal of Adolescent and Young Adult Oncology. 2019 Oct 1;8(5):566-80.
- 223. Tucker CA, Bevans KB, Becker BD, Teneralli R, Forrest CB. Development of the PROMIS pediatric physical activity item banks. Physical therapy. 2020 Aug;100(8):1393-410.
- 224. Vanderhoof JA, Whitney DB, Antonson DL, et al. Lactobacillus GG in the prevention of antibiotic-associated diarrhea in children. J Pediatr. 1999;135(5):564–8.
- 225. VanGeest JB, Johnson TP, Welch VL. Methodologies for improving response rates in surveys of physicians: a systematic review. Eval health prof. 2007;30(4):303-21.
- 226. Varni JW, Kay MT, Limbers CA, Franciosi JP, Pohl JF. PedsQL gastrointestinal symptoms module item development: qualitative methods. Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition. 2012 May 1;54(5):664-71.
- 227. Varughese CA, Vakil NH, Phillips KM. Antibiotic-associated diarrhea: a refresher on causes and possible prevention with probiotics--continuing education article. *J Pharm Pract.* 2013;26(5):476-82.
- 228. Velde SV, Laridaen J, Van Hoecke E, Van Biervliet S, De Bruyne R, Van Winckel M, Goubert L. Development and validation of a spina bifida-specific pediatric quality of life questionnaire: the Spina Bifida Pediatric Questionnaire, SBPQ. Child's Nervous System. 2016 Jan;32(1):105-10.

- 229. Viana JV, Da Cruz AG, Zoellner SS, et al. Probiotic foods: consumer perception and attitudes. *Int J Food Sci Technol*. 2008;43:1577-1580.
- 230. Walsh TR, Irwin DE, Meier A, Varni JW, DeWalt DA. The use of focus groups in the development of the PROMIS pediatrics item bank. Quality of Life Research. 2008 Jun;17(5):725-35.
- 231. Waters E, Davis E, Mackinnon A, Boyd R, Graham HK, Kai Lo S, Wolfe R, Stevenson R, Bjornson K, Blair E, Hoare P. Psychometric properties of the quality of life questionnaire for children with CP. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2007 Jan;49(1):49-55.
- 232. Waters E, Maher E, Salmon L, Reddihough D, Boyd R. Development of a conditionspecific measure of quality of life for children with cerebral palsy: empirical thematic data reported by parents and children. Child: care, health and development. 2005 Mar;31(2):127-35.
- 233. Weldring T, Smith SM. Patient-Reported Outcomes (PROs) and Patient-Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs). Health Serv Insights. 2013 Aug 4;6:61-8. doi: 10.4137/HSI.S11093.
- 234. Wiering B, Boer D, Delnoij D. Patient involvement in the development of patientreported outcome measures: A scoping review. Health Expectations. 2017 Feb 1;20(1):11-23.
- 235. Winnette R, Martin S, Harris N, Deal LS. Development of the Alopecia Areata Patient Priority Outcomes Instrument: A Qualitative Study. Dermatology and Therapy. 2021 Apr;11(2):599-613.

- 236. Wistrom J, Norrby SR, Myhre EB, Eriksson S, Granstrom G, Lagergren L, et al. Frequency of antibiotic-associated diarrhoea in 2462 antibiotic-treated hospitalized patients: a prospective study. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 2001;47(1):43–50.
- 237. Wong Riff KW, Tsangaris E, Goodacre TE, Forrest CR, Lawson J, Pusic AL, Klassen AF. What matters to patients with cleft lip and/or palate: an international qualitative study informing the development of the CLEFT-Q. The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal. 2018 Mar;55(3):442-50.
- 238. Wyrwich KW, Kitchen H, Knight S, Aldhouse NV, Macey J, Nunes FP, Dutronc Y, Mesinkovska N, Ko JM, King BA. Development of the Scalp Hair Assessment PRO[™] measure for alopecia areata. British Journal of Dermatology. 2020 Dec;183(6):1065-72.
- 239. Young NL, Wabano MJ, Ritchie SD, Burke TA, Pangowish B, Corbiere RG. Assessing children's interpretations of the Aboriginal Children's Health and Well-being Measure (ACHWM). Health and Quality of Life Outcomes. 2015 Dec;13(1):1-7.
- 240. Zheng YJ, Mao ZQ, Wu QB, et al. Multicenter, randomized, controlled clinical trial on preventing antibiotic-associated diarrhea in children with pneumonia using the live Clostridium butyricum and Bifidobacterium combined powder. Zhonghua er ke za zhi.
 2012;50:732–6.
- 241. Zigler CK, Ardalan K, Lane S, Schollaert KL, Torok KS. A novel patient-reported outcome for paediatric localized scleroderma: a qualitative assessment of content validity. British Journal of Dermatology. 2020 Mar;182(3):625-35.
- 242. Zizzi CE, Luebbe E, Mongiovi P, Hunter M, Dilek N, Garland C, Ciafaloni E, Zaidman CM, Kissel JT, McDermott MP, Johnson N. The Spinal Muscular Atrophy Health Index:

A novel outcome for measuring how a patient feels and functions. Muscle & Nerve. 2021 Jun;63(6):837-44.

243. Zorzela L, Ardestani SK, McFarland LV, Vohra S. Is there a role for modified probiotics as beneficial microbes: a systematic review of the literature. Beneficial Microbes. 2017 Oct 13;8(5):739-54.

Appendices

Appendix A-Search strategy (Medline) for child and parent engagement in developing pediatric patient-reported outcome measures systematic review

- 1 (Child* or adolescent* or teen* or paediatric or pediatric* or infant* or youth).ti,ab.
- 2 (father* or guardian* or mother* or parent* or care-giver* or caregiver).ti,ab.
- 3 exp Child/
- 4 exp Adolescent/
- 5 infant/
- 6 Pediatrics/
- 7 Caregivers/
- 8 or/1-7
- 9 patient reported outcome measures/
- 10 patient outcome assessment/
- 11 Patient reported outcome?.ti,ab.
- 12 (child-centric or child centric).ti,ab.
- 13 Patient reported measures.ti,ab.
- 14 or/9-13
- 15 scoring system development.ti,ab.
- 16 scale development.ti,ab.
- 17 instrument development.ti,ab.
- 18 index development.ti,ab.
- 19 measurement tool.ti,ab.
- 20 measurement instrument.ti,ab.
- 21 "Surveys and Questionnaires"/mt [Methods]
- 22 (questionnaire? or interview? or scale? or survey? or score?).ti,ab.
- engage*.ti,ab.
- 24 consult*.ti,ab.
- 25 develop*.ti,ab.
- 26 involv*.ti,ab.
- 27 participat*.ti,ab.
- 28 perspective.ti,ab.
- 29 feedback.ti,ab.
- 30 Patient Participation/
- 31 Focus Groups/
- 32 or/15-31
- 33 "Quality of Life"/
- 34 32 or 33
- 36 8 and 14 and 34 [with QoL]
- 37 remove duplicates from 36



Appendix B- Number of included studies per year from 1994-2021

Appendix C-Search strategy (MEDLINE) for patient involvement in determining minimal important difference scoping review

- 1 mcid.ti,ab.
- 2 target difference?.ti,ab.
- 3 change score.ti,ab.
- 4 change point.ti,ab.
- 5 minimal clinically important difference/
- 6 (minim* meaningful adj1 (difference? or change? or effect?)).ti,ab.
- 7 (clinical* important adj1 (difference? or change? or effect?)).ti,ab.
- 8 (minim* important adj1 (difference? or change? or effect?)).ti,ab.
- 9 (clinical* meaningful adj1 (difference? or change? or improvement? or effect?)).ti,ab.
- 10 (smallest meaningful adj1 (difference? or change? or effect?)).ti,ab.
- 11 (minim* significant adj1 (difference? or change? or improvement? or effect?)).ti,ab.
- 12 (smallest significant adj1 (difference? or change? or improvement? or effect?)).ti,ab.
- 13 (sufficient* important adj1 (difference? or change? or improvement? or effect?)).ti,ab.
- 14 (sufficient* meaningful adj1 (difference? or change? or improvement? or effect?)).ti,ab.
- 15 (minim* clinical* adj1 (important or meaningful)).ti,ab.
- 16 ((calculat* or determin* or comput*) adj1 meaningful).ti,ab.
- 17 ((calculat* or determin* or comput*) adj1 important adj1 (difference? or change? or improvement? or effect?)).ti,ab.
- 18 ((calculat* or determin* or comput*) adj1 meaningful adj1 (difference? or change? or improvement? or effect?)).ti,ab.
- 19 (definition* adj1 (difference? or change? or improvement?)).ti,ab.
- 20 (smallest worthwhile adj1 (difference? or change? or improvement? or effect?)).ti,ab.
- 21 *sample size/
- 22 smallest real difference*.ti,ab.
- 23 exp Patient Participation/
- 24 exp Patient Preference/
- 25 Patient? preference?.ti,ab.
- 26 *Decision making/
- 27 decision-making.ti,ab.
- 28 patient? view?.ti,ab.
- 29 patient? opinion?.ti,ab.
- 30 patient? perspective.ti,ab.
- 31 patient involvement.ti,ab.
- 32 patient expectations.ti,ab.
- 33 exp Health Care Surveys/
- 34 interview/
- 35 "Surveys and Questionnaires"/
- 36 benefit harm tradeoff.ti,ab.
- 37 benefit-harm trade-off.ti,ab.
- 38 or/1-22
- 39 or/23-37
- 40 38 and 39
- 41 limit 40 to yr="1989 -Current"
- 42 remove duplicates from 41

Appendix D- Survey of parents/guardians' opinion on probiotic therapy for antibiotic-associated diarrhea in children

Probiotics definition: [Please read before responding questions]

Healthy intestines are home to trillions of good bacteria. Good bacteria help the whole body stay healthy. Probiotics are one kind of good bacteria. They can be found in fermented foods (e.g., yogurts) or taken as supplements in a powder or capsule form. Probiotics are thought to improve health in some situations by creating the right balance of intestinal bacteria.

Antibiotic-associated diarrhea definition:

Antibiotics are medicines that help the body fight bacterial infections. However, antibiotics can kill good intestinal bacteria as well, which can lead to diarrhea.

Considering the definitions above, please answer the following questions:

1) Before doing this survey, did you know what probiotics were?

□Yes

 $\Box No$

2) Have you ever given your child/children probiotics, either in their food or as supplements?

□Yes

 \Box No (If No, Please Skip to question number 4)

3) If yes, what type of probiotics have you given your child/children? (Please check all that apply)

□Foods containing naturally occurring probiotics (e.g., regular yogurt, Kimchi, Sauerkraut)

□Foods containing supplemental probiotics (e.g., DanActive ®, Activia ®)

□Probiotic supplements (e.g., Culturelle ®, Flora BABY®, Florastor®, VSL #3®, BioGaia®, Proxiflor®, UltraFlora ®Children's)

□ Other: (Please specify) _____

4) What form of probiotic supplements do you think that your child would take? (Please check all that apply)

□Powders/ Sachet [They can be used directly, or be sprinkled into food/drinks]

□Capsules [They can be swallowed whole, or the capsule contents can be sprinkled into food/drinks]

□Chewable pills

□ Drops/liquid

 \Box None of the above

5) Have any of your children ever experienced diarrhea from being on antibiotics (antibiotic-associated diarrhea)?

□Yes

🗆 No

 \Box Do not know

6) When considering probiotics given at the same time as antibiotics to **prevent** antibiotic-associated diarrhea in children, do you think:

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	Do not know
Probiotics are EFFECTIVE						
Probiotics are SAFE						

7) When considering probiotics to **treat** antibiotic-associated diarrhea in children, do you think:

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	Do not know
Probiotics are EFFECTIVE						
Probiotics are SAFE						

8) Please consider the information provided below:

Taking probiotics for prevention of antibiotic-associated diarrhea in children has:



Without probiotics, **19 out of 100 children** will develop diarrhea from antibiotics. The other 81 will not get diarrhea. It is unknown which child will or will not get diarrhea after taking antibiotics.



If your child was on antibiotics, you would consider giving her/him probiotics if the chance of getting diarrhea decreased from 19 to: (Please choose one item)

□12 in 100
□9 in 100
□7 in 100
□I would not give probiotics to my child for prevention of diarrhea

9) Giving probiotics to children who are taking antibiotics may decrease the severity of diarrhea if it happens. Imagine a situation in which your child is on antibiotics. In deciding whether or not to give

them probiotics, which of the following possible effects could influence your decision? On a scale of 1-9, please rate the importance of each effect.

1= Not important at all 9= Extremely important

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
It will decrease the number of bowel movements per day.									
It will create less watery poop.									
It will make the diarrhea go away sooner.									
It will prevent my child from becoming dehydrated (dry)									
It will allow my child to go back to day care or school sooner.									
It will allow me to go back to work sooner.									
It will allow my child to go back to his/her normal daily activities sooner (e.g. eating, sleeping, playing)									
It will prevent me from having to take my child to the doctor or emergency department.									
It will prevent my child from being hospitalized.									

Some questions about you and your child being seen today:

10) Please indicate your child's age: _____days/weeks/months/years old (Please circle)

11) Please indicate your child's gender:

□Female □Male

12) Please indicate your age:

\Box 20 or younger
□21-25
□26-30
□31-35
□36-40
□41-45
□46-50
🗆 Over 50

13) Please indicate your gender:

□Female □Male

14) Please indicate your ethnicity: (please check all that apply)

□ White/ European/ Caucasian

Black (e.g. African, African American, African Canadian, Caribbean)

□ East Asian (e.g. Chinese, Japanese, Korean)

□ South Asian (e.g. Indian, Pakistani, Seri Lankan, Bangladeshi)

□ Southeast Asian (e.g. Burmese, Cambodian, Filipino, Laotian, Malaysian, Thai, Vietnamese)

🗆 West central Asian and middle eastern (e.g. Arabian, Armenian, Iranian, Afghan, Israeli,

Lebanese, Palestinian, Syrian, Turkish)

Latin American (e.g. Mexican, indigenous Central and South American)

□ North American aboriginals (e.g. North American Indian, Inuit, Metis)

□ Pacific Islander

□ Other: (please specify)_____

 $\hfill\square$ Prefer not to answer

15) Please indicate your highest education level:

 \Box Did not finish high school

□High school diploma

□Post-secondary education without a bachelor's degree

□Bachelor's degree or higher

Appendix E- Survey of physicians' opinion on probiotic therapy for antibioticassociated diarrhea in children

Probiotics (definition):

Probiotics are live microorganisms intended to benefit the host when ingested in sufficient numbers. They are believed to promote healthy balance of gut microbiota through various mechanisms, including reducing colonization of pathogenic organisms through competitive inhibition of epithelial and mucosal adhesion. They are available in fermented foods (e.g., yogurts, drinks) and as supplements (e.g., capsule, powder).

Antibiotic associated diarrhea (definition):

Antibiotic associated diarrhea (AAD) is a condition in which diarrhea occurs after administration of antibiotics from initiation of therapy up to 8 weeks. C. difficile causes a small percentage of AAD. The published incidence of AAD in children ranges from 11% to 40%.

With regard to the definitions above, please answer the following questions:

1) If parents ask about use of probiotics, how do you respond?

 $\Box I$ do not know enough about probiotics to make any recommendations

□I only recommend probiotics for specific indications

 \Box I refer parents to other specialists or resources (please specify) _____

- $\Box I$ do not recommend probiotics
- Other (please specify)

2) Without parents asking, have you ever recommended probiotics for your patients?

□Yes

□No (If no, please skip to question number 5)

3) For what indications have you recommended probiotics?

 \Box Prevention of antibiotic-associated diarrhea

Prevention of non-specific diarrheaTreatment of antibiotic-associated diarrhea

□Treatment of non-specific diarrhea

□ Prevention of viral respiratory tract infections

□Other (please specify) _____

4) What type of probiotics have you recommended? (Please check all that apply)

□Foods containing naturally occurring probiotics (e.g., regular yogurt, Kimchi, Sauerkraut)

□Foods containing supplemental probiotics (e.g., DanActive ®, Activia ®)

□Probiotic supplements (e.g., Culturelle ®, Flora BABY®, Florastor®, VSL #3®, BioGaia®, Proxiflor®, UltraFlora ®Children's)

 $\Box I$ have advised probiotics but not recommended any specific product

- Please specify the indications in which you have recommended these types of probiotics:

5) When considering probiotics to **prevent** antibiotic-associated diarrhea in children, do you think:

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	Do not know
Probiotics are EFFECTIVE						
Probiotics are SAFE						

6) When considering probiotics to **treat** antibiotic-associated diarrhea in children, do you think:

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	Do not know
Probiotics are EFFECTIVE						
Probiotics are SAFE						

7) Please consider the information presented below

Taking probiotics for antibiotic-associated diarrhea in children has:



According to a 2015 Cochrane systematic review, the incidence of antibiotic-associated diarrhea without probiotic therapy is 19%. I would consider probiotic prophylaxis if it would reduce the incidence rate from 19% to: (Please choose only one item)

NOTE:

- Number needed to treat (NNT) = Number of cases that need to be treated to prevent one case of antibiotic-associated diarrhea
- Options are based on 95% confidence interval of probiotics effectiveness in prevention of pediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhea

□12% (NNT=13)

□9% (NNT=10)

□7 %(NNT=8)

 \Box I would not consider probiotic therapy for prevention of antibiotic-associated diarrhea

8) Currently, there is a huge heterogeneity in clinical trials of pediatric acute diarrhea in terms of diarrhea definition and outcomes measured. We, therefore, aim to develop and validate an instrument to measure antibiotic-associated diarrhea in children to be used in future clinical trials. We would like to identify the most important and relevant outcomes to include in the instrument based on your opinions.

On a scale of 1-9, please rate the importance of each potential beneficial outcome when considering probiotics for prevention of pediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhea:

1= Not important at all (you do not feel it needs to be measured in clinical trials)9= Critically important (you strongly believe it is important to measure in clinical trials)

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
		-		-	-		-	

Stool frequency					
Stool consistency					
Duration of diarrhea					
Dehydration (determined by a scoring system)					
Effect on normal daily activities (e.g. eating, sleeping, playing)					
Child absence from day care or school					
Parental absence from work					
Need for hospitalization					
Need for outpatient or emergency department visit					
Need for rehydration (intravenous or oral in a health care facility)					

Some information about you and your practice:

9) Please indicate your gender:

 \Box Female

 \Box Male

10) Please check the category that defines your practice best:

□General pediatrician

Subspecialty pediatrician (please specify):

11) Year of graduation (from specialty): _____

12) Average number of patients with suspected antibiotic-associated diarrhea that you see in a typical month: _____

Appendix F- Multinomial logistic regression of the effect of different factors on the choice of minimally important difference in responding parents

	MID choice of 12 vs. "I		MID choice of	9 vs. "I	MID choice of 7 vs. "I	
	don't give prot	oiotics"	don't give prot	piotics"	don't give prot	oiotics"
	Odd's ratio	Р	Odd's ratio	Ρ	Odd's ratio	Р
	(95% CI)	value	(95% CI)	value	(95% CI)	value
Familiarity with						
probiotics						
Yes	5.828 (0.459-	0.174	1.442 (0.083-	0.801	1.995 (0.167-	0.585
	73.943)		24.951)		23.764)	
NO	Reference		Reference		Reference	
Probiotic use						
Yes	0.186 (0.011-	0.238	0.236 (0.010-	0.364	0.340 (0.020-	0.457
	3.044)		5.348)		5.848)	
No	Reference		Reference		Reference	
Child's proviews						
experience of AAD						
Voc	5 211 (0 222	0.240	1 025 (0 006-	0 660	2 847 (0 161-	0 475
165	3.211 (0.332- 81 733)	0.240	38 769)	0.009	50 186)	0.475
No	0 809 (0 097-	0 845	0 513 (0 049-	0 577	1 594 (0 174-	0.680
110	6 735)	0.045	5 364)	0.577	14 613)	0.000
I do not know	Reference		Reference		Reference	
Opinion regarding safety						
of problotics for						
Strongly disagree or	-*		_*		-*	
disagree	/				/	
Neutral	0.822 (0.093-	0.860	5.216 (0.255-	0.283	0.324 (0.033-	0.335
	7.292)		106.565		3.197)	
Strongly agree or agree	2.565 (0.352-	0.299	7.552 (0.360-	0.193	2.393 (0.253-	0.447
	29.867) Deference		158.3/1)		22.682) Deference	
I do not know	Reference		Reference		Reference	
Parent age						
<30 y/o	1.253 (0.101-	0.861	1.529 (0.088-	0.771	3.656 (0.285-	0.319
	15.548)		26.654)		46.828)	
31-40 y/o	3.242 (0.252-	0.639	1.854 (0.227-	0.565	1.727 (0.248-	0.581
	9.427)		15.165)		12.006)	
>41 y/o	Reference		Reference		Reference	
Parent ethnicity						
, White/Caucasian	1.734 (0.303-	0.536	4.050 (0.449-	0.212	0.961 (0.161-	0.965
	9.914)		36.506)		5.728)	

Other ethnicities	Reference		Reference		Reference	
Parent education						
Bachelor's degree or higher Less than bachelor	1.994 (0.382- 10.398) Reference	0.413	1.355 (0.209- 8.787) Reference	0.750	2.392 (0.427- 13.391) Reference	0.321
Parent gender						
Female	0.177 (0.014-	0.182	0.211 (0.013-	0.276	0.325 (0.024-	0.401
	2.246)		3.459)		4.476)	
Male	Reference		Reference		Reference	

*There were no enough data to provide values.

MID: Minimally important difference, AAD: Antibiotic-associated diarrhea, CI: Confidence interval

Appendix F- Multinomial logistic regression of the effect of different factors on the choice of minimally important difference in responding clinicians

	· ·			
	MID choice of 12 vs. 7	7	MID choice of 9 vs. 7	
	Odd's ratio (95% CI)	P value	Odd's ratio (95% CI)	P value
Physician gender				
Female Male	0.396 (0.039-4.012) Reference	0.433	0.273 (0.025-3.015) Reference	0.289
Specialty General pediatrician Sub-specialist pediatrician	0.409 (0.046-3.626) Reference	0.422	0.281 (0.028-2.773) Reference	0.277
Probiotic recommendation				
Yes No	7.279 (0.553-95.771) Reference	0.131	5.666 (0.356-90.097) Reference	0.219
Years since graduation	0.890 (0.744-1.065)	0.204	0.969 (0.799-1.175)	0.750
No of AAD patient visits	1.051 (0.802-1.377)	0.719	0.800 (0.564-1.136)	0.213

MID: Minimally important difference, AAD: Antibiotic-associated diarrhea, CI: Confidence interval

Appendix G- Numerical Rating Scale of bowel movement severity condition

"This line shows how severe your child's condition was today. In the <u>middle</u>, it shows your child had <u>normal</u> bowel movement. Moving right along the line shows more and more severe diarrhea. <u>The right end</u> shows very <u>severe diarrhea</u>. Moving left along the line shows more and more severe constipation. <u>The left end</u> shows very <u>severe constipation</u>. Mark the place that shows how much severe you think your child's condition was today.



Appendix H- Pediatric Antibiotic Associated Diarrhea Measurement Instrument-Outpatient

1) Stool consistency:

"Modified Bristol Stool Form Scale"



* Diarrheal stools (diagrams number 4 &5)

- 2) Maximum number of stools per 24-h period: ______ times
- 3) Diarrhea duration: _____days
- 4) Child's daily activities (e.g. eating, sleeping, playing):
 - a. Normal b. Reduced, but still present c. Unable to participate
 - d. Hospitalized due to diarrhea
- 5) Physician/nurse practitioner visits due to diarrhea:
 - a. None b. Outpatient c. Emergency department visit d. Hospitalized due to diarrhea
- 6) Treatment:
 - a. None b. Oral rehydration c. IV rehydration d. Hospitalization due to diarrhea

Appendix I- Baseline data collection form:

Participant Code:	Date:///						
	Initials://						
Date of birth: $\frac{/}{dd}$ mm	Age: days/weeks/months/years old (Please circle)	Gender: □Female □Male					
Ethnicity: (Please select all that apply) White/ European/ Caucasian Black (e.g. African, African American, African Canadian, Caribbean) East Asian (e.g. Chinese, Japanese, Korean) South Asian (e.g. Indian, Pakistani, Seri Lankan, Bangladeshi) Southeast Asian (e.g. Burmese, Cambodian, Filipino, Laotian, Malaysian, Thai, Vietnamese) West central Asian and middle eastern (e.g. Arabian, Armenian, Iranian, Afghan, Israeli, Lebanese, Palestinian, Syrian, Turkish) Latin American (e.g. Mexican, indigenous Central and South American) North American indigenous (e.g. North American Indian, Inuit, Metis) Pacific Islander Other: (please specify) Prefer not to answer							
Reason for current adm	ission or visit:						
Primary diagnoses:							
Antibiotics prescribed:	Name:						
	Dose/frequency:						
	Duration:						
Final Decision:	 Patient discharged Patient admitted to:Stolleon Patient's medical record number: 	ery Division					

Parent/Guardian Information					
Age:	Highest level of education:	Gender:			
□20 or younger □21-25 □26-30 □31-35 □36-40 □41-45 □46-50 □ Over 50	□Did not finish high school □High school diploma □Post-secondary education without a bachelor's degree □Bachelor's degree or higher	□Female □Male			
The most convenient way for the follow up:					
Text (phone number):					
Telephone contact (phone number):					
Email (Email address):					
□ Mail (Home or work address):					

Appendix J-1- Daily collection form



"This line shows how severe your child's condition was today. In the <u>middle</u>, it shows your child had <u>normal</u> bowel movement. **Moving right** along the line shows more and more severe **diarrhea**. <u>The right end</u> shows very <u>severe diarrhea</u>. **Moving left** along the line shows more and more severe **constipation**. <u>The left end</u> shows very <u>severe constipation</u>. Mark the place that shows how much severe you think your child's condition was today.

10	Constipation	1 0 1	Diarrhea 10
Severe		Normal	Severe

Appendix J-2-End of the study form

Participant code:	Initials://	Date:/	/				
	F M L	dd mn	n yyyy				
Diarrhea duration:days							
Physician/nurse practitioner visits due to diarrhea:							
\square None							
\Box Outpatient (please indicate date:)							
\Box Emergency department visit (please indicate date:							
\square Hospitalized due to diarrhea (please indicate date:)							
Treatment:							
□ None							
□ Rehydration (oral, nasogastric tube, intravenous- please circle)							
□ Hospitalized due to diarrhea							
□ Other (please specify:)							
Child's absence from school/	day care due to diarrhea:						
□ Yes							
□No							
□ Child does not attend school/day care							
If res , now many days.							
Parents' absence from work due to child's diarrhea:							
□ Yes							
\Box No							
□ Parent does not work outside the home							
If "Yes", How many days:							
Appendix K- Associations of participant characteristics with incidence of diarrhea according to four different definitions

	COMS		P	NRS	NRS		WHO		P	Parent		P
	AAD	No AAD	value	AAD	No AAD	value	AAD	No AAD	value	AAD	No AAD	value
	N=40	N=8		N=37	N=11		N=24	N=24		N=13	N=26	
Age of child 0-3 yr 4-6 yr >6	24(96%) 8(61.5%) 8(80%)	1(4%) 5(38.5%) 2(20%)	0.010	24(96%) 5(38.5%) 8(80%)	1(4%) 8(61.5%) 2(20%)	< 0.001	17(68%) 2(15.4%) 5(50%)	8(32%) 11(84.6%) 5(50%)	0.009	4(22.2%) 3(25%) 6(66.7%)	14(77.8%) 9(75%) 3(33.3%)	0.07
Gender of child Female Male	20(87%) 20(80%)	3(13%) 5(20%)	0.7	19(82.6%) 18(72%)	4(17.4%) 7(28%)	0.5	11(47.8%) 13 (52%)	12(52.2%) 12 (48%)	0.7	4(21.1%) 9(45%)	15(78.9%) 11(55%)	0.1
Ethnicity of child White Other	21(84%) 19(82.6%)	4(16%) 4(17.4%)	1	21(84%) 16(69.6%)	4(16%) 7(30.4%)	0.3	15(60%) 9 (39.1%)	10(40%) 14(60.9%)	0.1	7(35%) 6 (31.6%)	13(65%) 13(68.4%)	0.8
Outpatient Inpatient	32(80%) 8(100%)	8(20%) 0	0.3	29(72.5%) 8(100%)	11(27.5%) 0	0.2	17(42.5%) 7(87.5%)	23(57.5%) 1(12.5%)	0.04	10(31.2%) 3(42.9%)	22(68.8%) 4(57.1%)	0.6
Antibiotic type Amoxicillin only or in combination	19(86.4%)	3(13.6%)	0.8	18(81.8%)	4(18.2%)	0.4	10(45.5%)	12(54.5%)	0.3	7(35%)	13(65%)	0.4
only or in combination Other	3(75%)	4(18.2%) 1(25%)		2(50%)	2(50%)		1(25%)	3(75%)		4(23%) 2(66.7%)	1(33.3%)	
Antibiotic duration (days) Mean±SD	8.8±4.5	6.1±2.1	0.1	8.9±4.7	6.7±2	0.1	9.1±5.4	7.5±2.5	0.1	9.7±7	8.2±2.5	0.4

AAD: Antibiotic-associated diarrhea, COMS: Core Outcome Measurement Set; NRS: Numerical Rating Scale, WHO: World Health Organization

*Comparisons made using independent sample T test or Chi-square.

Appendix L- Cronbach's α of PAAD instrument severity score according to different definitions

	COMS	WHO	NRS	Parent
Cronbach's α	0.52	0.61	0.31	0.29

COMS: Core Outcome Measurement Set; NRS: Numerical Rating Scale, WHO: World Health Organization

Appendix M- Inter-item correlation matrix

	Diarrhea frequency	Daily activities	Physician/n urse practitioner visit	Dehydrati on treatment	Diarrhea duration			
					COMS	WHO	NRS	Pare nt
Diarrhea frequency	1	0.25	-	0.20	0.7	0.85	0.39	0.23
Daily activities		1	-	-0.093	0.15	0.06	0.11	0.14
Physician/ nurse practitioner visit			1	-	-	-	-	-
Dehydratio n treatment				1	0.09	0.03	0.16	0.03

Acceptable level of correlation: 0.2-0.5, more than 0.7, one could be deleted.

COMS: Core Outcome Measurement Set; NRS: Numerical Rating Scale, WHO: World Health Organization

Appendix N- Corrected item-total correlation for items of the severity scale according to different definitions

	Corrected item-total correlations							
	COMS	WHO	NRS	Parent				
Diarrhea duration	0.67	0.78	0.39	0.24				
Diarrhea	0.72	0.87	0.41	0.26				
frequency								
Daily activities	0.19	0.14	0.16	0.2				
Dehydration	0.13	0.09	0.18	0.11				
treatment								

Acceptable level of correlation: >=0.3

"Physician/nurse practitioner visit" was removed as the score variance was zero.

COMS: Core Outcome Measurement Set; NRS: Numerical Rating Scale, WHO: World Health Organization